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Group Structure
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51. 27%

(As of 31 December 2015)
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Nationwide
Presence

m GES/ES
AA Development Properties

AA Investment Properties
XRBEEN
Province with Preseprce

2015 F %N

Contracted sales in 2015

AEK®RMB

85.15

+{&7 billion
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Total GFA of operational investment
property reached

4 N 9 15!@75*

million square meters
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Shenzhen the MIXc
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Hangzhou the MIXc
- E R
Shengyang the MIXc
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Chengdu the MIXc
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Nanning the MIXc
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S ‘n‘a?ﬁ The MiXe Urb ex Series
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Shenzhen The N

LW A Rental Income F&{8 Appraisal Value
, 0 B¥EET HK$Million , : BEEET HK$Million

FIESHA 2004 FRE  IRBHELHR  BEE  Opened in 2004, Shenzhen The Mixc is located in Bao’an Nan Road

EEB20BYH A &£ 480 BR% kB - }dt  in Luohu District with a total GFA of over 200,000 square meters.

EEETER—H BEER EEASHE RHEEEST  Shenzhen The Mixc is a mixed-use commercial complex comprising

REMMEEHRSANEEESR  REFEEN W] of retail, dining, entertainment, leisure and culture elements.

HERL o Customers can experience a brand new consumption and lifestyle
concept through this “one-stop” shopping solution.

ESW— BB 002 AN N — DESENBUE  Shenzhen The Mixc Phase 1 houses more than 200 highly
- AEReBHETEE OéRmEEERET - differentiated shops, including anchor tenants such as Reel
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HEBH Tenant Mix
(&L by GFA)

28% Hftr Others

4% # Supermarket

18% E% R Luxury

229% #irFaB

16% &% Department Stores

RIEH KHERBKS EEZE N
J& % + A R Gucci * Prada * Burberry * Fendi * Bottega
Veneta * Valentino * Miu Miu * Boss * MaxMara * Alfred
Dunhill * Emporio Armani * Givenchy SR % BRERE
%

ESW_HETEN LEMSR  AERE LAEALERE
O BRERBISTRENEE - BBEREIMEE
g E-SRITEEEE ZBMERE - —HEFPRR
Louis Vuitton * Hermes * Dior » Ermenegildo Zegna
Salvatore Ferragamo * Dolce & Gabbana  Cartier *
Bvlgari * Tiffany & Co. ~ Mont Blanc 2 EIBR B R E % &
B UREERE  RE - BREHEBHES -

BEu#maa825 The MIXc Urban Complex Series

' 1A% #Emg Liestyle

Department Store, Olé high-end Supermarket, Golden Harvest
cinema, World Ice Arena, Sundan, as well as international luxury
brands like Gucci, Prada, Burberry, Fendi, Bottega Veneta, Valentino,
Miu Miu, Boss, MaxMara, Alfred Dunhill, Emporio Armani, Givenchy
etc.

Shenzhen The Mixc Phase 2 has an even higher-end positioning. It
has a creative landscape plan in the space extending from indoor to
outdoor, with the greenery and interior design further closing the
distance between the shops and the consumers. Tenants include
top international luxury brands such as Louis Vuitton, Hermes, Dior,
Ermenegildo Zegna, Salvatore Ferragamo, Dolce & Gabbana,
Cartier, Bvlgari, Tiffany & Co., Mont Blanc etc., as well as lifestyle,
entertainment, dining elements. ¥
9
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HLWA Rental Income

ele:

BEEET HKSMillion

MMESMR2010FFRE - RN CBD P LR ET
M BEERZERBERRE BREHALENZ
BoSENEMER FENBYORE BRELEA
B SAERIREE  TMERMEIMMELRE
A% ERERTMHPHRANCELRER.
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H&{E Appraisal Value

)

BEEBT HK$Million

Opened in 2010, Hangzhou The Mixc is located in the CBD of
Qianjiang New City. The complex brings together many of the
world’s top brand names, presenting fashion trends and a rich
selection of merchandise. It offers a comfortable shopping

environment and a variety of gourmet restaurants offering local
Hangzhou food as well as worldwide cuisines.
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HERBH Tenant Mix
(& by GFA)

#™ Supermarket

BE Department Stores

1 ETERE Lifestyle

™ 4

Hft Others

1 E5 & Luxury

22% ##FaB

EBEMER MR ME%EI7}<T“?Z§E’UI7}<%%%%‘}%D}<
% BEZEEEN  ZRETERBBENIE [&E
£/5] #)PageOne E% F KB RBE HHE - AERTR
RIFTABMET BB -

BAEmRE8 25 The MIXc Urban Complex Series

It also houses an Olympic-standard ice-skating rink, Broadway
cinemas, PageOne (voted the “Best Book Store” in Hong Kong and
Singapore on numerous occasions) and so on, which brings
unprecedented lifestyle experience to its customers.

\
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HLWA Rental Income

BEEET HKSMillion

BRBRHR 2011 FHRE URBGEEZOES - 2
BRI MMz ZEETEZEERN  BEARE
MBBERK  BRT200RLBESE  ANKEEMT
MERES ENEEFESE  REI2000EES

fiz -

BEHESNEARETE BEEN REKRENE
R—8 BERZER-GREES B Hermes -
LV~ Prada * Miu Miu* TOD's * Fendi * Bvlgari *

o
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#&{E Appraisal Value

471

BEEBT HK$Million

Opened in 2011, Shenyang The Mixc is located in the prime area in
Jinlang and is the third Mixc projects after Shenzhen and Hangzhou
The Mixc. With a GFA of nearly 250,000 square meters, it houses
nearly 200 shops. There is also a 6-storey carpark with nearly 2,000
parking spaces.

Shenyang The Mixc comprises of retail, specialty dining, and
entertainment elements. Major tenants include many top
international brands including Hermes, LV, Prada, Miu Miu, TOD's,



HE®HK Tenant Mix

(Bt by GFA)
%M Luxury

Hft Others

Burberry » MaxMara * HugoBoss * Ermenegildo
Zegna ~ Cartier% : Ef » Hermés & B AVEMGME—/E -
LVRZEEEEREE - KK RRIEEEE - Prada
REGEEERFANES  MuMuERFRILE—JE
Ermenegildo Zegna 2RI 25 - b RRILEEEA
WE - FE - BEARZERmE - AE5IERIME
FE—FKEFJESammy Collections * LAK Novo * 7 for all
Mankind % g T E 7L °

EgH#HmamaEZRS The MIXc Urban Complex Series

RHF&B
F ‘\ . .
- v £SERER Lifestyle
‘ ) BE Department Stores
&

#8 Supermarket

Fendi, Bvlgari, Burberry, MaxMara, Hugo Boss, Ermenegildo Zegna,
Cartier etc. In particular, Hermes is the only shop in Shenyang; LV is
the second largest in China in terms of operating GFA and is the
flagship store in North Eastern China; Prada is the largest shop in
Shenyang in terms of operating GFA; Miu Miu is the first shop in
North Eastern China; and Ermenegildo Zegna, a global concept
store, is the largest shop in North Eastern China in terms of
operating GFA. Moreover, the complex is home to a variety of fashion
brands including the first Sammy Collections in North Eastern
China, Novo, 7 for all Mankind etc.

ERBHARLT
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\ ERHHMEAE A The MIXc Urban Complex Series
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Chengdu The MIXc
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&M A Rental Income F&{8 Appraisal Value
E BEEET HK$Million ,9 B EE T HKS$Million

WI2FHR%E  KEBBFBARKER - ERETEEHugo  Openedin 2012 and located in Chenghua District, Chengdu The Mixc is home to a variety
Boss * Armani Collezioni * CoachE FERBIE miE - & of world-leading luxury brands including Hugo Boss, Armani Collezioni, Coach, Thailand's
Central MR B & « NOVOBRFTBES/E - REIESS  Central Department Store, and Novo Conceptual Store. Chengdu The Mixc also features
ENEEETE FAEARMATMNEMBEMORCE  multi-faceted lifestyle elements including OLé high-end Supermarket which focuses on
ZERAMNKNEREKEKS KEZEEEM - 5| imported food, World Ice Arena, Broadway cinemas, Sisyphus Bookstore which is famous
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HERBH Tenant Mix
(@ by GFA)

Hft Others

NHERREANARAEE  RRnREREBRNT
AR - &R BRLEHES -

REImaZ4H ANAEEEE MREHnIILE

WG HEZTEFERRERME - BEERER
THER IR

EgH#HmamaEZRS The MIXc Urban Complex Series

EFHm Luxury

. £HF&B

AR Lifestyle

¥ Department Stores

B Supermarket

for great reading experience, as well as Toys “R” Us that is full of joy and playful toys.

From Wang's Steak to stylish specialty restaurants, and from desserts to authentic local
snacks, more than 30 global dining brands in Chengdu The Mixc will bring customers on a
gluttonous trip.

\o
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ST T B AmAREAS] The MIXC Urban Egmplex Series
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HELWA Rental Income

49/

BEEET HK$Million

HEZHESRUNEER R012FRE  BRAR
BABAR - EEEENEFHRNOBHBREE - [E
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F&{8 Appraisal Value

229

E¥EET HK$Million

Nanning The Mixc is located in Qingxiu District and was opened in
2012, attracting traffic of more than 210,000 shoppers on the first
day of its grand opening. This approximately 210,000 square meters
shopping mall is home to a variety of world-leading luxury brands,
specialty dining from around the world, an Olympic-standard ice-
skating rink, Parkson department store, Olé high-end Supermarket
that focuses on imported goods, Womei Theater with the world’s



HE®HK Tenant Mix

(& by GFA)
8% E6& Luxury
29% Eft Others
3% 8 Supermarket 21% EHFB
24% HE Department Stores
15% «Emg Liestyle

B BE—FHE03 CCFABYRLLEAE 2
BEELKENERBEE CRARRBYEE -
REBBAARN—BEEA -

E2u#m #4825 The MIXc Urban Complex Series

fifth DMR hall, and encompassing shopping, dining, entertainment,
lifestyle and culture elements. Nanning The MIXc was awarded 2013
CCFA Golden Lily Award after its first year of operation, and is the
first commercial entity in Guangxi that won the award. The trendy
and diverse shopping space brings unprecedented shopping and
lifestyle experience to customers in Guangxi.

o
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BRE/IXHEEEES L The MIXc One/Hi5 Regional Commercial Centers
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HLBA Rental Income #&{E Appraisal Value

BEEET HKSMillion , BEEHET HKSMillion

TR RZ2ESERENNE—ERFS  24%EE Beijing Hi5 is a regional shopping mall and is the Group’s first
ITENBTREEDT L  ARARBMURLRTE  venture of ‘Hi5" product line in China. Located at the north 5th Ring
BEALRIRINEN - BREEENH20EFHK £  Roadin Qinghe, Haidian District, Beijing Hi5 Living Mall has a GFA of
EBRAL - KBKG - BEICOVE/M » Snoopy%E  approximately 200,000 square meters. Major tenants include Wal-
Lo HARLE— @R B2 &5 TRHBR  Mart and an Olympic- standard ice-skating rink, Korean CGV

o
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HERBH Tenant Mix
(& by GFA)

23% ##FaB

4 Hft Others

1 £IEBRER Lifestyle

8 ™ Supermarket

SR EEES  BRAERHEY  HEEH . Theater and Snoopy Garden. Beijing Hi5 is committed to creating a

IREEIRR - ULEBA—EBNZE  £FE - 5l%B&  happy, warm, stylish, and festive one-stop living mall. The multi-

AR SR R 5 A SR A faceted flagship mall comprises fashion, shopping, dining,
entertainment, leisure, culture and sports elements, which brings
unprecedented lifestyle experience to its customers.

o
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ERERN
Chongging The MiXc

19/09/2014

2B A Rental income
BEEET HK$Million
##= Occupancy rate

gl%

BRI
Wuxi The MIXc

B3 Opened on
20/12/2014
2B A Rentalincome
1-4.3

BEEET HK$Million

H#i#% Occupancy rate

77%

B '_|-I—"-_ -_‘-_:I.-_
Y a _.-ullh-h#_!!“ %

P

LI EEALE N
Shanghai Nanxiang Hi5

Bi% Opened on

25/10/2014

H£WA Rental income
BETET HKSMillion
## =2 Occupancy rate

g8%

EHERERLT ‘
China Resources Land Limited
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Major Investment Properties — Profiles of
New Malls Opened in 2015

| —

L EL
Qingdao The MiXc

#% Opened on

> 30/04/2015

ﬂ | .i. . i] 4 i HEWA Rental income
294.4

BEEET HKSMillion

Hi#= Occupancy rate

plt SRS  8s () ' Esiowa
| __1_..-1"""--‘:!1:'\.-‘- .#l‘_? il ‘—--.L.__H i S ... 83%

HEERE
Zibo MIXc One

IH' #i% Opened on
27/05/2015

: '_f £ WA Rental income

skl g0.2

i e "
& - . ~ ' - . —_— T
— i " ”.:;'II T IENRRT T i | BEEET HKSMillion
i b L PR e "

= (15 b #i#% Occupancy rate
=y i ;
R Ll - 8%
L T . F
I " B KT
b e

Pl % 1:h';ﬁ'-:~{'
» oy
F . s = .
_ ey s .
r  EMERE
Ganzhou The MIXc
i % Opened on

19/09/2015 9

HEWA Rental income
BEEET HKSMillion
##=E Occupancy rate |

95% | l’
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Hefei The MiXc

25/09/2015

£ WA Rentalincome
BEEET HK$Million
##=2 Occupancy rate

q0%

i [ e R
Shenyang Tiexi MIXc One

B3% Opened on

30/09/2015

WA Rental income

28

B EET HKSMillion

##= Occupancy rate

g7%

Changsha Xingsha MIXc One

28/11/2015

#ALWA Rental income

11.5

BUEIRSE il 14

BWEET HK$Million I;-
#i#% Occupancy rate £
190%
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Foreword

“E-RF XERTERRNEEERENFOT

HIEEHSE, skBEYRA LB EIRE

RRR EBREHEE

TRERHEBESE XEER

EXBAEBN - Eﬁ@ﬁ%%%gﬁ FEEEZMA BAELEE @8

REHERE

CEXE - RREARNBESER -

In Year 2015, benefiting from China’s stable economic growth and

favourable industry policies, national sales of commodity housing
recovered steadily, while high-end shopping mall and hotel businesses
endured greater pressure when seeking for growth due to oversupply.
Under the complex operating environment, the Group maintained notable
growth in property sales, revenue and profit attributable to the owners, via
enhanced operation and management adapting to market trend.

$EORE
ZE-RF ARERERGAEETELI10389E
T R R 15.3%  MRIZE M ETHEERNZD
BRREGRFMBE16216r  RAEER192%: 5IAR
BYETERERNORREGENEE 1753ET A
HER158% FR REEERGRAFBK259.2
fll - REER11.8%: o SRZLBREEIEEFE
#1001 AL ER15.2% - BE_F—RhFE+-A
=t+—H BRFEEETE1659T  FHIER26% -

ARREECRATRALERESREL 8.7l FTA
hHREGREES Tl —E-TEXEGRREE
BT 4l BE-F—MF2FERBEBER16.0%

BRYE

TR ASEREMEEREEBBEINLE
T R ER144% AT EREEFEAEEL K
KZEMERTERGHR AFRARNEERLE
EFE30.1% -

\l
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Results Review

In Year 2015, the Group achieved total consolidated revenue of
HK$103.39 billion, representing a year-on-year ("YoY") growth of
15.3%; core net profit attributable to the owners of the Company
excluding revaluation gain from investment properties reached
HK$14.21 billion, up by 19.2% YoY; profit attributable to the owners
of the Company including revaluation gain from investment
properties increased by 15.8% YoY to HK$17.53 billion. During the
year, the Group’s earnings per share achieved HK 259.2 cents, up by
11.8% YoY, while core earnings per share attributable to the owners
of the Company increased by 15.2% YoY to HK210.0 cents. As of 31
December 2015, the net asset per share increased by 2.6% YoY to
HK$16.59.

The Board resolved to declare a final dividend of HK48.7 cents per
share, together with the interim dividend of HK8.7 cents per share,
the 2015 full-year dividend amounted to HK57.4 cents, representing
an increase of 16.0% over that of 2014.

Development Property

In Year 2015, revenue from development property amounted to
HK$93.54 billion, representing a YoY growth of 14.4%. With recent
years’ persistence in precise positioning and cost standardization,
the Group effectively improved its gross profit margin of
development property to 30.1% in Year 2015.
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Bi’S Foreword

During the Year 2015, the Group further improved its management
expertise in the following aspects: strengthening product positioning,
optimizing launching schedule to achieve sales target, enhancing
product category management, balancing between volume and
margin, actively destocking while optimizing new investments. As a
result, the Group exceeded its annual property sales target in 2015
and achieved contracted sales of RMB85.15 billion with a contracted
gross floor area ("GFA"] of 6.76 million square meters, up by 23.0%
and 2.4% YoY respectively.

Investment Property

In Year 2015, the rental income of the Group's investment properties
(including hotel operations) increased by 21.4% YoY to HK$6.65
billion. As at 31 December 2015, total GFA of the Group’s operational
investment properties reached 4.91 million square meters, including
11 Mixc, 7 Hi5/Mixc One and 2 other shopping malls. The Group’s
investment property scale is one of the largest in the industry.

During the Year, six shopping malls commenced operation
successively, including Qingdao Mixc, Ganzou Mixc, Hefei Mixc, Zibo
Mixc One, Shenyang Tiexi Mixc One and Changsha Xingsha Mixc
One. The average opening rate of the above malls achieved 87.9% on
the grand opening day, outperforming the market average.

In 2015, shopping malls encountered greater operational pressure
as new openings continue to increase and on-line retail sales
sustained fast growth. The Group adapted proactively to the ever-
challenging commercial environment and delivered an
outperforming retail sales growth in the year through continuous
tenant mix optimization by reducing less-performing leasable area
to increase unit efficiency, and by boosting foot traffic through
creative tenant mix and better customer experience.

Land Bank

The Group maintained an active yet prudent investment principle,
monitored closely to the land market, strengthened its research in
investment opportunities among different cities and focused on tier
1 and core tier 2 cities with healthy supply and demand dynamics. In
addition to acquiring incubated projects from its parent CRH, the
Group also actively acquired quality land bank through public land
auctions.

ERERERA
China Resources Land L|m|ted
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In January 2015, the Group and Central New, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRH, entered into an acquisition agreement with a total
consideration of approximately HK$18.64 billion {comprising share
consideration of approximately HK$12.60 billion and cash
consideration of HK$6.04 billion). Pursuant to the agreement, the
Group acquired from CRH certain projects located in Shenzhen and
Jinan with total GFA of approximately 4 million square meters. The
acquisition enriched the Group’s land bank in tier-1 cities, hence
further ensured the Company’s sustainable earnings growth.

During the Year 2015, apart from the assets acquired from CRH, the
Group acquired 18 land parcels in Beijing, Shanghai, Suzhou and
other cities with a total land premium of RMB59.21 billion (of which
attributable land premium was RMB29.36 billion). Total GFA
acquired reached 5.11 million square meters, of which 4.81 million
square meters were for development properties and 0.30 million
square meters were for investment properties.

As of 31 December 2015, the Group’s geographical presence had
been expanded to 53 cities nationwide, with a total land bank GFA of
41.26 million square meters, of which 35.75 million square meters
were for development properties, and 5.51 million square meters
were for investment properties. The Group’s land bank is sufficient
for development needs for the next three to five years, while the land
bank mix matches well with the Group’s business model.

Financial Policy

The Group adheres to its prudent financial policies. As of 31
December 2015, total interest-bearing debt and net interest-bearing
debt ratios remained at relatively low levels in the sector at 36.6%
and 23.0% respectively, significantly lower than those of 43.5% and
38.7% by 2014 year end. During the year, Standard and Poor’s,
Moody’s and Fitch maintained the Company’s credit ratings at
"BBB+/stable”, “Baal/stable” and "“BBB+/stable” respectively.

During the year, through reasonable early repayment of existing
loans and increments in offshore RMB borrowings, the Group has
extended the average debt tenor and increased RMB denominated
portion of total interest bearing debt, which effectively lowered
exchange rate risk while maintaining its advantage in low financing
cost.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

The Group continues to uphold its green principles of “no corporate
development at the expense of environment, no sacrifice of long-
term interests of the environment in exchange for corporate’s short-
term benefits”. The Group has incorporated social responsibility into
its business and is committed to the quality of products and services
for customers through supply chain enhancement, safety
responsibility conviction, energy-saving and emission-reduction
enforcement, as well as extensive green building development.

For years, the Group has assigned volunteers to participate in new
countryside construction. Construction of Zunyi Hope Town, the
seventh “China Resources Hope Town” sponsored by CRH, was
completed by the Group in the year and gained widespread social
recognition.

In Year 2015, the Group achieved a 4.5 star rating from the China
Academy of Social Science Research Center on its Corporate Social
Responsibility Report, which is the highest rated report in the
property sector of China. The Group was also ranked number 1 in
Social Responsibility Development Index among 31 sampled
property developers and received award from Hong Kong Business
Sustainability Index.

Outlook

Looking into 2016, the Group expects China’s economy to maintain
steady growth in the “new normal” state. Property sector shall
benefit from supportive policies including moderate monetary
environment, the acceleration in new-round urbanization, further
Hukou reform, inventory clearance measures as well as two-child
policy. The Group remains positive on property market prospects.

The landscape of investment properties is expected to remain
competitive. To reinforce its leading position in China’s commercial
property market, the Group will enhance its shopping mall
operations by reasonably adjusting the development schedule of
pipeline projects, by actively exploring new tenant mix, and by
piloting the eco operation system of “shopping mall + internet” in
selected projects.

2016 is the beginning year of “the 13th Five-year” development plan
the Group will continue to enhance and improve its existing
competitive advantages in both development and investment
property businesses to maintain earnings growth, and to proactively
explore business innovations to achieve long-term sustainable
development.

ERERERA
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In Year 2015, the Group’s development property and investment
property both sustained stable growth and achieved satisfactory
results, both contracted sales and construction progress of projects
were in line with management’s expectations, laying down a solid
foundation for 2016.

Review of Contracted Sales of Development
Property Business in Year 2015

In Year 2013, the Group achieved contracted sales of RMB85.15
billion with contracted GFA of 6.76 million square meters, up by
23.0% and 2.4% YoY respectively.

Contracted sales breakdown by region in Year 2015 is set out in the
table below:

BHE OB
B Region Contracted Sales Contracted GFA
e
AREFTT % Ik %
RMB'000 % Sqm %
IERKE Beijing 7,961,036 9.3% 414,956 6.1%
i8N Shanghai 8,708,845 10.2% 346,526 5.1%
YRR Shenzhen 22,967,650 27.0% 841,024 12.4%
P UN Chengdu 7,105,185 8.3% 931,795 13.8%
BHAR Shenyang 9,081,913 10.7% 1,103,881 16.3%
R AR Shandong 7,780,112 91% 831,026 12.3%
TEHKE Jiangsu 10,103,517 11.9% 1,029,443 15.2%
REAR Wuhan 6,961,252 8.2% 864,137 12.8%
BEAR Fujian 4,480,333 5.3% 395,892 6.0%
S Total 85,149,843 100.0% 6,758,680 100.0%
\o
9
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Review of Development Property Revenue in Year
2015

In Year 2015, the Group achieved development property revenue of
HK$93.54 billion with booked GFA of 7.04 million square meters,
representing a YoY growth of 14.4% and 18.7% respectively. Gross
profit margin of development property reached 30.1% in year 2015,
higher than 29.2% in year 2014.

Revenue breakdown by region in Year 2015 is listed below

ERES Beijing
LEEE Shanghai
A= 5, Shenzhen
PR Chengdu
R Shenyang
IR Shandong
TER Jiangsu
RERE Wuhan
R Fujian
Rt Total

EEEED HEER
Revenue GFA Booked
BEFT Fik
HK$'000 Sqm
9,853,311 550,309
12,361,283 419,690
6,265,166 213,249
12,145,791 1,126,676
13,437,708 1,309,757
12,409,004 879,250
9,870,684 856,424
11,229,588 1,203,903
5,963,649 477,024
93,536,184 7,036,282

BE_Z-RF+-_A=1+—H FrEEELHETER
ﬁﬁmﬁAﬁAE%%Mf CERREEREE - 2

ARSI BTERN = AE%Z BASE-T
—ﬁﬁ%%%?ﬁﬂ?T%E%%

“E-REREVEERE

HE-ZT-05+-A=t-8 AREREVNZEE
REAERER2ET  HAREEERENLE
B2 BN REMEEGHRARE  AREHE
RERAREANRENZET TG £BUE=S
AHEREHR R AR 2ETMEERE(RRLIRD

BRREERZR) - —T-1F BRBELEEAN
RENFEXRRENRR 0SB REFABER
21.4% °

As of 31 December 2015, the Group has locked in unbooked
contracted value of RMB88.76 billion that are subject to recognition
in 2016 and years to come. Among which, RMB56.91 billion will be
recognized in 2016, thereby laying down a solid foundation for the
Group’s performance in 2016.

Review of Investment Property Business in Year
2015

As of 31 December 2015, the book value of the investment properties
of the Group amounted to HK$88.32 billion, accounting for 22.7% of
the Group’s total assets value. In compliance with accounting
policies, the Group engaged an independent appraiser to revalue its
investment properties, including those under construction, and a
revaluation gain of HK$3.32 billion [net off taxation and minority
interests) was booked for the year 2015 based on the appraisal
report. In Year 2015, rental income of investment properties,
including hotel operation, amounted to HK$6.65 billion, representing
a 21.4% YoY growth.

ERERERA
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—AFFEREMERSMARTHLBAEFFIM  The following table sets out the rental income and occupancy rates

L of key investment properties in year 2015:
GESS ! HeWA (BT TR %)
BEME Investment Property Open Date Rental Income (HK$'000) Avg. Occupancy Rate (%)

R EEERH Shenzhen Mixc 19/12/2004 1050494 990,698 6.0% 99.4% 99.7% -03
M RESRIN Hangzhou Mixc 22/04/2010 488284 486,184 0.4% 97.4% 98.5% -11
RIEERE SR Shenyang Mixc 15/05/2011 420122 399.436 5.2% 95.1% 96.2% -1.1
REEEE R Chengdu Mixc 11/05/2012 284,011 258,170 10.0% 96.7% 98.4% -1.7
BAEEHESM Nanning Mixc 01/09/2012 487060 454216 7.2% 98.9% 99.1% -02
EBE R Zhengzhou Mixc 19/04/2014 137319 103017 333% 92.9% 94.7% -18
EEEFERW Chongging Mixc 19/09/2014 195,230 41,249 373.3% 91.4% 87.7% 3.7
EHEBERM Wuxi Mixc 20/12/2014 124,250 19,730 529.8% 77.3% 75.3% 20
EEEHERM Qingdao Mixc 30/04/2015 246423 TERNA  TEAN/A 830% NEANA TEEN/A
RIEERERM Hefei Mixc 25/09/2015 60,124 TEENA  TEANA 89.8% EANA TERANA
HMERERM Ganzhou Mixc 19/09/2015 50257 TEENA  TEANA 95.0% EANA TEHANA
iR ERmE Shanghai Times Square Commercial  18/01/1997 115784 134983 -142% 88.0% 94.4% b4
I REMESEDRL Beijing Phoenix Plaza Commercial ~ 01/02/2010 82,637 80,176 3.1% 97.2% 97.1% 0.1

IEREAEB AR Beijing Qinghe Hi5 28/06/2011 262,790 228,860 14.8% 100.0% 99.9% 0.1
BEELEBRIA Hefei Shushan Hi5 01/05/2014 30,548 28132 8.6% 96.1% 95.1% 10
ERARERRM Ningbo Yuyao Hi5 28/06/2014 60,249 26,255 129.5% 90.2% 90.8% 06
HEEAERRR Shanghai Nanxiang Hi5 25/10/2014 39,730 6,940 4725% 98.1% 100.0% -19
EEERE Zibo Mixc One 27/05/2015 80,182 TEAIN/A TEAN/A 845% EANA TERANA
ELERERE Shenyang Tiexi Mixc One 30/09/2015 28033 TEEANA TEANA 865% EANA ERANA

ROVEDERE Changsha Xingsha Mixc One 28/11/2015 11487 NEANA TERNA  1000% TERNA TERN/A
imi BRE Beijing CR Building 18/06/1999 208340 224,217 1.8% 88.7% 90.5% -18

REEAE Shenzhen CR Building 09/12/2004 163,169 160,162 1.9% 98.9% 99.8% -09
REFERAE Shenyang CR Building 09/05/2011 107,930 120,763 -10.6% 90.4% 95.8% 54
REERAR Chengdu CR Building 20/04/2012 75,704 74,010 2.3% 73.0% 69.7% 33
BAEEEAR Nanning CR Building 06/06/2012 25,701 21,083 21.9% 80.1% 96.7% -16.6
MMNEBAE Hangzhou CR Building 23/03/2015 4713 TERANA  TERN/A 15.0% TEEN/A  RERN/A
PERRESETIE Shanghai Times Square Office 01/07/1997 121,460 12279 -1.0% 96.7% 99.2% -25
I RENRSETE Beijing Phoenix Plaza Office 01/12/2011 351,595 335491 4.8% 92.2% 95.9% -37
IRETRRRETE Beijing Qinghe Hi5 Office 25/02/2013 24,188 25,126 -3.7% 100.0% 100.0% 00
Hip Others THEAN/A 349,617 341,463 24% TEANA TNEENA  NEANA
FYEBE Shenzhen Grand Hyatt Hotel 01/07/2010 502375 485764 3.4% 7h.4% 69.8% bb
AEENEBIE Shimei Bay Le Meridien Hotel 01/11/2008 66,112 81,534 -18.9% 35.9% 37.2% -13
S EEE Shenyang Grand Hyatt Hotel 30/08/2013 20,719 203232 13.5% 68.5% 66.7% 18
KEEBIE Dalian Grand Hyatt Hotel 12/09/2014 169,928 28908  487.8% 42.1% 28.1% 14.0
a5t Total 6,654,565 5,482,478 21.4% FTERAN/A FTERNA TEAN/A
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Details of the Group's key investment properties opened in 2015 are
listed below:

BEEmE EHERERE

AEBER R (EAK) (EAK) it}
Interest Attributable
Attributable to Total GFA GFA

the Group (%) (Sgm) (Sqm) Usage

EHERERLT
China Resources Land Limited
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BERER EEEERRE

MERTE FrEs AEBERHRL (ERK) (ERK)
Interest Attributable
Attributable to Total GFA GFA

Property City the Group (%) (Sgm) (Sqm)
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As of 31 December 2015, the Group's investment properties in

operation achieved 4.91 million square meters in total GFA, while

that under construction and planning reached 5.51 million square

meters in total GFA. Details are listed below:

RREER Total GFA

Hep: B% Comprising:Commercial
BT Office
BIE Hotel
Hth Others

EEREME R/ REREnE
Investment Properties
Investment Properties In Under Construction
Operation and Planning

REEEE EhERmEE REARE EIAEAEE
(FI7K) (FI7K) (FIK) CFAAK)
Attributable Attributable
Total GFA GFA Total GFA GFA
(Sqm) (Sgm) (Sgm) (Sgm)
4,911,846 4,369,067 5,505,608 4,684,287
2,938,496 2,561,367 3,892,450 3,317,241
407,044 389,919 954,186 836,887
225,709 199,052 541,729 431,243
1,340,597 1,218,729 117,243 98,916

BYHLARKRORENERTEEEREROEHR
% 01522018 FRAEBNFLRAELNRES -
TEERME-FRIRENEORERELEUE - LA
RESBARERTRE  BRICARELIIZRRNE
BHEFED  FERMAMENMEHKF -

Investment property business, particularly shopping malls, is one of
the Group’s primary focuses. The Group's shopping malls in the
pipeline will come on stream in the next few years, with 2015 to 2018
being the peak years for new completions. In the future, the Group
will continue to improve development and operating capabilities to
ensure stable growth in recurrent rental income, and further
enhances the Group’s unique competitiveness from its “double-
engine” business strategy to strengthen earnings sustainability.

\o
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Review of Value-added Services Business in Year
2015

In Year 2015, the Group continued to expand its value-added services
in areas of residential development, investment properties and
property management. For residential development, fitted products
were continuously introduced, with coverage GFA of 1.63 million
square meters as at 31 December 2015.

Going forward, the Group will establish a standardized system of
products for residential value-added services based on changes in
market conditions and customer demand, with a pursuit to provide
better product experience for our property owners. For investment
properties, the Group will explore the “Shopping mall + internet” eco
operation system in selected projects. On-line networks for
community value-added services will be consolidated to explore and
gradually refine the “property + internet” service model.

Land Bank

In Year 2015, apart from the assets acquired from CRH, the Group
acquired 18 quality projects totalling 5.11 million square meters in
GFA with a total consideration of RMB59.21 billion. As of 31
December 2015, the total GFA of the Group's land bank amounted to
41.26 million square meters. Region breakdown is set out below:

BmRERE

BRERE (FAK)

(FAXK) Attributable

Total GFA GFA

i Region (Sqm) (Sgm)
|

b RELE Beijing 3,472,988 2,663,112

LR Shanghai 1,872,970 1,162,267

o[l Shenzhen 8,099,509 6,319,048

RERR L Chengdu 7,543,490 7,146,775

EE, Shenyang 3,660,469 3,217,292

NS Shandong 5,039,209 4,865,565

TTERR Jiangsu 6,200,282 5,226,721

REES Wuhan 3,350,821 3,029,661

BERLE Fujian 2,018,027 1,761,613

&gt Total 41,257,765 35,392,054

THHEARSEEENBESRE—SSETER -
HE-_T-AF+-A=+-8 AEEEECTMHE
3T
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Sufficient land bank further reinforced foundation for the Group’s
sustainable growth in the future. As of 31 December 2015, the
Group’s geographic presence had been extended to 53 cities.
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Going forward, while maintaining healthy financial position with an
optimal capital structure, the Group will focus on core strategic
cities, strictly follow its financial return criteria and diversify access
to land bank through joint ventures and other channels in
replenishing quality land bank to match its development strategies
and business model. Further land bank acquisitions will be funded
by the Group's internal resources together with external financing.

Loans, Debt Ratios, Asset Pledge and Foreign
Exchange Risk

Benefiting from strong operating cash inflow and prudent financial
management, the Group further strengthened its balance sheet in
Year 2015 and maintained relatively low debt ratios. As at 31
December 2015, the Group's total debt was HK$76.15 billion
equivalent while its cash and bank balance amounted to HK$45.87
billion. The Group’s net interest-bearing debt to equity ratio
lincluding minority interests] was 23.0%, which was substantially
lower than that of 2014 at 38.7% (restated).

The Group continues to strengthen its financial management and
optimize its debt profile. In May 2015, the Group raised HK$10.1
billion by issuing a total of 400,000,000 shares at the price of
HK$25.25 per share and hence effectively enhanced its financial
resources. As of 31 December 2015, 53% of the Group’s interest-
bearing debt was denominated in RMB and 47% in HK$ and US$.
Approximately 19% of the interest-bearing debt is repayable within
one year while the rest is long term debt. The Group has maintained
its borrowing cost at a relatively low level in the sector, with the
weighted average cost of funding at 4.63% as at 31 December 2015.

In Year 2015, the international credit rating agencies Standard and
Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch maintained the Company credit ratings at
“BBB+/stable”, “Baal/stable” and "“BBB+/stable” respectively.

As of 31 December 2015, the Group had total loan facilities of
RMBZ25.09 billion through asset pledge with pledge tenor ranging
from 3 to 15 years, and the Group’s total balance of asset-pledged
loan was RMB17.69 billion, which equivalents to HK$18.30 billion.

9
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The Group’s residential and investment properties are all located in
Mainland China. We estimate Renminbi exchange rate to continue
its two-way volatility as Renminbi exchange mechanism becomes
more market-oriented. However, the foreign exchange risk of the
Group is expected to be under control, and not to pose a material
impact on the Group's financial position. The Group will closely
monitor its exchange risk exposure and will adjust its debt profile
when necessary based on market changes.

Employee and Compensation Policy

As of 31 December 2015, the Group had 31,481 full time employees
in Mainland China and Hong Kong (including property management
and agency subsidiaries). The Group remunerates its employees
based on their performance, working experience and market salary
levels. In addition, performance bonus is granted on a discretionary
basis. Other employee benefits include provident fund, insurance
and medical coverage.

Contingent Liabilities

Temporary guarantees are provided to banks with respect to
mortgage loans procured by some purchasers of the Group's
properties. Such guarantees will be released by banks upon the
issuance of the real estate ownership certificate to the purchasers
or the satisfaction of mortgaged loan by the purchasers, whichever
is earlier. In the opinion of the Board, the fair value of the financial
guarantee contracts is not significant.
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Mr. Wu Xiangdong, aged 48

joined the Company in 2005 and was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company in June 2013. He is also the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company.

Mr. Wu holds a Double Bachelor's degree in Construction
Management and Engineering Mechanics, as well as a Master's
degree in Municipal Engineering from Tsinghua University in China
and an MBA degree from the University of San Francisco in the
United States. Mr. Wu joined China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in 1993.

Mr. Tang Yong, aged 44

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as Managing
Director of the Company in June 2013 and Vice Chairman of the
Company in November 2014, and is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group. He is also a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company.

Mr. Tang has a Bachelor’s degree of Engineering in Industrial and
Electrical Automation from Tongji University, China and an MBA
degree from the University of San Francisco in the United States.
Mr. Tang has experience in property management and corporate
management. Mr. Tang joined China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in 1993, and had worked for China Resources Property
Management Limited.

Mr. Yu Jian, aged 44

joined the Company in 2014 and was appointed as an Executive
Director in August 2014, and is currently a Senior Vice President and
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Mr. Yu joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 2009 and was the Head of
Treasury and Senior Deputy Chief Financial Officer of its Finance
Department. Mr. Yu has previously worked for 8 years in the
strategic planning and treasury functions in BP Asia based in Hong
Kong and BP plc based in London, and spent 7 years in the financial
leasing area in CITIC in Beijing and Hong Kong.

Mr. Yu is the Chartered Financial Analyst holder. He holds Bachelor
of International Finance degree from the University of International
Business and Economics in China and a Master of Business
Administration degree from the University of Michigan Ross School
of Business in the United States of America. He has 20 years’
experience in financial management.

\o

9
EWEHERAT |
China Resources Land Limited

041



04

0]

EENBEEE ASME Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EELE HELLZH

R-—NNAEZABRZRERARAMTES  R-FF
NEZRARRFNTES - F’ﬁf‘iiiﬁ&iﬁfﬁ(% VA
ﬁE Al BLRER  ARENAEREE (R AR
RE) (AR AEREXBRAR]) ZFNTES - ZAF

REABARZMBERARERLD

ARERBTRLRARLRELBULXA=ETA
BTRERERIEN - R - NN\BEMAEE (&
E)ERRA]

RYXREE ET=5
RIZRLE\ABRZERARANFMTES - A

AARFHERERRAZEENE - HALNRER
R (£ Hx)ﬁﬁﬁ AR (AR AERAXARAR) -

AOREBARAR - EERRIZRERARLERES
ERERL TZ?F%T%% ZENARBEBARS
FIBERARERED - HELSHEE(RE)ERD Taa‘J
BREREREANERE - HAENATEERS
ZEZ - HELBETHERYE %}w%ﬁﬁtmzﬁ
“NBERNERRARE LEEFR I LT EH
EREXRN *ﬁ‘l‘E RANES - HELENEETERE
EIERR)BRARERELENER (5B ERATE
AR HALRAXBA-—ETAZIHERSELE
fii o R —AN\EFMAERE (RE)ERRF

\ —E-EEERE
Annual Report 2015

Mr. Yan Biao, aged 53

was appointed Executive Director of the Company in February 1996
and was re-designated as Non-Executive Director in February 2006.
Mr. Yan is the Chief Legal Officer of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited. Mr. Yan is also a Non-Executive Director of China
Resources Beer [Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as
China Resources Enterprise, Limited), which is listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Yan has a Bachelor of Laws degree from the Peking University,
China and an MBA degree from the University of San Francisco,
USA. He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in
1985.

Mr. DuWenmin, aged 52

was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in August
2007, and is also a member of the Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Du is also a non-
executive director of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company
Limited (formerly known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited),
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited, China Resources Gas
Group Limited and China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited. These companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Du is the Deputy General
Manager and Chief Human Resources Officer of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Du is also the Director of China
Resources National Corporation. Mr. Du was a director of China
Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and China Resources Double-Crane
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchangel).
Mr. Du was also the Managing Director of China Resources
Construction [Holdings] Limited and the Internal Audit Director of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Du obtained a
Master’s Degree in Business and Administration from the University
of San Francisco, USA. He joined China Resources [Holdings]
Company Limited in 1985.
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Mr. Wei Bin, aged 46

was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in
October 2010 and is also a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company. He is also a non-executive director of China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited, China Resources Gas Group Limited,
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and China
Resources Beer [Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as
China Resources Enterprise, Limited). These companies are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr.
Wei was appointed in March 2013 as a non-executive director of
China Vanke Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
He is currently the Chief Financial Officer of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. Besides, he is also a director of Shan
Dong Dong-E E-Jiao Co., Ltd, which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wei was a director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical
& Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange]
and China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange), and the General Manager of the
Finance Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited.

Mr. Wei holds a Bachelor's degree in Auditing from Zhongnan
University of Economics in China and a Master’s degree in Finance
from Jinan University in China, and is a Senior Accountant and a
Senior Auditor in China. He is also a non-practicing member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wei joined
China Resources [Holdings) Company Limited in 20071.
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Mr. Chen Ying, aged 45

was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in June
2012 and is also a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.
He is also a non-executive director of China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited, China Resources Beer [Holdings) Company
Limited (formerly known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited),
China Resources Gas Group Limited and China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited. These companies are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chen is
also a non-executive director of China Vanke Co., Ltd., which is listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
The Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He was appointed as the Chief
Strategy Officer of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in
July 2013 and the General Manager of its Strategy Management
Department in October 2011. Mr. Chen was a director of China
Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and China Resources Double-Crane
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchangel).
He has worked as Project Engineer, Project Manager and Manager
of Procurement Department and Executive Director of China
Resources Construction (Holdings) Limited, a fellow subsidiary of
the Company, from September 1993 to March 2002. Besides, he was
also the Managing Director of China Resources Land (Beijing)
Limited from March 2002 to October 2011 and a Director of the
Company from March 2003 to February 2006.

Mr. Chen obtained a Bachelor's degree of Architectural
Management from the Tsinghua University, China in 1993 and a
Master’'s degree of Business Administration from University of
Oxford, the United Kingdom, in 2007. Mr. Chen joined China
Resources Group in 1993.
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Mr. Wang Yan, aged 44

was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in
August 2014. Mr. Wang joined China Resources National
Corporation in July 1994. He worked for China Resources
Petrochems (Group) Company Limited (currently known as Sinopec
(Hong Kong) Petroleum Holding Company Limited) from 2000 to
2006. Mr. Wang was appointed as a Director of China Resources Gas
Limited in November 2005. He was a Deputy General Manager of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from September 2007 to
April 2012. He was a Deputy General Manager of the Internal Audit
Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from
April 2012 to January 2016 and was appointed as the General
Manager in February 2016. He was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited,
China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known
as China Resources Enterprise, Limited), China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited and China Resources Gas Group Limited in August
2014. Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics from the
Finance and Accounting Department, Capital University of
Economics and Business, a Master of Business Administration
Degree from the University of South Australia and is a qualified PRC
Certified Accountant.

Mr. Ding Jiemin, aged 58

was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in
September 2008. Mr. Ding is currently the President of Tongji
Architectural Design (Group) Co., Limited. He is also the Chairman
of Shanghai Tongji Science & Technology Industrial Co., Limited,
which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Ding holds the
certificates of China national class 1 registered structural engineer,
registered consultant engineer (in investment), and senior registered
structural engineer in British Royal Institution of Structural
Engineers. He has a Doctor’s degree in Engineering from Tongji
University, China.
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Mr. Wang Shi, aged 65

was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company in April 1997. Mr. Wang is the Chairman and Founder of
China Vanke Co., Limited. Since he founded and led Vanke in 1984,
he profoundly shaped Vanke's corporate visions, ethics and
management strategies. Under his leadership, Vanke has grown
quickly into China’s largest home developer, as well as pioneer in
green home construction. In 2004, he co-founded Society of
Entrepreneurs and Ecology, China’s largest environmental networks
involving private sector business leaders. He was elected Chairman
of China Entrepreneurs Forum in July 2011. Mr. Wang reached the
peak of Mount Everest from North and South in 2003 and 2010
respectively. He is the 11th person in the world to accomplish “7+2"
— reaching the Seven Summits in 2004 and North and South Poles
in 2005. Mr. Wang is member of the board of World Wildlife Fund US
and the World Economic Forum Global Agenda Council on
Governance for Sustainability. Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor of
Science Degree from Lanzhou Railway College in China. From 2011
to 2013, Mr. Wang was a visiting fellow at Harvard University
specializing in business value and ethics. He is now a visiting fellow
at Pembroke College at University of Cambridge studying business
value and Judaism. Mr. Wang is also an Independent Non-Executive
Director of SOHU.Com Inc., and Modern Media Holdings Limited.

Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, aged 63

was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company in March 2009. He also serves as the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of
the Company. Mr. Wan has been a practicing accountant in Hong
Kong for over 30 years and has extensive experience in auditing,
finance, advisory and management. He is a former partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong. Mr. Wan is currently an
Independent Non-executive Director of several companies listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Chairman/member
of their Audit Committees, namely, Dalian Port (PDA] Company
Limited, Fairwood Holdings Limited, Harbin Bank Company Limited,
Huaneng Renewables Corporation Limited, Kerry Logistic Network
Limited, KFM Kingdom Holdings Limited, S. Culture International
Holding Limited, Target Insurance (Holdings) Limited and Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Holding Company Limited. Mr. Wan had also
served as an Independent Director of Mindray Medical International
Limited (a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, USA),
and RDA Microelectronics, Inc. (a company listed on the NASDAQ),
and the Chairman of their Audit Committees, Independent Non-
executive Director of Real Gold Mining Limited and Greater China
Professional Services Limited. He is a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, aged 58

was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director in July
2006. He also serves as the Chairman of the Company’s
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of
the Company. He is currently the Founding Managing Partner of
SAIF Partners. Prior to joining SAIF Partners, he was the Managing
Director and Head of Hong Kong office of Emerging Markets
Partnership, the management company of AlG Asian Infrastructure
Funds from 1994 to 2001. From 1989 to 1994, he worked in the World
Bank, the Hudson Institute and the US Sprint International
Corporation as an Economist, Research Fellow and Director of
Strategic Planning and Business Development for the Asia Pacific
Region respectively in Washington D.C.. From 1982 to 1984, he was
the Chief Engineer at the Jianghuai Airplane Corp.. Mr. Yan is also
an independent non-executive director of Sky Solar Holdings Ltd
(listed on Nasdag) and an independent director of TCL Corporation
(listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange). Mr. Yan received a
bachelor’s degree in engineering from Nanjing Aeronautic Institute
in 1982. He studied in the Master Program in Department of
Sociology of Peking University from 1984 to 1986 and received a
Master of Arts’ degree from Princeton University in International
Political Economy in 1989. He also studied advanced finance and
accounting courses at the Wharton Business School in 1995.

Currently, Mr. Yan is also an Independent Non-executive Director of
China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation, CPMC Holdings Limited
and Cogobuy Group; Non-executive Director of Digital China
Holdings Limited, China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited, eSun
Holdings Limited and Guodian Technology & Environment Group
Corporation Limited, all of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Other than that China Petroleum &
Chemical Corporation is also listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
London Stock Exchange and New York Stock Exchange. He is also
an Independent Director of BlueFocus Communication Group, (listed
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange — Growth Enterprise Market); and a
Director of ATA Inc. (listed on Nasdag]
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Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, aged 71

was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company in September 2005. He also serves as the Chairman of the
Corporate Governance Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Ho is a graduate from the Department of
Architecture of University of Hong Kong. He worked in several
renowned architectural practices in UK and HK before founding hpa
(previously known as Ho & Partners Architects Engineers and
Development Consultants Limited) in 1980. He is Authorized Person
(Architect] Hong Kong, Member of Hong Kong Institute of Architects
and of Royal Institute of British Architects. The projects he designed
can be found in Mainland China, Hong Kong, India, South-East Asia
and Middle East, he has published a book called “Building in China”.

Mr. Ma Weihua, aged 67

was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company in July 2013. He also serves as a member of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company Mr. Ma was the
President and Chief Executive Officer as well as an executive director
of China Merchants Bank Co., Limited (a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) from
March 1999 to 31 May 2013. He holds a Doctor’'s degree in
Economics and is a senior economist. Mr. Ma is a member of the
Twelfth National Committee of the Chinese People’'s Political
Consultative Conference. He was a director of China Merchants
Group Limited, the chairman of CIGNA & CMC Life Insurance
Company Limited, China Merchants Fund, and Wing Lung Bank and
independent non-executive director of Winox Holdings Limited, and
China Petroleum and Chemical Corporation. He is currently an
independent non-executive director of China Eastern Airlines
Corporation Limited and Legend Holdings Ltd. and independent
director of China World Trade Centre Co., Ltd. Mr. Ma is also the
Chief Supervisor of Taikang Pension & Insurance Co., Ltd. In
addition, he holds positions in many organizations, including the
chairman of One Foundation, the chairman of National fund for
Technology Transfer and Commercialization (NFTTC), the Chairman
of China Entrepreneur Club and the Executive Director of China
Society for Finance. Mr. Ma also teaches as an adjunct professor in
several top Chinese universities including Peking University and
Tsinghua University.
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Mr. Zhang Dawei, aged 47

was appointed as a Senior Vice President of the Company in June
2013 and is also the General Manager of the Company’'s Shandong
Region. Mr. Zhang has a Bachelor’s degree of Structural
Engineering and a Master’s degree of Earthquake Engineering from
Dalian University of Technology. Mr. Zhang has extensive experience
in property management and corporate management. Mr. Zhang
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1994, and
had worked for China Resources Construction CO., Limited. He
joined the Company in 2006.

Mr. Xie Ji, aged 43

was appointed as a Senior Vice President of the Company in June
2013, and is also the General Manager of the Company’s Shanghai
Region. Mr. Xie has a Bachelor's degree in Civil Engineering from
Tongji University, and an EMBA degree from China Europe
International Business School, Shanghai, China. Mr. Xie has
extensive experience in real estate management and corporate
management. Mr. Xie joined China Resources (Holding) Company
Limited in 1993, and had worked for China Resource Construction
Co., Limited. He joined the Company in 2001.

Mr. Li Xin, aged 44

was appointed as a Senior Vice President of the Company in June
2013, and he is also the General Manager of the Company’s
Shenyang Region. Mr. Li has a Bachelor of Management degree
from Dongbei University of Finance & Economics and a Master’s
degree in Engineering Management from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Li has experience in property and
corporate development. He joined China Resource [Holding]
Company Limited in 1994, and had worked for China Resources
Property Management Limited. He Joined the Company in 2001.

Mr. Chi Feng, aged 43

was appointed as a Senior Vice President of the Company in June
2013, and he is also the General Manager of the Company’s Jiangsu
Region. Mr. Chi has a Bachelor’'s degree of International Economic
Law from Jilin University and an EMBA degree from China Europe
International Business School. Mr. Chi has experience in property
and corporate management. Mr. Chi joined China Resources
(Holding) Company Limited in 1999, and had worked for China
Resources Shanghai Co., Limited and China Resources Sun Hung
Kai Properties (Wuxi) Limited. He joined the Company in 2006.
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Mr. Wu Binqi, aged 44

was appointed as a Senior Vice President of the Company in October
2013, he is also the General Manager of the Company’s Chengdu
Region. Mr. Wu has a Bachelor’s degree of Industrial and Civil
Architecture Engineering from Tongji University, China and an MBA
degree from the University of South Australia in Australia. Mr. Wu
has extensive experience in property and corporate management.
Mr. Wu joined China Resources [Holding) Company Limited in 1993,
and had worked for China Resources Property Limited and China
Resources Construction (Holding) Limited. He Joined the Company
in 2007.
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Corporate Governance

The Company and the Board are committed to establishing good
corporate governance practices and procedures. The Company
recognizes the importance of maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to the long-term stable development of the
Group. The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code”) set out in the Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”] on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the year under review, Mr. Tang Yong, Vice Chairman and
Executive Director of the Company, continues to effectively preside
over the daily operations and management of the Board and is
responsible for managing the Company’s daily operations at the
same time. To maintain the operational continuity of the nomination
committee, Mr. Wu Xiangdong remained as chairman of the
nomination committee after his resignation as Chairman of the
Company in 2014. The Company believes that the above
arrangement does not undermine the effective operation of the
Group as a whole. The Company will review the condition of the
Board and each board committee to maintain the quality of the
Board and the Company’s business operation.

On 13 August 2014, Mr. Wang Yan was appointed as Non-Executive
Director of the Company and accepted the election of shareholders
and was approved as Director of the Company at the annual general
meeting held on 3 June 2015 in accordance with the Articles of
Association. However, according to the code provision, director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after his appointment, i.e.
the general meeting of the Company held on 21 January 2015.

Besides, in 2015, there was no change to the members of the Board
of the Company, and no meeting was convened by the nomination
committee to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board.

Save for the above arrangements, the Company has complied with
the code provisions set out in CG Code for the period from 1 January
2015to 31 December 2015.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers ("Model Code”] set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding securities
transactions of the Directors of the Company. The Company, having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
regarding their securities transactions during 2015.

Board of Directors

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies, objectives
and business plans for the Company, and to supervise and control
the implementation of strategies of the Company and its operations
and financial performance, and formulation of appropriate risk
control policies and procedures to ensure the achievement of the
Company’s strategic objectives. In addition, the Board is also
responsible for maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
of the Company. The Directors are accountable for promoting the
success of the Company and making decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

In order to maintain a highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility
and swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when
necessary, may delegate its managing and administrative powers to
the management, and provide clear guidance regarding such
delegation so as to avoid seriously impeding or undermining the
overall capabilities of the Board in exercising its powers. The
management meets regularly to review the strategic goals,
corporate structure, operating procedures, budget implementation,
major projects and business plans of the Company. Duties and
authorities delegated to the various board committees are described
in the respective sessions below.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company. A
balanced composition of Executive Directors and Non-Executive
Directors helps to ensure the independence of the Board and
enables the Board to make independent judgments effectively. The
operation and management of the Board and the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business should be clearly divided at
the Board level to ensure that there is a balance of power and
authority and that power will not be concentrated in any one
individual.
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Board Composition

As at 31 December 2015, the Board comprised 14 Directors,
including 3 Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wu Xiangdong, Mr.
Tang Yong (Vice Chairman) and Mr. Yu Jian; 6 Non-Executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Yan Biao, Mr. Du Wenmin, Mr. Ding Jiemin,
Mr. Wei Bin, Mr. Chen Ying and Mr. Wang Yan; and 5 Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Shi, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan,
Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter and Mr. Ma Weihua.
Members of the Board are not related to each other, including
financial, business, family or other material relationship. The
number of Independent Non-Executive Directors represents more
than one third of the Board as required under Rule 3.10(A) of the
Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2015.
Members of the Board and their biographical details are set out in
the biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Company section on pages 41 to 50 of this report.

As at 31 December 2015, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

Ethnicity
FEAR
Age Group 40-43
R i
Year of Service
1 2 3 5 6 7 8 9 10 1 12 13 14

EZHH

Number of Directors

EHERERLT
China Resources Land Limited



054

TEERIE Corporate Governance Report

RZE-—=F\AZ+=R ARACHEFEKES
TR (EEENEZE ST BRI (EFE S
BER]) °

ARFRERELMARBEBRZIAT  BEE (B
UFMTESRENFERRE  BRART 2 BUM -

FEECHEEERGRBEEERR  UWREAKE
MEZRRABE SR LEANERET

EERAESIIRERRETE

REEREATNZTAUGRIEALE 2REFE
SEBBELUR  BRUBMAMBRREE AR
REREAGEMENIIAMBZEATHESSE
HER -

EAAR AR EREH AR RURTE -

H-T-—FNA-RE ARA2BESFTAHER
HEANTEEXHEE - MR RAZNRHER - UE
EXERBUESHURETRE

TREZVRFBHZERBIXERE  UNMBLBER
HHH - ARAEBRRABARRIERB L RIEE
B HEENTES -

9

|—2-nFERE
Annual Report 2015

As at 23 August 2013, the Company established “China Resources
Land Limited Board Diversity Policy” for diversity of the Board (the
“Board Diversity Policy”).

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors confirming their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Directors and Officers’ Liability Insurance is in place to protect
Directors and officers of the Group against their potential legal
liabilities.

Directors’ Continuous Training and Development
Programme

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and professional
development program for the Directors.

With effect from 1 April 2012, all Directors of the Company have
been provided with monthly updates on the Group’s business
operation, position and prospects to enable the Board and each
Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company has sent reading materials to Directors on
regulatory updates or information relevant to the Company or its
business.
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The Company has received from all Directors records of their
continuous professional development trainings during the year.

Details of which are set out in below table:

TREXRRR R
Type of Continuous Professional Development
FEREARAI
AR &0 EDALREE  LREEERR
EEAAMAEN mEZEE  EFEREWE
Reading
regulatory Attending
updates or seminar on
information Visiting regulatory
relevanttothe the Company’'s  development
Company or projectsin  and directors’
its business the PRC duties
|
RAR Wu Xiangdong v v
E B Tang Yong v v v
I Yu Jian v v 4
H B Yan Biao v v v
HXR Du Wenmin v v
TER Ding Jiemin v
® oW Wei Bin v v v
B E Chen Ying v v v
T E Wang Yan v v v
T A Wang Shi v
B Andrew Y.Yan v v v
BB Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco v v v
FiRH Wan Kam To, Peter v v v
BEE Ma Weihua v v
\o
9
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EZgRRRAE Board and General Meetings

“T-REABETBNAAESEE SR —NBRREFTK  Nine meetings of the Board, one Annual General Meeting and one

SR RBREAS - SUESHREHNLELSE  Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company were held during the

SIEMT - year of 2015. The attendance of each Director at the meetings is set
out as follows:

BF8E3 RRBFAE BRERIAE

EENY Name of Director Board Meeting AGM EGM
]
HITEE Executive Director
RIAE Wu Xiangdong 1/9 0/1 0/1
E B Tang Yong 5/9 71 /1
IR Yu Jian 8/9 1/1 1/1
IHTEE Non-Executive Director
e Yan Biao 3/9 0N 0/1
"R Du Wenmin 2/9 0/1 0/1
TER Ding Jiemin 1/9 0/1 0/1
B Wei Bin 2/9 0/1 0/1
B B Chen Ying 2/9 0N 0/1
T E Wang Yan 6/9 0/1 0/1
BUFHITEF Independent Non-Executive Director
T A Wang Shi 0/9 0/1 0/1
i Andrew Y. Yan 5/9 0/1 01
@R Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 7/9 0/1 1/
FE Wan Kam To, Peter 7/9 11 11
BEE Ma Weihua 2/9 0/1 0/1
IERITBER Chairman and Chief Executive

REZ-T-RFT-A=+—ALLFEAN ARAH  During the year ended 31 December 2015, Mr. Tang Yong assumed
TESEBRERETESGATR  TRAKAEEERL  the role of the Vice Chairman of the Company and he was also
AIEERB - responsible for managing the Company's daily operations

ZiE EERER Appointment, Re-election and Removal
PRESCEARAGNVEAZERN  E8HA=%F "  All Directors entered into formal letters of appointment with the
ERARBARRZEBERMBAIE NG PB=F Company for a term of three years and they are subject to re-
BRRREEEAE TERREE—R - RIEEEFSE  election by shareholders at AGM and at least once every three years
BHREE MRRRBEAE LEEANUERZELR  on a rotation basis in accordance with Article 116 of the Articles of
EREL - HEFSHRTR REZEQAMEEE  Association of the Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-
BERRZFEEAN BZFBERTXREZEG—HH  election and re-election of retiring Directors at AGMs is dealt with by
it o separate individual resolutions. Where vacancies arise at the Board,
candidates are proposed and put forward to the Board by the
Nomination Committee as more fully explained below under the
section on Nomination Committee.

9
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Board Committees

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 4 September 1998. As at 31 December 2015, all
members of the Audit Committee are either Independent Non-
Executive Directors or Non-Executive Directors. Mr. Wan Kam To,
Peter is the Chairman of the Committee and other members include
Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ma Weihua, being
the Independent Non-Executive Directors and Mr. Wei Bin and Mr.
Chen Ying, being the Non-Executive Directors, while Mr. Wan Kam
To, Peter holds accounting-related professional qualifications.

The major duties of the Audit Committee include (1) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditor, and to approve the
remuneration and the terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of its resignation or dismissal; (2] to review and
monitor the external auditor’'s independence and obJect|V|ty and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards; (3] to develop and implement policy on engaging an
external auditor to supply non-audit services, and to report to the
Board, to identifying and making recommendations on any matters
where action or improvement is needed; (4) to monitor integrity of
the Company’s financial statements and annual report and accounts
and interim report, and to review significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them; (5] to review the Company's financial
controls, internal control system and risk management systems; (6)
to discuss the risk management and internal control systems with
management to ensure that management has performed its duty to
have effective internal control systems, and evaluate every year
whether such systems are effective, sufficient and suitable. This
evaluation should include but not limited to all important aspects of
internal controls (including strategy, financial, operational,
information technology, risk management, legal and compliance
controls etc.); (7] to consider major investigation findings on risk
management and internal control matters as delegated by the
Board or on its own initiative and the management’s response to
these findings; (8) to review the external auditor's management
letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to management
about accounting records, financial accounts or systems of controls
and management’'s response; (9] to review and monitor the
effectiveness of the internal audit function, to ensure co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, and to ensure that the
internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate

ERERERA
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standing within the Company; (10) to review the group’s financial and
accounting policies and practices; (11) to ensure that the Board will
provide a timely response to the issues raised in the external
auditor's management letter; (12) to review arrangements
employees of the Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters and to ensure that proper arrangements are in
place for fair and independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action; (13) to act as the key representative
body for overseeing the Company’s relationship with the external
auditor. The details are available on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held three
meetings to review the annual and interim financial statements of
the Company and amend the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee in accordance with the Listing Rules so as to enhance
the risk management and internal structure of the Company on an
on-going basis.

Attendance of members of the Audit Committee in 2015 is set out as
follows:

HELH

Attendance

BUINTEE Independent Non-Executive Director

FiDE(ZEERLE) Wan Kam To, Peter {committee chairman] 3/3
R Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 3/3
Bt Andrew Y. Yan 3/3
s Ma Weihua 1/3
FHITEE Non-Executive Director

B O Wei Bin 0/3
R B Chen Ying 1/3

FMZEES Remuneration Committee

ApalEmR R ((FHREE )R -_FTLFNAL
AR - RZZ-RET-A=T—H FHEEEX
BOKERBUFRTES - BUFNTERHMELE
RIF MEMKEEEBLIFNTESFERLL
FRELL BHELAERFRATEEHIREL
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The remuneration committee of the Company (the "Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 7 April 2005. As at 31 December
2015, a majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee
are Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Independent Non-
Executive Director Mr. Andrew Y. Yan is the Chairman and other
members include Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter,
Mr. Ma Weihua, all being Independent Non-Executive Directors and
Mr. Du Wenmin, being Non-Executive Director.
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Major duties of the Remuneration Committee include: 1. to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all directors” and the senior management
remuneration, and the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy; 2. to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management; 3. to review
and approve the management’'s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; 4. to review
and approve compensation payable to the executive directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment; 5. to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct; 6. to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Non-
Executive Directors; and 7. to ensure that no director or any of his
associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration. Details are
available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has
determined the policy for the remuneration of executive Directors,
assessed performance of Vice Chairman, executive Director and
senior management and reviewed the incentive mechanism of the
Company. There were three meetings held by the Remuneration
Committee to approve the increase in salaries, bonus and the
vesting plan of the mid-to-long term incentive scheme to executive
Directors and senior management of the Group during the year. In
this regard, the Remuneration Committee made recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management of the Group for final adoption.
The attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HELS

Attendance

BUINTEE Independent Non-Executive Director

B wWEZEeLE) Andrew Y. Yan (committee chairman) 3/3
R Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 3/3
FiRH Wan Kam To, Peter 3/3
e Ma Weihua 0/3
FHITEE Non-Executive Director

HXE Du Wenmin 0/3

ERBHERA
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For the year ended 31 December 2015, the details of the
remuneration of the members of the senior management were as
follows:

(BEFT)

(HK$'000)
|

Fre kAR Salaries and other benefits 14,374

RIREFFIEIER Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 470

REERARZKERBER D 2 HMHEMT :

HENEE

Name of Remuneration band

The remuneration of the members of the senior management of the
Group by band is set out below:

AH

Number of persons

B4R 4,500,001 7.2 5,000,000 7T

HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 per annum 3
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Further particulars regarding the directors” emoluments and the
five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 30 March 2007. As at 31 December
2015, a majority of the members of Nomination Committee are
Independent Non-Executive Directors. Mr. Wu Xiangdong is the
Chairman, and other members include Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr.
Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Ma Weihua, all being
Independent Non-Executive Directors and Mr. Du Wenmin, being
Non-Executive Director.

Major duties of the Nomination Committee include: 1. to review the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience] of the Board at least annually and to make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; 2. to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select
or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships; 3. to assess the
independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, having
regard to the requirements under the Listing Rules; and 4. to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors.
Details relating to terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, with a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees
increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development. In designing the Board's composition,
Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age, ethnicity
and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee has, from time to time, reviewed and
monitored the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy to
ensure effectiveness of the Policy while the Board will at appropriate
time set measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board.

Directors are appointed through formal, considered and transparent
procedure. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, ethnicity and length of service. Opinions of the existing
Directors (including the Independent Non-Executive Directors) are
sought when deciding candidates, but the ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

During 2015, there was no change to the members of the Board of
the Company. No meeting was convened by the Nomination
Committee.

Corporate Governance Committee

The corporate governance committee of the Company (the "CG
Committee”) was established on 9 March 2012. As at 31 December
2015, a majority of the members of CG Committee are Independent
Non-Executive Directors. The Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. Ho Hin Ngai is the Chairman of the Committee and other
members include Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr.
Ma Weihua, all being Independent Non-Executive Directors and Mr.
Wu Xiangdong and Mr. Tang Yong, being executive directors.
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Major duties of the CG Committee include: 1. to develop and review
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and
make recommendations to the Board: 2. to review and monitor the
training and continuous professional development of directors and
senior management; 3. to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; 4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and directors; and 5. To review the
Company’s compliance with the regular practice set out in the
“Corporate Governance Code"and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report. Details are available on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

During 2013, one meeting was held by the CG Committee to review
and monitor training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management as well as reviewing compliance
with CG Code by the Company and disclosure in CG Report. The
attendance of the meeting is as follows:

HELH

Attendance

HITEE Executive director
RIAR Wu Xiangdong 0/1
E B Tang Yong 1/1
BUFHITEE Independent Non-Executive Director
BER(ZEEEE) Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco (committee chairman) 11
i Andrew Y. Yan 1/1
FE Wan Kam To, Peter 11
B Ma Weihua 11
FEMEER Accountability and Audit
B | E Financial Reporting

EERREARERADAREER  THRERMY
BE - UERESHBRRERETEREREENE
EMAVHEINER - BULBMAELEHBE_F
—REt AT ALEENZERBRRNERE
EMEHRBRARNFEITEEFIBEABUZEENRE

o
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The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the annual reports, interim reports and financial statements of the
Company to ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair
presentation in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards. The statement by the independent auditor about its
reporting responsibilities relating to the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2015 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 97 to 98.
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Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent
auditor’'s independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit
process. It receives each year the letter from the independent
auditor confirming their independence and objectivity and holds
meetings with representatives of the independent auditor to
consider the scope of its audit, approve its fees, and the scope and
appropriateness of non-audit services, if any, to be provided by it.
The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the Board on
the appointment and retention of the independent auditor.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

An analysis of the fees of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and other
independent auditor is shown in Note 13 to the financial statements.
In the year ended 31 December 2015, a provision of HK$4,439,000
was made in the financial statements for service fee payable to
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for the annual audit and review of interim
financial statements, there was no non-audit service fee for the year.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary, Mr. Lo Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor
in Hong Kong. Although the Company Secretary is not a full time
employee of the Company, he reports to the Board and in his
capacity as Company Secretary advises the Board on governance
matters. The primary contact person of the Company with the
Company Secretary was Mr. Yu Jian, the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company. The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has
attended at least 15 hours of professional development in 2015.

Shareholders’ Rights

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting (‘EGM”) and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM. General
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any
two or more members of the Company deposited at the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists hold as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.
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If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

Article 120 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to
the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing
of the intention to propose that person for election as a director and
notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall
have been given to the Company provided that the minimum length
of the period, during which such notices are given, shall be at least 7
days. The period for lodgment of such notices shall commence no
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the
date of such meeting.

Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a
person to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting, the
following documents must be validly served on the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong within the period specified in Article 120 of the Articles of
Association of the Company, namely (1) his/her notice of intention to
propose a resolution to elect a nominated candidate as a Director at
the general meeting which must include the name of the nominating
shareholder of the Company, his/her contact details and the number
of the Company’s ordinary shares held by the nominating
shareholder:; (2) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of the
candidate’s willingness to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s
information as required to be disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules; and (4) the nominated candidate’s written consent to
the publication of his/her personal data.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company's
website.
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Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Investor Relations team of the
Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations

China Resources Land Limited

46th Floor,

China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: ir[dcrland.com.cn

Tel No.: 852-2877 2330

Fax No.: 852-2877 9068

Investor Relations

The Company is committed to establishing and maintaining good
investor relations, and continuously improves investor relations
management through expanding communication channels,
increasing information transparency and enhancing market
feedbacks to management. In 2015, the Company proactively
created various opportunities for investor communication, updated
investors with the latest business development as well as the long-
term strategy of the Company on a timely manner, so as to establish
smooth and positive interaction with investors and to enhance the
Company’s credibility in the capital market.

On 21 January 2015, the Company held a general meeting to create
additional 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each to increase
the authorised capital of the Company from HK$700,000,000 to
HK$800,000,000 through an ordinary resolution.

During 2015, there was no major change in the Company's
constitutional documents.

In 2015, the Company participated in road shows in Hong Kong,
Singapore, Taiwan, the UK and the US hosted by various investment
banks, covering issues on interim and annual results announcement
and presented to the investors operating results, development
strategies and latest business updates of the Company.

In addition, the Company attended 14 investment conferences held
in Hong Kong, Beijing, Chengdu, Tokyo and Shenzhen, held physical
meetings or telephone conferences with investors globally and
analysts from both buy-side and sell-side, organized reverse
roadshow for analysts and investors, as well as arranged on-site

visits for investors.
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The following table sets out the major investor relations events of
the Company performed in 2015:

GE)

Events

January RRTEMEREE SR Barclays China Property Investment Conference
—AR BEFRITNSFAPERT G DB Greater China Conference 2015
March ABGFFEFE Announcement of 2014 annual results
= HEENE * Press release
EERBNOMEGHRE * Briefing with analysts and fund managers
BE I RERERE Post Results Roadshow in HK, Singapore and Taiwan
April WTRT015FEE/ REMEREESH UBS Hong Kong/China Property Conference 2015
M A HE - RERERR Results Roadshow in the UK and the US
May BRENSFEAPES: Macquarie Greater China Conference 2015
1A EREFFNETERERE 20th CLSA China Conference
BrXoMeRREREESHE Barclays Asia Financial and Property Conference
June AR0ERERTEREESH Daiwa HK and China Conference 2015
~A REAR05 M EERERKES CICC Conference Second Half of 2015
FEHERIT205 FRAMEREEG S Citi Asia Pacific Property Conference 2015
July FREMAREREREECH BofAML Greater China Property Conference
+A
August D 2015 FHERRE Announcement of 2015 interim results
N\R HEENE * Press release
*EERBNOMEHHRE * Briefing with analysts and fund managers
BERAMIBRE R R Post Results Roadshow in HK and Singapore
September BREFENERERE 22th CLSA Conference
A
November EREM2015FHEUREHIE BofAML China Investor Conference 2015
+—A miEnMEEE R Mizuho Asia Investor Conference
December WiEEMtERERIREESSE Credit Suisse Asia Property and Finance Investment
+-A Conference
9
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Looking ahead, we will continue to improve and perfect the
communication with investors and to provide them with more
opportunities to understand the business of the Company as well as
to enable the management of the Company to have a better
understanding of the requirements of the market on the Company,
with an aim to continue to enhance the internal management,
profitability and governance of the Company.

Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for and is highly concerned with
the Group’s system of internal control and assessment and
management of risks. In meeting its responsibility, the Board seeks
to increase risk awareness across the Group’s business operations
and has put in place policies and procedures, including parameters
of delegated authority, which provide a framework for the
identification and management of risks. It also reviews and monitors
the effectiveness of the systems of internal control to ensure that
the policies and procedures in place are adequate.

The Company also amended the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee to further enhance the risk management of the
Company. The Audit Committee and the management discuss and
review the risk management and internal control system to ensure
the management has performed their duties to establish an effective
system. Internal Audit Department is responsible for assessing the
Group's internal control system, formulating an impartial opinion on
the system, and reporting its findings to the Audit Committee, the
Vice Chairman and the senior management concerned as well as
following up on all reports to ensure that all issues have been
satisfactorily resolved. In addition, a regular dialogue is maintained
with the Group’s external auditor so that both are aware of the
significant factors which may affect their respective scope of work.
During the year under review, the Board has conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting to the Shareholders their
report and audited financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (hereafter referred to as “the Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2015.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
detailed activities of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are shown on pages 205 to 213 of this annual report.

The segment information of the Group is set out in note 7 to the
financial statements.

Business Review

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group’s prospects, the Group’s compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group,
relationships with its key stakeholders and environmental policy are
provided in the Foreword on pages 28 to 31, Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 32 to 40 and Corporate Governance Report on
pages 51 to 67 of this annual report. Description of key risk factors
and uncertainties that the Group is facing is provided in Management
Discussion and Analysis on page 39 and note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements while the financial risk management objectives
and policies of the Group can be found in note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Group Profit

The consolidated income statement set out on page 100 shows the
Groups profit for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Dividends

The Board recommends the declaration of a final dividend of HK48.7
cents per share (2014: a final dividend of HK41.0 cents per share),
together with the interim dividend of HK8.7 cents per share,
dividends per share for the year amount to HK57.4 cents. The final
dividend is payable on 5 July 2016 to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Members of the Company on 16 June
2016.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set
out in note 16 to the financial statements.



S
REEEENERETHRG 2 AEEINE -

TN
/N ﬂf%:? AFE-A-T-HETREAE  HUE
FRE R EEM,000,000,000 R EREE0.10/E T2

LEAT - AR BE TR 700,000,000 T N E
800,000,000 % 7T ©

TEERBRAR 2 B ER TSN HRERME2

ERAARIE 2 R

KRB A BN R RER D EERRBEN - RIE
FMEREEME -+ -BRAA(KERT)  ERAAR
ERAENARABERAREIZRRT - ARE
Ei‘éﬁfﬁﬁ DIREBEK - BEARBERBBETH
MEEAES - MAREZ RO EE R BIERRR AN
DIEREBE o

ARRNZE—RF+ A=t HAREREDRZ
[ 18 & 7B WE50467409,000T( Z B — M E - B
30,798,685,000 7T )

B85S

Report of the Directors

Properties

Schedule of the principal properties of the Group is set out on pages
223 to 239.

Share Capital

At the general meeting held on 21 January 2015, through an ordinary
resolution, the Company resolved to create 1,000,000,000 additional
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each to increase the authorised share
capital of the Company from HK$700,000,000 to HK$800,000,000.

Movements in share capital during the year are set out in note 32 to
the financial statements.

Distributable Reserves at the Company

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the
share premium and retained profits. Under the Companies Law
(Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of
the Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to
Shareholders subject to the provisions of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company and provided that
immediately following the distribution or dividend, the Company is
able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Reserves of the Company available for distribution to Shareholders
as at 31 December 2015 amounted to HK$50,467,409,000 (2014:
HK$30,798,685,000).
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Directors

The Directors who held office during the year and at the date of this
report are:

Chairman

Mr. Wu Xiangdong
Mr. Tang Yong
Mr. Yu Jian

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yan Biao

Mr. Du Wenmin

Mr. Ding Jiemin

Mr. Wei Bin

Mr. Chen Ying

Mr. Wang Yan

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Shi

Mr. Andrew Y. Yan

Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco

Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter

Mr. Ma Weihua

Pursuant to Article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
Mr. Wu Xiangdong, Mr. Tang Yong, Mr. Du Wenmin, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai,
Bosco and Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter shall retire from office by rotation
at the upcoming annual general meeting and shall be eligible for re-
election.

The Company has received the annual confirmation of independence
from all the Independent Non-Executive Directors, and considers
that all the Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent of
the Company.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 41 to 50.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company operates share option scheme [the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of promoting additional commitment and dedication to the
objective of the Company by the participants.

The Scheme was approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 31 January 2002 and has expired on 31
January 2012. The Board of the Company may grant options to
eligible participants including employees, executive or Non-
Executive Directors of the Group (or any proposed candidates), any
discretionary object of a discretionary trust established by any
employee, executive or Non-Executive Director of the Group, any
executive or employee (or any proposed candidates) of consultants,
professionals and other advisors to the Group, substantial
Shareholders, associated companies of the Group, associates of
Directors and substantial Shareholders of the Company, and
employees of substantial Shareholders, etc. The maximum
entitlement of each participant (including options to be granted to
the Directors, chief executive or substantial Shareholders or any of
their respective associates) is equal to the maximum limit permitted
under the prevailing Listing Rules. The exercise prices of the share
options are determined pursuant to the provision of prevailing
Listing Rules.

At the annual general meeting held on 23 May 2006, Shareholders
approved the ordinary resolution to refresh the mandate limit of the
Scheme, whereby further options can be granted to subscribe up to
313,138,369 shares.

As at the date of this report, there is no share available for issue
under the Scheme.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Scheme may be
accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer upon the payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.

Share options granted under the Scheme are exercisable for a
period of ten years from the date of grant. Certain share options are
fully vested or exercisable within ten years from the date of grant
while part of them are vested within four years after the date of
grant.

Save as disclosed below, no other share options has been granted,
exercised or lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
during the year in relation to the participants of the Scheme,
including the Directors of the Company, substantial Shareholders or
their respective associates and employees of substantial
Shareholders.
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Directors
During the year, none of the Directors had any interests in
respect of option to subscribe for shares under the Scheme.
Employees and other participants
Details of share options granted to the employees (other than
Directors] of the Group and other participants by the Company
are set out below:
(il Employees
ARTRMHER?
BT
Rfn EpregiE 1 Price of Company’s share
Number of share option " [HK$)
20154
REFE 12A318 B [REfLEd
RAFEE RAFETH BRI WAL R EE R B
Exercised Lapsed Forfeited Option
during during during  outstanding Option Option
the year the year theyear at31/12/2015 granted exercised

29/4/2005 1.42 1,225,000 - 125,000 - 1,100,000 - - 21.79
3/1/2006 3.225 1,715,000 - - - 1,715,000 - - -
17/2/2006 3.965 375,000 = = - 375,000 - - -
26/6/2006 3.58 1,350,000 - - - 1,350,000 - - -
Fizt - Notes:
1. RGBES B IERGBEYRZ AR TS 1. Number of share options refers to the number of underlying shares
Rz o in the Company covered by the share options.
2 HETRROHEFREZ XL ERGDE 2 The price for the Company’s share disclosed for the options
"% BERGHRTEAET—ALZHK exercised during the year is the weighted average of the closing
BREBHAXZZFHERLE (B BT prices quoted on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
RIKTEZ NETFIIE - “Stock Exchange”] immediately before the date of exercise of
options.
\o
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li]  Other participants

KRERAER
BET
R EERE Price of Company's share ©
Number of share option " [(HK$)
0155 0156
1A18 WAEE 12A318 BEH BT
KR H TR (ER WA RAEERE  RAFETE  RAFEEH R HARITHE ffn 8t fefn 8t
Option Granted Exercised Lapsed Forfeited Option
Exercise  outstanding during during during during  outstanding Option Option
Date of Grant price  at1/1/2015 the year the year the year theyear at31/12/2015 granted exercised
|
1/6/2005 1.23 625,000 = = - 625,000 - - -
Vi Notes:
1. REHRE B IERG RS R KL G0 1. Number of share options refers to the number of underlying shares

B7

2 RETRROBRFREL XL ARG E
& BEROBRITEAHH A5 HK
DRE AN EZ NETFIE -

EECESRR

RZZE-AFT_A=1T—0 ARAIEERERHTH
ABRARA R EREZE (FER(ESRBEEH)
FEXVED) 2 Bln - BERD REEETEEOERN
e (BRRE(ES RGN GEURE BRI REER
ERRNERIAR)  MAERMARRE(EHF RS
BHROI)EDELHENFENBLMA - IRE LT
REIFEC EMBETAESETEF R HNRETE])
(IMREFA D BEMERLN A RBRMNER AR I
g

in the Company covered by the share options.

2 The Company's share price disclosed in respect of exercised share
options represent the weighted average of the closing price of the
Shares quoted on the Stock Exchange on one trading day prior to the
date of exercise of each share option.

Director’s Interests in Securities

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance [the "SFQ")), including interests
and short positions which the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO, which are required to be recorded in the register maintained
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise required to be
notified to Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the “Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers”
("Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

\o
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(F) RERABETERRIEBROTEFNE
W

iz iR/ %

s

long position/

(a)

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
the Company:

ERRRHEE S0 HEERADTL
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of

Name short position shares Capacity interest 1"
|
RAR FR 1,629,000 EHFHEA 0.024

Wu Xiangdong long position Beneficial owner
B O FR 1,992,000 EHFHEA 0.029
Yan Biao long position Beneficial owner
HXR e 640,000 E#mFAA 0.009
Du Wenmin long position Beneficial owner
R E e 500,000 EzmHAA 0.007
ChenYing long position Beneficial owner
et - Notes:

1 EHEFSROZRARNRABROEHR-F
—BF AR RRAIER TR EHEE
iy

(2) RERAMAEEE - EEREERIERRF

(TZERE ) (HBEREERAT) B ETE
BRI A

% R/ %

b

long position/

(b)

(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares
and underlying shares of the Company to the total issued shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2015.

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“China
Resources Beer”) (formerly known as China Resources
Enterprise, Limited], an associated corporation of the
Company:

ERERNEE A HERHADL
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of

Name short position shares Capacity interest
|
H B HE 500,000 E#HFAA 0.021

Yan Biao long position Beneficial owner
HXR e 100,000 EHFEA 0.004
Du Wenmin long position Beneficial owner
T E HE 150,000 B#mFAA 0.006
Wang Yan long position Beneficial owner

Bzt - Notes:

I EHEFPRGEEETROREERGEHN—F
—RFFZAZ A EREEE TR BHY
B -

o
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(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares
and underlying shares of China Resources Beer to the total issued shares
of China Resources Beer as at 31 December 2015.
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(R) RAREEEEE - EERRERERARTE (o
BRR)) FIBEBRBARAR) CHTEER
RARBAR A R R 4 -

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Gas Group Limited ("CR Gas”, previously
known as China Resources Logic Limited], an associated
corporation of the Company:

# e/ e ERRRNEE & HipEEA DL
Number of Approximate

long position/ ordinary percentage of

Name short position shares Capacity interest 1"

RAR FR 45,000 E&FAA 0.002
Wu Xiangdong long position Beneficial owner
HXR e 54,000 E#mHAA 0.002
Du Wenmin long position Beneficial owner

Bzt Notes:

1 EHEFPRGEEHRRGREER G EHN—F
—BFT A=+ AGEBRREFTRG B8

Bt -

(T) RARAIEEOE

B - FEENERERRA(E

HENERTERRREBRN PAFNE

(d)

(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares
and underlying shares of CR Gas to the total issued shares of CR Gas as at
31 December 2015.

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited ("CR

fill Power”], an associated corporation of the Company:
14 R/ KR LRRERNEE &0 HEESE DL
Number of Approximate
long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares Capacity interest 1
|
E B S8 1,800 E#HAA 0.00004
Tang Yong long position Beneficial owner
MO S8} 570,080 E#HAA 0.012
Yan Biao long position Beneficial owner
HXR iR 480,240 BHRAA 0.010
Du Wenmin long position Beneficial owner
ITE iR 44,000 EmFAA 0.0009
Wang Yan long position Beneficial owner
Hist - Notes:

Wi

EIFR TSRO EBE RO RIEBROEHN-F

—BFEFZA= A EEENEETRY fﬁ@?ﬁ?

Bt

(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares
and underlying shares of CR Power to the total issued shares of the CR
Power as at 31 December 2015.
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() RARBEEEE — ERIORZERER AR (1
AR BRITEBREERRN TR MR

N

(e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (‘CR Cement”), an
associated corporation of the Company:

" e/ e LRRROHEE A HEREGEDL
Number of Approximate
long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares Capacity interest 1"
|
R E e 230,000 EHEHFBAA 0.004
Chen Ying long position Beneficial owner
Bzt Notes:
(1 EATE IS ROGZEBARR G RIGBR A BEHR=F (1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares
—HFEFTZA=+—AIEZEKEEZTRG B2 and underlying shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares of the CR
A1 e Cement as at 31 December 2015.

LAy URE

RAIRAKEREEERER ARREFEN_FT
NERA=ZTH(FARH ) BRABRAERESE
Y OREIN-ORERDEY CREPST )¢
T ERABA R -_TTAFT - ANREET - &
FREZGRTRERL - DRHBE BB 5RMEHE
TERBER - REAEHE ZEATRTELARE
EREZAEBARZEADANERSR B HD HTHRA
BAZ_EHAZRARD  LUEFAFARBBERE
BERA  HERSRINTAEE 8 2B EBREL
BERERL -

[y

HEMESEEE S AF+-_A=T-ALEFE %
AAERTELUNBREBE(RERSER) B
1,128,677,715.23 T8 A 85,101,259 R A A RIRR A7 » 154K
ATRRA B I TR 2.1088% © H 15,439,259 %
ARAIROR-_E-—RAFERNBA  BRE(BERS
BR) BB 119635389.927T c REZE-E—RE+-
A=+—RALFER - £510279 136 BBRHELZTA
HE - RESERENGES  HEERBRHFEHE
BEERBEIBHIEBESRES -

o
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Strategic Incentive Award Scheme

As an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group, the Board of the
Company resolved to adopt an incentive scheme, which is presently
named as Strategic Incentive Award Scheme (the “Strategic
Scheme”) on 30 May 2008 (the “Adoption Date”]. The Strategic
Scheme was subsequently amended on 8 December 2009. Unless
sooner terminated by the Board, the Strategic Scheme shall be
effective from the Adoption Date and shall continue in full force and
effect for a term of 10 years. According to the Strategic Scheme,
shares up to 2.5% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the Adoption Date will be purchased by the trustee from the market
out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for the
relevant selected employees until such shares are vested with the
relevant selected employees in accordance with the provisions of
the Strategic Scheme.

From the Adoption Date to 31 December 2015, the Company had
through the trustee purchased 85,101,259 shares, representing
2.1088 % of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Adoption Date, from the market at an aggregate consideration of
HK$1,128,677,715.23 (including transaction costs), 5,439,259 shares
of which were purchased in 2015 at an aggregate consideration of
HK$119,635,389.92 (including transaction costs). During the year
ended 31 December 2015, a total number of 10,279,734 shares were
sold through the trustee. The sale proceeds of the vested shares
have been and will be transferred to the relevant Directors and
employees in accordance with the amended provisions of the
Strategic Scheme.



EEABRONERENZH

BEX[EZ &5 ] —HPREEN ARFH
EEAMEAR. REMBAR. KESARRFAL
B2EAALY FEFEURBAARAZAMAT
VA GEREL: Sl B

BE - LEREE LHES

B EX [l 8] —SRA AN ADRRK
HEARAREE-E—RF+-A=+—BILFER"
BERE - HERER AL LDES -

EZRBAL

R-E-RF+-A=+—R EFHEAFTQAFHHE
EAIMBRARRTEAITR—FARNRHEOZER
{BRRIN M FIAEIEZ RIER A

EEREARS UGN ER

REEBRIAFENEMARE  TEEAALRES
FEEEEEREALRF  ABRF WERARFR
WELREABARAXBEBLEARS, KH%
BN (EAFERNFERBNAERE) L EEIEEE
BITREA R

BT ZRERY
AATBBERAE  ALASLEEMEENALT
WAEREERE DB AE SRR
HEEEARERNF LR FARETRRMAL
SRN—AKREM -

KARERAATZ EFTREHEAFRBELD R
FREBHERRERR -

EE2H Report of the Directors

Arrangements for Directors to Subscribe for
Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed above in the section “Director’s Interests in
Securities”, the Company or any of its subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or its parent company was not a party to any
arrangement which enables the Directors to benefit from a
purchase of the shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate during the year.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

Save as disclosed above under “Strategic Incentive Award Scheme”,
neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

Directors Service Contracts

As at 31 December 2015, none of the Directors has any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

Directors Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts of Significance

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
connection with business of the Company, to which the Company, its
parent company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries were a party and
in which any Director of the Company or his connected entity had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The article of association of the Company provides that every
Director of the Company should be entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director, in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favor, or
in which he is acquitted.

The Company maintains an insurance policy against liabilities and
related expenses that may be incurred by the Directors of the
Company in the event of any litigation.

\o
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BEEARGERNRR
RZE—RE+-A=Z+—8 UTAL(ARAEES
FATHAHBIN RARBNRN REBROTEER
B(EHERBEEO)EXVEE 2 REIFD B EARAK
AR BEBERCHNER(ESR RS KG)FE 336 5 m i
BRECMOBRRSARNT :

Shareholders with Notifiable Interests

As at 31 December 2015, the following persons (not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Division 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

20155

12431 BRT

Rrineohr 2 4R

EARFEET

BERAT &t ERItE R/ %R LRERNBE  BONESL

Percentage of

the aggregate

long position

in shares to

the issued

Numberof  share capital of

long position/ ordinary the Company

Name of Shareholders Capacity Nature of interest short position shares  asat31/12/2015

|

CRH (Land) Limited ("CRHL") ERRAA Eay S e 4,243,788,418 61.23%
Beneficial owner Beneficial owner long position

ZR(RB)ARAF(ERKE)" ZEHIARES ALl iR 4,246,618418 61.27%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company's ~ Corporation interest ~ long position

Company Limited ["CRH") interest
CRC Bluesky Limited (‘Bluesky)"  S42#|A iz G 5 e 4,246,618,418 61.27%

Controlled company's ~ Corporation interest ~ long position

interest
EBRNVERLA(ERERNDY  ZEHARER NG S iR 4,246,618,418 61.27%
China Resources Co., Limited Controlled company's ~ Corporation interest ~ long position
("CRC") 1 interest
PEEEANR(PEERE)" XEHQFES NG S iR 4,246,618,418 61.27%
China Resources National Controlled company's ~ Corporation interest ~ long position
Corporation "CRNC"] ! Interest
Wizt : Note:

(1) CRHLY & Commotra Company Limited 7 5| B ¥ # G A 2 A
4,243,788, 418/K LX R 2,830,000/% - % & % [ B CRHLI &
Commotra Company Limited Z I — fx & + iy # & % B &
Bluesky #12 £ /1B 7 7] » Bluesky 2 Z BR (7892 E 1B 2
7] - MEBR G AP EE 2 ENELA - At - EEE
& Bluesky - BRI HEZFHRERERLLF
4,246,618 418 RIR 17 e 25 -

o
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(1) CRHL and Commotra Company Limited directly held 4,243,788,418 shares and
2,830,000 shares of the Company, respectively. CRH is the sole shareholder of
CRHL and Commotra Company Limited. Moreover, CRH is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRC. CRC is wholly-owned
by CRNC. Thus, CRH, Bluesky, CRC and CRNC are deemed to be interested in an
aggregate of 4,246,618,418 shares in the Company.



BEXABEN R-F-RAFT-A=1—R HE
EREMATRAR A ARG T REEREGE
FRAEKRIMEXNVHE2REIBHIBEAARAT
BEOERAR AR AR ER(EFRAE
6B % 336 RTF EM B R A BER FOAR

WEAR AELERBEAT
ETEWBAR  ALERBERNR ZFEHERTIE
RE25EZFE 2B 2B BRRM 43R -

ERRRzEHEITRE

TEEETERWE SRR - HARFMERR
REM—EHA LTI ERTHEL :

(] EBEE&SARAFAZDI%HES1%(BFE
AME)EETRAZERZRBA (THREESE
BREA) RE—SARE ;

i) EFEEARSOBEEALFDNEBETRACT
WHEIEERE)

i) FEEE&BAALAN -—SRARR (TRER

SEEBBEMBARRA)

v ZEEREEFMTETRBEFESEEBE50%
R

Vv FEEEARZAALFEZFENZHME
vl FEREEEBRNEHNALARRZAESER
BEZEW:

ERREUERERE RULREESEZAH
NEE 2N

(vii)

EE2H Report of the Directors

Save as aforesaid, as at 31 December 2015, no other person had any
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates

Particulars regarding principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are set out in note 43 on pages 205 to 213 of the financial
statements

Specific Performance Obligations on Controlling
Shareholder

Certain loan agreements of the Group include a condition that
imposes one or more of the following specific performance
obligations on the Company’s controlling Shareholder:

()l CRH remains the single largest Shareholder of the Company
which has an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly or
indirectly) of not less than 35% or 51% (as the case may be);

(i)  CRH maintains the direct or indirect ownership of at least 35%
of the shares of the Company;

i) CRH remains the single largest Shareholder (whether directly

or indirectly through its subsidiaries) of the Company;

liv) CRH remains to be beneficially owned as to more than 50% by

the central Government of the PRC;

[v]  CRH retains the power to appoint the majority of the Board;

(vl CRH retains the ability from a practical perspective to control
the appointment by the Company’'s Shareholders of Directors
to the Board;

(vil CRH retains the right to appoint, and terminate the

appointment of, the majority of the Directors constituting the
Board;

\o

9
EWEHERAT |
China Resources Land Limited

079



080

EE &S Report of the Directors

FEEEEREANBBMBSENARRESR
A BBARFAMHH  BEERBGALNT
MEEMEE o

(viii)

RZF-RF+-A=1—R AXHRLEGE2E
FEBERE19788266,0007C  ZEBRERERR
“E-NAFARA=TRER

BRERRORERKE 2 ETWRER

R-Z-WE+-ANR(XBBRE) - RAREREHR
REARAR(EHRR] AEREEZENBLAR)
AT MR - ADEBIRIFRERE R AR A%
HREHEGERD  DERLEXERARN(ER]
REFMRAIZ2ENBRR) 2HEETRN - REH
RAAHEEREREZERNERAR ([FERH )R
ABR S TERETLBEER S A07 (RENE
RADREAERERD KBS ERE  DRYEERE
ERARAR(RERRN 22 EMERF)100% 56 -

WERBAEARK1L7EETL(HERLBE 18,642
BEL) BEAREI0000GETL(HERLEE
12600B&7L) ZBRORBERARKE LTS EET(HE
WA 0L BB ZRENRE - BNEANFHE
FEATERGER  Y2EAEKER-_F—NF+
A=+-BZEABEEFENOARE 2021 EET(
HERABE 9006 AET)EE ©
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(vii) CRH retains the power to direct the management and the
policies of the Company whether through the ownership of
voting capital, by contract or otherwise.

As at 31 December 2015, the aggregate reserved facility subject to
the above conditions were HK$19,788,246,000. Such reserved facility
will expire on no later than 30 September 2019.

Connected Transactions

Acquisition of certain interests of properties in CRC and CRH
On 8 December 2014 (after trading hours), the Company and Central
New Investments Limited ("Central New"], a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRH, entered into the Acquisition Agreement pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to acquire and
Central New has conditionally agreed to sell the Sale Shares
representing the entire issued share capital of Top Virtue
Enterprises Limited ("Top Virtue”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Central New; and Central New has conditionally agreed to procure
China Resources Co., Limited ["CRC") to enter into the Equity
Transfer Agreement upon the completion of such transaction,
pursuant to which the Company (or its subsidiary) will acquire the
Sale Equity Interest representing 100% equity interests in Shenzhen
Runyue Investment Development Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC.

The Acquisition Consideration, being RMB14,795 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$18,642 million), comprises the share
consideration in the amount of RMB10,000 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$12,600 million) and the cash consideration in the
amount of RMBA4,795 million (equivalent to approximately HK$6,042
million]. It has been arrived at after arm’s length negotiations
between the Company and the Vendors and was determined with
reference to the adjusted NAV of the Target Group of approximately
RMB23,021 million (equivalent to approximately HK$29,006 million)
as at 31 October 2014,



EXZAR WRESERUARE EAEFEENIEY
g HEWBRE R RAXGRTL BATAE
AFAARARERRERENE - KBEEFEEN
ARARZZ-ME+-ANRTIENBER S E
RR2015F1 A5 HRBRRE LB

L3 27 EFERHD REBSELSEARFEREERK
RPEFEFRARMNEENBAR At RELHHR
Alze%® BENURADRIZEEAL N4
TZANRF KB HERMERARR ZBERS -

WEEE R 2015F 1 A 21 B5ERk -

B — R B B/ R 2 45% PR A
RZE-RENA=TH EBEHIR)RHBRA
A((EREN(IER) ] ARRAEE TN ER 2B
AR BRYTHEENFREARCE(RYMEEN
W) AT REE R RS UBERIMEENSEEN
ZREWRR (LR BHEREERAR ([EHB K
BOER) ]/ TEEDR]) 2% KE  REAEARE
4,672,500 70 (AHE B 5,840,6257T)

RERESRNZ  WBRELEXImEENREE
BEH (LX) AFERET  YEZERYIMERNR
FAAZEREHAREL0E TR B RAR 2 LB
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The Directors are of the view that net asset of the Group was
positively affected by the Acquisition and the relevant agreement
was on normal commercial terms, fair and reasonable and was in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
Details of the Acquisition are set out in the connected transaction
announcement of the Company dated 8 December 2014 and the
circular dispatched to the shareholders on 5 January 2015.

Central New, CRC and CRH are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China
Resources National Corporation, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, under the meaning of the
Listing Rules, the Vendors are connected persons of the Company,
and the acquisition agreement entered into on 8 December 2014
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company.

The acquisition was completed on 21 January 2015.

Acquisition of 45% equity interest in a subsidiary

On 30 April 2015, China Resources Land (Beijing) Limited ("CRL
(Beijing)”), @ 97% owned subsidiary of the Company, and Shenzhen
Runxin No. 4 Investment Partnership Enterprise (“Shenzhen Runxin
IV*) entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement in relation to the
acquisition of the 45% equity interest in China Resources Land
Luyuan (Beijing) Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ("CRL Luyuan
(Beijing)” or the “Target Company”) held by Shenzhen Runxin IV, at
the consideration of RMBA4,672,500 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,840,625).

Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, the Acquisition
Consideration was determined after arm’s length negotiations
between Shenzhen Runxin IV and CRL (Beijing) after taking into
account the aggregate amount of capital injected by Shenzhen
Runxin IV of RMB4.5 million and the audited consolidated net asset
value of the Target Company. Completion will take place on the date
on which business registration showing CRL (Beijing) as the sole
registered holder of equity interest of CRL Luyuan (Beijing) shall be
completed. Within 5 business days upon full payment of the
consideration by CRL (Beijing) in accordance with the Equity
Transfer Agreement, Shenzhen Runxin IV shall prepare all the
documentations required for the business registration for the
Acquisition and shall cooperate with CRL (Beijing) to conduct the
business registration for the Acquisition. As a result of the
Acquisition, CRL Luyuan (Beijing) will become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRL (Beijing).

9
EHEHERAT |
China Resources Land Limited

081



08

EE2% Report of the Directors
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The Directors consider that as a result of the Acquisition, the
relationship between the Target Company can be further
strengthened and additional synergistic effects can be provided to
the Target Company by leveraging on the expertise of the Group in
respect of provision of project management services which will
benefit and complement the development of the Mentougou Land
Development Project operated by the Target Company.

As at the date of the transaction, CRH is the controlling Shareholder
of the Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC; CRC's
subsidiary is the sole limited partner of Shenzhen Runxin IV; and
CRH’s wholly owned subsidiary owns 51% of the registered capital
of Huawei Yongsheng Enterprise Management Limited ("Huawei
Yongsheng"], who is the fund manager and has control of Shenzhen
Runxin IV by virtue of its power to make investment decisions for and
on behalf of Shenzhen Runxin IV, who is in turn in the owner of 45%
shares of the Target Company, thus both of Shenzhen Runxin IV is
likely to be deemed as connected persons of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules, pursuant to which, the acquisition
constituted a connected transaction of the Company.

Acquisition of 16.34% equity interest in Chengdu HengYu
Property Development Co., Ltd.

On 7 August 2015, China Resources Land One Two Three Four
(Shenzhen) Commercial Operation Management Company Limited
("CR Land Shenzhen”), which is an wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. ("CR Trust”)
entered into the Share Transfer Agreement in relation to the
acquisition of 16.34% of equity interest in Chengdu HengYu Property
Development Co., Ltd. ("Chengdu Heng Yu") held by CR Trust at a
consideration of RMB700,140,000.
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Pursuant to the Share Transfer Agreement, the Consideration was
determined after arm’s length negotiations between CR Land
Shenzhen and CR Trust on normal commercial terms with
reference to the valuation report of Chengdu Heng Yu as prepared
by an independent valuer. CR Trust shall, within 10 working days
after the full payment by CR Land Shenzhen of the consideration
and other expenses, if any, assist CR Land Shenzhen in the business
registration filing procedures in relation to the transfer of the Sale
Shares. Completion shall take place on the day on which the
relevant notice of changes, or other documentation of business
registration showing the approval of the transfer of the Sale Shares
issued by the relevant State Administration of Industry and
Commerce, is obtained. Upon Completion, Chengdu Heng Yu will be
owned as to 33.34% by CR Land Shenzhen.

The Directors consider that the real estate project located in
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, China being developed and
operated by Chengdu Heng Yu via its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
with its unparalleled position and located at Guangzhou International
Financial Town, in proximity to Zhujiang New Town, has a promising
future prospect. The Guangzhou Project is a high-end commercial
business zone comprising chiefly of Grade-A office buildings and
ancillary commercial properties. With the overall advantages
enjoyed in transportation, spectacular river view and presence of
landmark skyscrapers, the Guangzhou Project will strengthen the
market share and competitiveness of the Group in the PRC in the
long-run.

As at the date of the Transaction, CRH is the controlling Shareholder
of the Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC; and CRC
beneficially owns 51% of the registered capital of CR Trust, CR Trust
is therefore a connected person of the Company under the meaning
of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Acquisition constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company.

ERERERA
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Continuing Connected Transactions

Intra-Group Lending Between Members of the China
Resources Group

On 13 December 2013, the Company and CRH entered into offshore
framework loan agreement and guarantee for three years ending 31
December 2016 ("Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2013").
Pursuant to Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2013, the
Company and its subsidiary which agreed with the terms of Offshore
Framework Loan Agreement 2013 and became a party thereto
would make loans denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi
and US dollars, whereas, Borrowers were:

(a) CRH;

(b) CRC,CRH and their respective subsidiary (or subsidiaries)(other
than the Company] listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange (collectively called “CR Listed Companies”]; and

(c] any of its subsidiaries which agreed with the terms of Offshore
Framework Loan Agreement 2013 and became a party thereto
(including but not limited to any entities established in China
and any members of the Group).

On the same date, the Company and CRC also entered into an
onshore framework loan agreement and guarantee for the three
years ending 31 December 2016 ("Onshore Framework Loan
Agreement 2013") (Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2013 and
Onshore Framework Loan Agreement 2013 collectively called
“Framework Loan Agreements 2013"). Pursuant to the Onshore
Framework Loan Agreement 2013, any subsidiary established in
China which agreed with the terms of Onshore Framework Loan
Agreement 2013 and became a party thereto will make loans
denominated in Renminbi. Borrowers were CRC or any subsidiaries
of CR Listed Companies established in China and agreed with the
terms of Onshore Framework Loan Agreement 2013 and became a
party thereto, including but not limited to Zhuhai China Resources
Bank Co., Ltd. ("CR Bank”), CR Trust and any subsidiary of the
Company.
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AEER-_T-—FEREFBEHARANEZFEE  The proposed annual lending caps for the Group for the term of the
RERWT Framework Loan Agreements 2013 are as follows:

BENANALFENFEER LR

Annual lending cap for the year ended/ending 31 December

2014 2015 2016
ARERETL ARBREL ARBEETL
RMB million RMB million RMB million
2,000 2,000 2,000

HE-T-RFT-A=-+—HLEFEAMNEERRE " At any time for the year ended 31 December 2015, the maximum
AEERBE-_Z-—FEAEFBEETEEALZR  amount lent to connected persons by the Group (regardless of
B(THELGEERI 22 RA2BE(BEERERE  whether it had been repaid) under the Framework Loan Agreements
WM B) 41 AR 1,500,000,0007T - BRI TR 2013 (including interest receivable and received) was approximately

Fr31 - RMB 1,500,000,000, details of which are set out below:

20154

12A31 B%E

fEstA BERA e X2 (RBT) BR R (RET)

Balance at

Principal 31 December

Amount Interest rate 2015

Borrower Lenders Currency (million) Team per annum (million)

|

EEEM(LR)BRERARY  EESHREARLR AREK 450 29/10/2014-28/4/2015 6.00% 0

China Resources Land (Shan Dong ~ China ResourcesLand ~ RMB
Development Limited " Investment Limited

EEEM(LR)BRERAR"Y  EESHWREARLR AREK 50 14/11/2015-13/5/2015 6.00% 0

China Resources Land (Shan Dong  China ResourcesLand ~ RMB
Development Limited " Investment Limited

BRARLAE" ERENERATF e 107 24/12/2014-21/1/2015 2505% 0

Keen Mind Limited " China ResourcesLand ~ USD
Limited

ERRNBRAT EREMREARAR  ARE 1,500 21/1/2015-28/1/2015 5.88% 0

China Resources Co., Limited China ResourcesLand ~ RMB

[nvestment Co. Ltd.

fiat - Note:

(1 FREAR015F1A21 AZKNEBELZRRARNZAE (1) China Resources Land (Shan Dong) Development Co., Limited and Keen Mind
Ri7 - ME2015F1 21 HEBEH (IWF) ERER L AR Limited became wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company on 21 January 2015
GHERA AR RALFNEENE AR Bt - Z=2F upon completion of the sale and purchase of the entire issued share capital of Top
AZHE2015F 1 A2 HETEBH AL ANBER S X Virtue Enterprises Limited, details of which are set out in the announcement of the
BHEHRARE2014F 128 R ER2015F 1 F5HE5 - Company dated 8 December 2014 and the circular of the Company dated 5 January

2015. As such, these three lending arrangements have ceased to constitute
connected transactions of the Company from 21 January 2015.

\o
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The Company has been provided with higher flexibility through the
entering of the Framework Loan Agreements 2013, with respect to
its management of surplus cash resources and it was permitted to
lend its own surplus cash resources and part of its subsidiaries’ to
other CR Listed Companies (including CRC and CRH].

At all material time, CRC is the controlling shareholder of CRH
which in turn holds the controlling interest of the Company,
therefore, CRC and CRH are the connected persons of the Company
within the meaning of the Listing Rules. As such, Pursuant to the
Listing Rules, Framework Loan Agreements 2013 constituted a
continuing connected transaction.

Strategic Cooperation Agreements Between
Members of the China Resources Group

On 13 December 2013, the Company and CR Bank entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement for the three years ending 31
December 2016 ("CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 20137,
pursuant to which, any deposit made with CR Bank under these
arrangements will bear the same interest and be on the same terms
and conditions as would apply to a similar deposit made by any other
customer of the bank, which rates are presently determined by the
People’s Bank of China. Pursuant to CR Bank Strategic Cooperation
Agreement 2013, other than deposit services, from time to time, the
Group may use the commercial banking services of CR Bank
including, but not limited to, letter of credit, letter of guarantee,
granting of loans with collaterals, bill acceptance and discount
services, account receivable factoring services, RMB and foreign
currency settlements, provision of entrustment loans and security,
wealth and cash management services, financial consulting service
and other financial services as agreed by the parties. These services
will be provided on normal commercial terms.

On the same day, the Company and CR Trust entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement for the three years ended 31 December 2016
("CR Trust Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2013", together with
CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2013 referred to as
“Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013"), pursuant to which, from
time to time, the Group may use services provided by CR Trust
including, but not limited to, cash management, asset management,
trust loan services, equity cooperation, share nominee services,
account receivable factoring services, buying and resale services,
consulting services and other trust services. These services will be
provided on normal commercial terms and will be charged at a rate
no less favourable as would apply to similar services provided to any
of CR Trust’s other clients.
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AEER-Z—=FEBRTERAERBZEBRATA  The proposed maximum daily deposit amount, inclusive of interest
ﬁif’zﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ'\]@ SEENEBLR(BEEMFE)M  payable, placed by the Group with CR Bank for the term of CR Bank
Ik Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2013 is set out as follows:
BB
HKS

HENANBLFENEAFHEELR

Maximum daily deposit amount for the year ended/ending 31 December
2014 2015 2016

2,200,000,000 2,200,000,000 2,200,000,000

HE-Z-A5+-A=1-015E A£EFZR  For the year ended 31 December 2015, the highest total single-day

Edes fE{TE’]EﬁH SREEERNRE?0604676137C  amount placed by the Group with CR Bank was RMB2,060,467,613.

WEEZQT?TAHKHXW@?U5115()\7%/\%%2 132,087t > Total Interest income received from the deposit amounted to
RMB21,132,108.

BN EBRTREBREIN-_Z-=EKA{ERE  Besides, the proposed maximum daily amount of financial services
HBEAMAEEEHESHRERERNEZEEASEL  and products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust to the Group for the
Bk term of Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013:

AT
RMB

BET-A=t-RIFEZBHSBLR
Maximum daily amount for the year ended/ending
31 December

2014 2015 2016

ERFRIT CR Bank 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000

ERET CR Trust 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000
REE-T-RF+T-A=1T—RILFER RE_ For the year ended 31 December 2015, the approximate historical

—=—FEBAEREZGT ERETRERE ?r‘j$ figures of the maximum daily amount of financial services and
EERHLRBELEINESTELENMAELY  products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust to the Group under the

¥ terms of the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013:
ARET
RMB
|
EPRTREE S RRBER Maximum daily amount of other financial services and
EmfiEmSAEHE products provided by CR Bank 0
ZREFRELMERRER Maximum daily amount of other financial services and
EmfiEmSAEHE products provided by CR Trust 0

\0
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In 2015, the aggregate annual amount of fees and commissions paid
by the Group for the financial services provided by CR Bank and CR
Trust respectively under Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013 did
not exceed 0.1%, percentage ratios stipulated by the Listing Rules,
other than the profits ratio, and these arrangements constituted de
minimis transactions under the Listing Rules.

The proposed annual caps for financial services under both of the
Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013 have been determined after
taking into account of the Group’s liquidity, business needs and the
expected level of services to be received from CR Bank and CR Trust
under the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2013.

The Group is permitted to use the deposit services and other
financial services of CR Trust as a result of the entering of the
Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2013, which, under normal
commercial terms, supported the internal development of CRH in a
scale not causing resource exposure to the Group and not
jeopardizing the relationship between Group and other financial
institutions.

At all material time, CRC is the controlling shareholder of CRH
which in turn holds the controlling interest of the Company,
therefore, CRC and CRH is the connected persons of the Company
within the meaning of the Listing Rules. CRC holds 75.33% and 51%
register capital in CR Bank and CR Trust respectively. As such, CR
Bank and CR Trust are connected persons of the Company and the
above arrangements constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company.

Provision of Property Leasing and Concessionaire,
Construction Services, Decoration Services, and
Furniture Services

1.  Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services,
and Furniture Services
On 20 September 2010, the Company entered into the provision
of construction services, decoration services and furniture
services framework agreement with CRH to govern the
principal terms of the provision of construction and decoration
services and furniture manufacturing and sale services in the
PRC by the Group to the members of the CRH Group [namely
CRH and its subsidiaries, excluding the Group) and its
subsidiaries and associates of CRH for the three financial
years ended 31 December 2013.
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On 13 December 2013, as the Group anticipates the above
continuing connected transactions will continue after 31
December 2013, the Company enters into new framework
agreement entered into between the Company and CRH in
relation to the provision of construction, decoration and
furniture services by the Group to the members of the CRH
Group and associates of CRH for the three years ending 31
December, 2016 (“Provision of Construction Services,
Decoration Services and Furniture Services Framework
Agreement 20137).

Each contract of construction, decoration or furniture services
will be entered into on normal commercial terms and the
prices will be either at market prices or at prices no less
favourable to the Group than those available from independent
cooperating manufacturers.

The annual caps are renewed taking into account of the
business needs of members of the CRH Group and associates
of CRH and the expected level of services to be provided by the
Group under the Provision of Construction Services, Decoration
Services and Furniture Services Framework Agreement 2013.

The proposed annual caps for the Provision of Construction
Services, Decoration Services and Furniture Services
Framework Agreement 2014 for the three years ending 31
December 2016 are as follows:

BT
HKS
BET-A=t-HIFEZBALELR
For the year ended/ending 31 December
2014 2015 2016

1,024,000,000
404,500,000

1,536,000,000
383,800,000

1,920,000,000
302,100,000

ETREIRRCREAKEN T 5%
R RERBLEEREHEEERGZEHR
A REBKERKELRREBEREREAR
Hz1ﬁ%ﬁ§¢7@ﬁ%$ﬁiﬂtmﬁw
DHEZ01%  MRE ETRA - ZF2H
%%&%ﬁ%%@%§%°

In the determination of the construction caps, it is expected
that the aggregate annual amounts of furniture services the
Group charged to members of the CRH Group and associates
of CRH during the term of the Provision of Construction
Services, Decoration Services and Furniture Services
Framework Agreement 2013 will not exceed 0.1% of the
applicable percentage ratios of the Listing Rules, and these
arrangements will constitute de minimis transactions under
the Listing Rules.
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L
No.

TRBERERIN_T-IFELRRERS
VU

FHE5

Business Type

The caps and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions in 2015 are shown as follow:

JBET
HK$

WHEERR 528
The actual
transaction

amount in 2015

W5FE LR

The capsin 2015

1
2

fe£= Construction
£iE Decoration

1,536,000,000.00
383,800,000.00

680,599,902.00
167,914,148.00
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As the CRH is the controlling shareholder of the Company, the
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH are the
connected persons of the Company as defined under the
Listing Rules. Such transactions constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company.

Provision of Property Leasing and Concessionaire

On 20 September 2010, the Company entered into the leasing
and concessionaire framework agreement with CRH to govern
the principal terms of the leasing and concessionaire
arrangements regarding its property portfolio with members
of the CRH Group (including its related party and associates of
CRHJ from 20 September 2010 to 31 December 2012.

On 30 November 2012, the Company and CRH have further
entered into the leasing and concessionaire framework
agreement to govern the principal terms of the leasing and
concessionaire arrangements for a term of one year (i.e. from
1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013, both days inclusive).

On 13 December 2013, as the Group also anticipates the above
continuing connected transactions will continue after 31
December 2013, the Company entered into new framework
agreement in relation to the leasing and concessionaire
arrangements between the Group and the CRH Group and
associates of CRH for the three years ended 31 December
2016 (“the Leasing and Concessionaire Framework Agreement
20137).
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Subject to further definitive written agreements, from 1
January 2014 to 31 December 2016 (both days inclusive), the
Group will enter into new leasing agreements or new
concessionaire agreements with members of the CRH Group
and associates of CRH in the ordinary and usual course of
business on the following terms:

(a)

(b)

each of the leasing or concessionaire arrangements to
be entered into by a member of the Group with a member
of the CRH Group or an associate of CRH will be
documented in a separate written agreement with a
lease term of not exceeding three years; and

each leasing or concessionaire arrangement will be
entered into on normal commercial terms with the rents,
management fees and other charges received by the
Group from any members of the CRH Group or
associates of CRH being either at market prices or at
prices no less favourable to the Group than those
available from independent third parties.

The proposed annual caps for the Leasing and Concessionaire
Framework Agreement 2013 for the three years ending 31
December 2016 are as follows:

MERFALR The Leasing and Concessionaire Caps

BT
HKS
BET-A=+—HIFE
For the year ended/ending 31 December
2014 2015 2016
239,300,000 283,500,000 300,700,000
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As the actual transaction amount of the leasing and
concessionaire arrangement for 2014 exceeded the annual cap
originally set, the Company, pursuant to Rule14A.54(1) of the
Listing Rules, is required to re-comply with the reporting and
announcement requirement set out in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. For the actual transaction amount in relation to
the abovementioned continuing connected transactions for

RMEZRE ARRAVEREHZE_T— T 2014, as the applicable percentage ratio calculated in
A=t—BZHEBEFELRET: accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules exceeded
0.1% but less than 5%, relevant continuing connected
transactions was exempted from the approval requirement by
independent shareholders. The Company has accordingly
revised relevant annual cap for the relevant years ending 31
December 2016:
By BET
Unit: HK$
0135 W15 FEHMERF
£ FELR FEER
Annual cap Annual cap
Years applied in 2013 reapplied in 2015
|
2015 283,500,000 400,000,000
2016 300,700,000 500,000,000
FTREEFBANAR —hE=R Details of the above mentioned matters are set out in the
:‘|‘EEI$'J§”‘E'J?%\\W§L CYNCE announcement issued by the Company in relation to continuing
connected transactions on 23 March 2015.
THERER SN _Z-LFE LRI ERE The annual cap and actual transaction amount in 2015 of the
EIE above continuing connected transaction is set out below:
2 BT
Unit: HK$
WHSEFLR 055 EER588
Annual cap Actual transaction
¥BER Business Type in 2015 amount in 2015

HERALR

The Leasing and Concessionaire Caps

400,000,000 271,377,000
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CRH owns the controlling interest of the Company. Therefore,
members of the CRH Group and CRH are the connected
persons of the Company, as defined in the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the above arrangement constitutes a continuing
connected transaction of the Company.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Independent
Non-Executive Directors have reviewed the abovementioned
continuing connected transactions, and confirmed that:

1. these transactions were in the Company’s ordinary
course of business:

2. these transactions were entered into on normal
commercial terms;

3. these transactions were carried out in accordance with
respective agreement terms which were fair and
reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
issued his letter containing his findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by
the Group on pages 84 to 92 (the "Disclosed CCTs") in
accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56:

a. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes
him to believe that the Disclosed CCTs have not been
approved by the board of directors of the Company.

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group, nothing has come to the auditor’s
attention that causes him to believe that the transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group.

c.  nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes
him to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions.

d.  nothing has come to the auditor's attention that causes
him to believe that the Disclosed CCTs have exceeded the
annual cap set by the Company.
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A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to Stock Exchange.

The related party transactions as disclosed in Note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements also fall under the definition
of connected transaction or continuing connected transactions
within the meaning of the Listing Rules, and the Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Model Code Regarding Securities Transactions by
the Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in the Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors of the Company. Having made specific
enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors
has complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the year under review.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year under review, the Groups five largest suppliers and
five largest customers together accounted for less than 30% of the
Groups purchases and sales respectively.



REHNGHES
BERTBBLILEE  ARRAR-—REBELH
BOR-E-AFRAT-R ARAEEREE(E
#)BRAE] AR TZE?&T BRAE - REERE(E
BERRERDNERAR  vEEEREREEEFER
AR R J.P. Morgan Securities plc) A&  HH KR
Bihg e SPRERBRERMH 25.258 THERE -
AR AEBU AR AREEEEE () BRLF)
AR £400,000,000 REEERD - FREBKAEE
B2BILETL - RpEEEZR—RX=Z—hFHA
+—HERUTEE.I5ET  BRERNBERAR
AIER D RITRALD 6.12% RARRE AR EANE %
ﬁhmm5wm& ZALHBRERBTRER
RARIBBITRATEE(L  MERITREROERIN) -
REMBREFEETAI0EET - RBRH &m
Mﬁﬁmm%ﬁﬂﬁx%imy S SRERBERD L
REE - BERMHBINARAN-Z— ﬁiﬁﬂ
+ZBFEH RS © 400,000,000 2ERHER-Z—H
FRAZTHRETKBET -

ARRERNFE R RRMERESEME2 -

B ERBERSN  RAEE A RAEE RG] L AR
FHAHE

ZEBER
E-ZS—1F KEEMESEZTOAARE 1948936

i —

BT °

IEHBRBE

TEEBENENBFEC REREEAGBHR
REREUOE

TR

-

R Report of the Directors

Equity-linked Agreement

For the purpose of future acquisition of land bank, development
costs and general working capital, on 12 May 2015, the Company
and CRH (Land) Limited, the immediate holding company of the
Company, and the placing agents (including BOCI Asia Limited,
China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities
Limited and J.P. Morgan Securities plc) entered into a placing,
underwriting and subscription agreement, pursuant to which, the
placing agents will place a total of 400,000,000 placing shares at a
price of HK$25.25 per Share owned by CRH (Land] Limited to not
less than six independent places. The net placing price is about
HK$25.14. The closing price of the share on 11 May 2015, being the
last trading day prior to the date of the agreement, was HK$27.15.
The placing shares represent approximately 6.12% of the then
issued share capital of the Company and approximately 5.77% of the
Company's issued share capital as enlarged by the subscription
(assuming that there is no change in the issued share capital of the
Company from the date of the announcement to the completion of
the subscription save for the issue of the subscription Shares). The
net proceeds from the subscription are estimated to be HK$10.1
billion. The subscription is conditional upon completion of the
placing and the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange granting
the listing of, and permission to deal in, the subscription shares.
Details of the share placing are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 12 May 2015. A total of 400,000,000 shares
were issued upon completion of the subscription on 26 May 2015.

Please also refer to note 32 of the financial statements for the
details of the share placing.

Save as disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements have been
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

Charitable Donation

In 2015, the Groups charitable donation amounted to approximately
RMB1.948936 million.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 240 of this
annual report.
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Pre-Emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

Articles of Association and there are no restrictions against such
rights under the laws in the Cayman Island.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, the audit committee comprises Mr. Wan
Kam To, Peter [Committee Chairman), Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr.
Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ma Weihua, Mr. Wei Bin and Mr. Chen Ying, all
members of the audit committee are either Independent Non-
Executive Directors or Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The
audit committee has reviewed, together with the management and
the Company’s auditor, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters including the financial statements for the
year.

Auditors

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 3 June 2015,
Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers retired as the auditor of the
Company and Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was appointed as
the new auditor of the Company.

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire at the conclusion of

the forthcoming annual general meeting and is eligible to stand for
reappointment.

By order of the Board

Tang Yong
Vice Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2016
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Resources
Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the "Group”] set out on pages 99 to 222, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
are free from material misstatement.
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BIZHETREZ Independent Auditor's Report

Auditor’s Responsibility [continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’'s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’'s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2015, and of its
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2016
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Year ended 31 December

i BB BB
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
(&=351)
(Restated)
Revenue 6 103,393,234 89,704,532
Cost of sales (71,095,093) (62,351,242)
Gross profit 32,298,141 27,353,290
Gain on changes in fair value of investment
properties 17 4,602,361 4,966,811
Other income and other gains 8 2,556,439 1,139,194
Selling and marketing expenses (3,305,809) (3,071,358
General and administrative expenses (3,006,063) (2,252,667)
Share of profit of investments in joint
ventures 323,406 66,339
Share of loss of investments in associates (25,271) (4,042)
Finance costs 11 (922,933 (831,839)
Profit before taxation 32,520,271 27,365,728
Income tax expenses 12 (13,142,592) (10,886,796)
Profit for the year 13 19,377,679 16,478,932
Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 17,527,459 15,140,938
Non-controlling interests 1,850,220 1,337,994
19,377,679 16,478,932
gkl gl
HK cents HK cents
Earnings per share 15
Basic 259.2 2318
Diluted 259.1 231.7

HEERME 14

Details of dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable to the
profit for the year are set out in note 14.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

HET-A=1—-HBIFE
Year ended 31 December

2015 2014
i3 BETT BETT

Note HK$'000 HK$ 000
(&=351)
(Restated)
FEREN Profit for the year 13 19,377,679 16,478,932
ﬁ’rﬂlﬁ@l&ﬁ Other comprehensive income
AR A ES R Bml R Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
BEREFISHAEE B ER Exchange loss arising on translation
to presentation currency (10,733,428 (424,652)
R & F 2 A5 BE X Rl Reversal of translation reserve
on disposal of a subsidiary 100,360 =
(10,633,068 (424,652)
FREERRERE Total comprehensive income for the year 8,744,611 16,054,280
T AL 2R RAE Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
ARRIEEA Owners of the Company 8,239,970 14,731,456
R IER Non-controlling interests 504,641 1,322,824
8,744,611 16,054,280
h

100 ;ﬁuﬁ,’i‘e’:ﬁﬁms
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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ERAELERR
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He RFITEF

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties

Land use rights

Investments in joint ventures
Investments in associates
Available-for-sale investments
Prepayments for non-current assets
Deferred taxation assets

Amount due from a non-controlling interest
Amount due from a joint venture

CURRENT ASSETS

Properties for sale

Other inventories

Trade receivables, other receivables,
prepayments and deposits

Amounts due from customers for
contract works

Amounts due from intermediate holding
companies

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

Amounts due from joint ventures

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from non-controlling interests

Prepaid taxation

Available-for-sale investments

Cash and bank balances

Notes

16
17
18
20
19
21
22
23
27
27

24

25

26

27
27
27
27
27

21
28

—T-0f b Sk b SilkS
+ZA=+—-H +ZA=+-H —A—A
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BETT BETT AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(15 =71) (i&=31)
(Restated) (Restated)
7,159,369 6,960,903 5,899,608
88,319,071 79,239,669 60,438,178
2,097,459 2,239,020 1,849,693
4,234,510 3,542,441 2,907,902
6,292,824 8,617 13,137
13,075 191,093 178,529
299,387 744,205 2,469,737
691,596 475,690 431,415
474,435 400,290 -
985,946 - -
110,567,672 93,801,928 74,188,199
188,339,658 186,402,200 161,516,666
626,188 609,430 447,627
27,563,986 27,589,815 29,594,378
330,086 268,119 210,461
13,008 597,460 1,717,022
99,474 64,466 77,899
4,628,693 3,161,470 1,241,592
6,707,495 1,510,871 806,142
1,089,412 319,366 146,114
3,394,781 3,096,503 2,372,921
- = 381,567
45,874,885 44,857 414 28,923,195
278,667,666 268,477,114 227,435,584
.
L
EHERERLT
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CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables

Advances received from pre-sales of
properties

Amounts due to customers for contract
works

Amount due to the ultimate holding
company

Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries

Amounts due to joint ventures

Amounts due to associates

Amounts due to non-controlling interests

Taxation payable

Bank and other borrowings — due within
one year

Senior notes — due within one year

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

EQUITY
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
Non-controlling interests

SABBEAMRE Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes

29

26

30

30
30
30
30
30

31
33

32

—T-1F -F-MF -F-IF
+=A=+—-H8 +=ZA=+—A —A—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(m=5)) (E=3))

(Restated) (Restated)

51,373,234 45,683,227 36,099,893
96,258,522 81,497,431 73,980,438
162,059 99,437 141,015
110 117 117

- 782,578 1,289,855

4,976,166 2,253,964 5,670,081
607,066 582,117 569,458
168,602 - -
5,070,745 3,066,587 3,135,175
9,951,120 9,267,166 8,354,840
6,369,155 21,218,979 16,256,126
7,773,576 - -
182,710,355 = 164,451,603 145,496,998
95,957,311 104,025,511 81,938,586
206,524,983 197,827,439 156,126,785
693,094 583,122 583,063
114,272,681 105,048,121 84,690,047
114,965,775 = 105,631,243 85,273,110
16,858,423 11,491,779 8,899,521
131,824,198 117,123,022 94,172,631
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Notes

EnBaE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
BITREMES — —F5/%  Bank and other borrowings — due after

one year 31
BEZRE - —F%&IH Senior notes — due after one year 33
FERT — R BRI R F0R Amount due to an intermediate holding

company 30
JEfT —f R R B R /508 Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 30
JE T — e A RIF0R Amount due to an associate 30
JE IR 2 OR Amounts due to non-controlling interests 30
ERFAEHER Deferred taxation liabilities 23
EnAERErDaE TOTAL OF EQUITY AND NON-CURRENT

LIABILITIES

—T-AHF —E-E —E—E
+ZA=+—H +ZA=t+—H —A—AH
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BETT BB BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(m=5)) (E=3))

(Restated) (Restated)

46,665,670 44,568,365 44,306,017
15,341,724 23,113,386 7,755,279
- 1,589,342 1,958,484

- 76,058 -

202,917 - -
1,293,381 1,433,261 -
11,197,093 9,924,005 7,934,374
74,700,785 80,704,417 61,954,154
206,524,983 197,827,439 156,126,785

HREVEZE B ZRAMBRRERZZ—AF=A  The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 222 were approved
ZT-RaARRESe((EFL ) ERRETE ¥R  and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the Company (the

REZ - “Board”) on 21 March 2016 and are signed on its behalf.
EE TANG YONG

EF DIRECTOR

e YU JIAN

EF DIRECTOR

W
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RZZ-EE—F—B At1January 2014

(n%&A25H) (As previously stated)
AGEAS7(MzE2) Merger accounting restatement
(Note 2)
R-Z-ME—A—H
(&=51) At1 January 2014 [restated)
BEA2YISHES  Exchange difference arising on
LEREH translation to presentation
currency
ERRF Profit for the year

ERERNRER Total comprehensive income
for the year

FERER LA Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests
—AREERAR Capital contribution from an

& (M) intermedate holding company
(note b)
REEF B Appropriation of retained profits
EE—-RNEAR Acquisition of additional interest in
IR asubsidiary
mE-RRBLFHH
Em Partial disposal of a subsidiary

ZE-WERHRE  Interim dividend for 2014
ZT-FRERE  Finaldividend for 2013
Bt JERRERRS  Dividend paid toanon-controlling

interest
TR E Bxercise of share options
RZT-ME
tZA=t-BEk
“Z-R%—A—H At31December 2014 and at
(=51 1 January 2015 [restated)
"'4'5«"
_§ LEEHRE

Annual Report 2015

LNE YN
Attributable to owners of the Company
EiZE
B BOEE  EiRE  EtER RERN Non-

Share Share  Translation Other  Retained @5 controlling &5t
capital  premium reserve reserves profits Total interests Total
RETL BETT RETL BETL BETT RETL ABTT BETTL
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

(Bista)
[note a]
583063 35528946 12247646 4746091 41188624 84802188 8784531 93586719
= = 108,504 1272 361,146 470,922 114,990 585,912
583063 30528946 12356150  (4744819) 41549770 85273110 8899521 94,172,631
- - k09482 - - k948D (151700 [424,852)
= = = - 15140938 15140938 1337994 16478932
- - (409,482 - 15140938 14731456 1322824 16,054,280
= = = = = - 1102260 1,102,260
= = - 8186959 - 8186959 - 8186959
= = = 485,807 (485,807) - - -
= = = 4,157 = 4,157 (8172) (4,015)
= = = 50,370 = 50370 310,346 360,716
- - - - (49,097 (494,097) - (494,097)
- - - - (2122349)  (2122349) - [2122309)
- - - - - - (135,000)  (135,000)
5 2,368 = (790) = 1,637 = 1637
583122 35931314 11946668 3981684 53388495 105,631,243 11491779 117,123,022
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YN Z YN
Attributable to owners of the Company
FiERER
BE BROEE  ERRE  HtEE  REEN Non-
Share Share  Translation Other  Retained @t controlling it
capital  premium reserve reserves profits Total interests Total
BB BB BB BB BB BB BT BB
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
(GED)
[note a)
BEA2YISHES  Exchange differences arising on
LERERTE translation to presentation
currency, net - - (9,287.489) - - (9.287489)  (1,345,579) (10,633,068
ERET Profit for the year - - - - 17927459 17527459 1850220 19,377,679
FRRENREE Total comprehensive income for
the year - - (9,287.489) - 179527459 8239970 504,641 8,744,611
IR Issue of new shares 40,000 10,060,000 - . - 10,100,000 - 10,100,000
BITRMIEERSMA  Transaction cost attributable to
issue of shares - (62,015) - - - (42,015) - (42,015)
R IR Forfeiture of share options - 7,050 - (7,050) - - - -
FERER L A Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - 3590298 3590298
REBFIEE Appropriation of retained profits - - - 474070 (474,070) . - -
ABARIHEEE lssue of sharesand cash
KIRHARELRE  consideration upon combination
(Bt 32(a)) of entities under common
control (note 32 (a)) 69960 14,831,431 - [20,964,019) - (6062,628) - [6062,62)
G-l NG| Acquisition of an associate - - - 336,293 - 336,293 - 336,293
WE R BAR Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - - - - 913599 913,599
EE-HRBAR Acquisition of additional interest in
IR asubsidiary - - - 580 - 580 (1,124) (544)
HE—RNBAFHH
R Partial disposal of a subsidiary - - - 202,554 - 202,554 679,262 881816
“T-REHRHHEE  Interim dividend for 2015 - - - - (599,534) (599,534) - (599,534)
“E-WERMKES  Final dividend for 2014 - - - - [2840.85)  (2840,865) - [2840,869)
BT —FI3ERAER  Dividend paid to anon-controlling
) interest - - - - - - (30032 (320032
TR RE Exercise of share options 12 197 - (32) - 177 - 177
RZE-1E
+-A=+-H At 31 December 2015 693094 60387977 2659179 (159759200 67201445 114965775 16858423 131824198
it : Notes:
b EttEELIZEEERGE —KEE ESRGHEERAGE (3] Other reserves mainly comprise capital reserve, general reserve, employee share-
fho based compensation reserve and merger reserve.
(b) RAFRFEAEEZR (BH#2) B2 -F-WE+-H=+—H (b]  Prior to the combination of entities under common control as mentioned in note 2,

ILEE  EE(%B) ERAR([EEEE))ET—BHEA ALK
BRRAR (ARG B2 AREYBEEE (TEEE TR INT
2)2E5 Bl WERZERERAMEHERER  ARLEEA
REFEBEANHE -

Central New Investments Limited (“Central New”), a subsidiary of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited ("CRH"] waived its loan due from the Top Virtue Group,
as defined in note 2, during the year ended 31 December 2014, and accordingly the
carrying amount of the liability was recognised in other reserves as the
capitalisation was considered as a deemed contribution from CRH.

h
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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HET-A=T-BLFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

i BETT BETT
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
(&=351)
(Restated)
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash generated from operating activities 36 52,972,037 17,036,209
Income tax paid (11,070,436 (8,717,960)
41,901,601 8,318,249
Net cash used in investing activities
Payment for property, plant and
equipment (780,011) (1,623,685
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment 21,718 9,478
Payment for land use rights (78,545) (382,254]
Payment for investment properties (8,406,868) (11,566,927)
Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties 66,343 103,547
Deposits paid for acquisition of
non-current assets (5.287,956) (736,041
Capital injection to joint ventures (1,006,939) (653,089)
Capital injection to associates (5,433,925) -
Dividends received from joint ventures - 201,090
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture - 94,498
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-
sale investments 25,293 376,825
Cash advances to fellow subsidiaries (38,772) -
Repayment from fellow subsidiaries - 13,433
Repayment from an intermediate holding
company 549,570 1,297,180
Cash advances to non-controlling
interests (890,933) (574,030)
Cash advances to joint ventures (2,053,976) (738,170
Cash advances to associates (5,284,835 (707,423)
Interest received 923,696 623,446
Acquisition of subsidiaries 37 (19,393) -
Disposal of subsidiaries 38(a) 427,927 -
Deemed disposal of partial interest
a subsidiary resulting in loss of control  38(b) (227,254) -
Acquisition of available-for-sale
investments (433,694) -
Cash flows of other investing activities, net - (26,616)
(27,928,554) (14,288,738)
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REEE (A AERLFE
BIRABERRERR
ERRITRAMER
BTBARBAREIE
BITHROMSHE
BITHRN X BHA
SR KRB BRI
ENMBEER
BEFZMBARZ KR
EETPRERAR KR
SRR RSB
SRR E
—RARAERAAHE

ENARAREEARE
B RS ARE

BE-RNEAR B
HE—HANB ARSI R

BEEHR LR E
HLbBEARBREREFE

RERRESEERMFR
ENREREEE

IELEBYE
FEIRLRAS S

Net cash (used in) generated from

financing activities

Proceeds from bank and other
borrowings

Repayments of bank and other
borrowings

Proceeds from issuance of senior notes

Proceeds from issuance of new shares

Transaction cost attributed to issuance of
new shares

Payment for the acquisition of
entities under common control

Finance costs paid

Repayment to fellow subsidiaries

Repayment to intermediate holding
companies

Cash advances from non-controlling
interests

Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests

Capital contribution from an intermediate
holding company

Dividends paid to owners of the Company

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Acquisition of additional interest in
a subsidiary

Disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary
not resulting in loss of control

Cash flows of other financial activities, net

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year

Effect of change of foreign exchange rates

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the year

ZABEHER Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HET-A=1—-HBIFE
Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

BT BT

HK$'000 HK$'000
(@=5)

(Restated)

42,181,095 32,069,511
(53,262,551) (26,862,389)
- 15,130,366
10,700,000 =
(42,015) -
(1,005,170) =
(4,172,398 (3,376,652)
(2,342,352) (3,322,263)
(2,233,438 (876,419)
929,398 1,364,673
3,590,298 1,102,260
- 8,186,959
(3,440,399) (2,616,446)
(320,032) (135,000)
(544) (4,015)
881,816 360,716
59,112 16,199
(9,077,180) 21,037,500
4,895,867 15,067,011
42,988,734 28,193,950
(3,181,578) (272,227
44,703,023 42,988,734

i
&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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General Information

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). As at 31 December 2015,
the ultimate holding company of the Company is China Resources
National Corporation ("CRNC"), a company incorporated in the
People’'s Republic of China [the "PRC"). The intermediate holding
company of the Company is China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited ("CRH"). The immediate holding company of the Company is
CRH (Land) Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. The address of the registered office of the Company is
disclosed in the corporate information of the annual report and the
principal place of business of the Company is the same as its address
of the head office disclosed in the corporate information of the annual
report. The principal activities of the Group are development and sale
of developed properties, property investments and management,
hotel operations and the provision of construction, decoration services
and other property development related services in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$"], unless otherwise stated, which is also the functional
currency of the Company. The Company is a public company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange where most of its investors are located in Hong
Kong and therefore, the directors consider that HK$ is preferable in
presenting the operating result and financial position of the Group. As
the major underlying transactions of the Company are denominated
in HK$, the directors of the Company believe HK$ as the functional
currency best reflect the underlying economic substance of the
Company. The majority of the Company’s subsidiaries are operating
in the PRC with Renminbi ("'RMB"] as their functional currency.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Basis of Preparation

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control

During the year ended 31 December 2015, Central New, a subsidiary
of CRH, transferred the entire equity interest in Top Virtue Enterprises
Limited and its subsidiaries and FYITEHIRERRBRAF (the “Top
Virtue Group”) to the Group. The principal activities of Top Virtue
Group are development and sale of developed properties and property
investments in the PRC.

Before August 2015, EBEMARERARAR ((EBEM(ER)") was
60% held by ZEE (&M BRAT ("EHEL(BM) ), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and 40% held by #YITEE =R HEA ¥ L%
(AR&%) (RIBEB=%"). EFKECXERERAA ("ERIKE"), 51%
owned by a wholly owned subsidiary of CRH, is the general partner
and has control of FI[E& =5 by virtue of its power to make investment
decisions for and on behalf of FIIEZ=5. The principal activity of &/
E#t (B %) is property development.

The interest in 2 8 & #1( ;) was accounted for as a joint venture
under HKFRS 11 as all of the strategic financial and operating
decisions must be approved by all of the joint venture partners with
unanimous consent.

During August 2015, % 8 & #.( & M ) and & I8 & = 5 revised the
memorandum and association of £ H & #(# =) and stipulated that
the decision for operating, investing and financing activities (the
“relevant activities”) was made by simple majority of voting rights.
Since % & #1( & /M ) has simple majority of voting rights on the
relevant activitieson EEE (@R ), =B E (R ) became a
subsidiary of the Group.

The directors of the Company have determined that the application of
merger accounting to the acquisition of Top Virtue Group and EEEi
(R) (together “Acquired Businesses”), being a business combination
involving entities under common control, under Accounting Guideline
5 Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations ("AG 57
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA"), will provide more relevant and useful information to
financial statement users as it better reflects the economic substance
of the transaction. The Group and the entities acquired are regarded
as continuing entities.

ERERERAA l
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Basis of Preparation [continued)

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control (continued)

Under merger accounting, based on the guidance set out in AG 5, the
consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statement
items of the combining entities or businesses in which the common
control combination occurs as if they had been combined from the
date when the combining entities or businesses first came under the
control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the controlling
party’s perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or
excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost at the
time of common control combination, to the extent of the continuation
of the controlling party's interest. The adjustments to eliminate share/
registered capital of the combining entities or businesses against the
related investment costs have been made to other reserves in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The consolidated statement of income statement, consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the prior years have been restated to include the operating results of
the Acquired Businesses as if these acquisitions had been completed
since the dates the respective entities or businesses came under the
control of CRH. The consolidated statement of financial position as at
1 January 2014 and 31 December 2014 has been restated to adjust
the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the Acquired
Businesses had been in existence as at 1 January 2014 and 31
December 2014 as if those entities or businesses were combined
from the date when they first came under the control of CRH (see
below for the financial impacts).
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LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Basis of Preparation [continued)

entities under common control (continued)

is as follows:

Bz
—T-mF
+=R=1+—-R
IEFE

Year ended
31 December

HREEHIEE
ZEBA N
Business

combination

of entities under

Merger accounting for business combination involving

The effect of restatements described above on the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2014 by line items

BZE
—T-mF
+=A=1+-A
HEE

Year ended
31 December

Yas
HERAK

£l
BAME AP BRI

L ONSEE 6

HE RS RS
—RETBXH
FIEREELEREZNE

BB EATRE 2 8
HHER

BeBATT)

FEBMR

FRER

U ALEEFART :
AREHEAA
SRR

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties

Other income and other gains

Selling and marketing expenses

General and administration expenses

Share of profit of investments in joint
ventures

Share of loss of investments in associates

Finance costs

Profit before taxation
Income tax expenses

Profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

2014 common control 2014
BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(EEZREFZ) (&51)
(Audited and (Restated)
originally stated)
88,381,343 1,323,189 89,704,532
(61,337,798) (1,013,444) (62,351,242)
27,043,545 309,745 27,353,290
4,520,368 446,443 4,966,811
1,105,503 33,691 1,139,194
(2,958,619) (112,739) (3,071,358)
(2,183,431) (69,236) (2,252,667)
61,614 4,725 66,339
(4,042) = (4,042)
(799,108) (32,731) (831,839)
26,785,830 579,898 27,365,728
(10,744,930} (141,866) (10,886,796)
16,040,900 438,032 16,478,932
14,708,476 432,462 15,140,938
1,332,424 5,570 1,337,994
16,040,900 438,032 16,478,932
A
9
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w ZREMBIRZMET Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
2. REEE(E) 2. Basis of Preparation (continued)
PREAREHERERSHZaHETEE) Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control (continued]
TREFHBEE T -MFE+A=+—HILFEZ The effect of restatements described above on the consolidated
FEPENERSEALYENT statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December

2014 by line items is as follows:

EE EE
—TmE HREHER kit
TZA=t—-H ZEBA N tTZA=+-H
IHEE Business HEE
Year ended combination Year ended
31 December  of entities under 31 December
2014 common control 2014
|
BT ST BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(BEZREFT) (& =31))
[Audited and (Restated)
originally stated)
FERE Profit for the year 16,040,900 438,032 16,478,932
H 2 EYE Other comprehensive income
AR A ES AEEmmEA Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
BERZIEBMES Exchange loss arising on translation to
ZERER presentation currency (404,731) (19,921) (424,652)
FNRENREE Total comprehensive income for the year 15,636,169 418,111 16,054,280
TR AT 2 Bl a2 - Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
ARREEA Owners of the Company 14,318,644 412,812 14,731,456
IR Non-controlling interests 1,317,525 5,299 1,322,824
15,636,169 418,111 16,054,280
l

-
1 1 2 ;ngnga?lifﬁf 2015



¢

ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. REBE(E) 2. Basis of Preparation [continued)
PREAREHERERSHZaHETTEE) Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control (continued]
BIHR T -NF-A—BZEERBRARLY The effect of restatements on the consolidated statement of financial
Emr position as at 1 January 2014 is as follows:

HREHER

ZEBEH

Business
—Z—[F  combination of “ZT-F
—A—H entities under —A—H

1 January 2014 common control 1 January 2014
|

BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(& RRS) (f&=51)
[Audited and (Restated)
originally stated)
FnEEE Non-current assets
ER Property, plant and equipment 5,881,581 18,027 5,899,608
REME Investment properties 59,611,449 826,729 60,438,178
T {F R Land use rights 1,833,901 15,792 1,849,693
REELEZ#R Investments in joint ventures 2,907,902 = 2,907,902
i A=YNT P 3 Investments in associates 13,137 - 13,137
Ak ERE Available-for-sale investments 178,529 - 178,529
ERBEEZBNHE Prepayments for non-current assets 2,464,553 5,184 2,469,737
EIEFBHEE Deferred taxation assets 387,150 44,265 431,415
73,278,202 909,997 74,188,199
MBEE Current assets
HHEE Y% Properties for sale 150,010,531 11,506,135 161,516,666
HirE Other inventories LLT 627 = LLT 627
FEMRER R - EfEKERIE - Trade receivables, other receivables,
A FER € prepayments and deposits 22,695,073 6,899,305 29,594,378
EREFEHIRZE Amounts due from customers for
contract works 210,461 - 210,461
JEY R R R A RIFOE Amounts due from intermediate holding
companies 1,310,017 407,005 1,717,022
U R ZH B AR ZIA Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 709,600 (631,701) 77,899
ERAEEERE Amounts due from joint ventures 1,241,592 - 1,241,592
JE I — i = A R FIE Amounts due from an associate 806,142 - 806,142
[ SER A i 25 SO Amounts due from non-controlling
interests 146,114 - 146,114
BEHIE Prepaid taxation 2,280,776 92,145 2,372,921
A HERE Available-for-sale investments 381,567 - 381,567
BeRBITER Cash and bank balances 28,238,904 684,291 28,923,195
208,478,404 18,957,180 227,435,584
4

EWEHERAT |
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LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. REEE(E) 2. Basis of Preparation (continued)
PREXFEHEREBAH2EHETE(E) Merger accounting for business combination involving

entities under common control (continued)

HFEHER

ZEBEM

Business
—Z—[%  combination of “T-mE
—H—H entities under —A—H

1 January 2014 common control 1 January 2014
|

BT BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(EERRE) (E=3))
(Audited and (Restated)
originally stated)
nBAR Current liabilities
FERTER SR R E A AT BR TR Trade and other payables 32,556,534 3,543,359 36,099,893
RENMEERBR Advances received from pre-sales of
properties 70,571,822 3,408,616 73,980,438
ENEEAHTIREE Amounts due to customers for contract
works 141,015 - 141,015
N RARER A RHIR Amount due to the ultimate holding
company 117 = 117
JE R AR A B B Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies 167 1,289,688 1,289,855
IR NGRS Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 188,124 5,481,957 5,670,081
EREERERE Amounts due to joint ventures 569,458 = 569,458
JEf FE R i R FROR Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 3,135,175 - 3,135,175
ERTFR Taxation payable 8,341,291 13,549 8,354,840
RITREMEE — —FRE%  Bankand other borrowings — due
within one year 16,256,126 - 16,256,126
131,759,829 13,737,169 145,496,998
MEBEEFE Net current assets 76,718,575 5,220,011 81,938,586
BEBBEARDEE Total assets less current liabilities 149,996,777 6,130,008 156,126,785
Sl
&
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2. RWRUEE(E)

PREAREHEREBH 2 AHETEE)

2. Basis of Preparation [continued)

entities under common control (continued)

“E-QEF
~A-H

1 January 2014

HFEHER

ZEBAH

Business

combination of
entities under
common control

LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Merger accounting for business combination involving

“E-F
—A—H
1 January 2014

5
A
1

AARGEE NEGES
FERER
FRBERE

BITREMEE

— —FRIH
BEZE - —FRIH
R —EP RERARFUR

EXMREHAR

ERRBIERPAE

Equity
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
Non-controlling interests

Non-current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings
— due after one year
Senior notes — due after one year
Amount due to an intermediate holding
company
Deferred taxation liabilities

Total of equity and non-current liabilities

A

BETT BB BB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(BEZRERI) (&=31)
[Audited and (Restated)
originally stated)

583,063 = 583,063
84,219,125 470,922 84,690,047
84,802,188 470,922 85,273,110

8,784,531 114,990 8,899,521
93,586,719 585,912 94,172,631
40,889,848 3,416,169 44,306,017

7,755,279 = 7,755,279

= 1,958,484 1,958,484
7,764,931 169,443 7,934,374
56,410,058 5,544,096 61,954,154
149,996,777 6,130,008 156,126,785
4
EHERERLT
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2. REEE(E) 2. Basis of Preparation (continued)
PREAREHERERSHZaHETEE) Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control [continued)
B HAEEN T -—ME-A-B2RRIBY The financial effect of the restatements to the Group's equity on 1
ZfamT: January 2014 is summarised below:

HREHER

ZEBEH

Business
—E-mE combination “ZT-F
—A—H of entities under —A—H

1 January 2014 common control 1 January 2014
|

BETT BETT BT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(& RRS) (f&=51)

(Audited and (Restated)

originally stated)

A Share capital 583,043 = 583,063
B (B Share premium 35,528,946 - 35,528,946
[& N e Translation reserve 12,247,646 108,504 12,356,150
HihfEE Other reserves (4,746,091 1,272 (4,744,819)
R Retained profits 41,188,624 361,146 41,549,770
FERER Non-controlling interests 8,784,531 114,990 8,899,521
93,586,719 585,912 94,172,631

b
-
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. REBE(E) 2. Basis of Preparation [continued)
PREAREHERERSHZaHETTEE) Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control (continued]
BHHR - E-MET-A=+-B2GARERR The effect of restatements on the consolidated statement of financial
RLTEWT position as at 31 December 2014 is as follows:

HEZHIER

ZEBEH
—E-mE Business “ZT-F
+-A=+—-H combination +-A=+—H
31 December  of entities under 31 December
2014 common control 2014
|
BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(& RRS) (f&=51)
[Audited and (Restated)
originally stated)
FnEEE Non-current assets
ER Property, plant and equipment 6,939,305 21,598 6,960,903
REME Investment properties 75,270,688 3,968,981 79,239,669
TP A Land use rights 1,973,748 265,272 2,239,020
REERE 7 #x Investments in joint ventures 4,754,650 (1,212,209) 3,542,441
i A=YNT P 3 Investments in associates 8,617 - 8,617
Ak ERE Available-for-sale investments 191,093 - 191,093
MBS E  BNFIE Prepayments for non-current assets 740,639 3,566 744,205
ERFEHAE Deferred taxation assets 427,112 48,578 475,690
e —FREE RS TR Amount due from a non-controlling
interest 400,290 - 400,290
90,706,142 3,095,786 93,801,928
MBEE Current assets
HHE W% Properties for sale 167,484,086 18,918,114 186,402,200
HiFE Other inventories 609,430 - 609,430
FEUERSY » Bt e liBRIE - Trade receivables, other receivables,
BEFER £ prepayments and deposits 21,615,800 5,974,015 27,589,815
BUREPEHTIENRE Amounts due from customers for
contract works 268,119 - 268,119
i Gal ik VNG R Amounts due from intermediate holding
companies 13,169 584,291 597,460
A GEES NG Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 1,538,934 (1,474,468) 64,466
=T Amounts due from joint ventures 3,304,353 (142,883) 3,161,470
il A=UNG F Amounts due from associates 1,510,871 - 1,510,871
FEMIE R = R Amounts due from non-controlling
interests 315,563 3,803 319,366
BEHIE Prepaid taxation 2,659,115 437,388 3,096,503
ReRBTHER Cash and bank balances 40,289,395 4,568,019 44,857 414
239,608,835 28,868,279 268,477,114
\ 4
EWEHERAT |
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LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. REEE(E) 2. Basis of Preparation (continued)
PREXFEHEREBAH2EHETHE(E) Merger accounting for business combination involving

entities under common control (continued)

HREHER

ZEBAH
—T-mF Business —TE
+=ZR=1+—H combination +=-A=1+-H
31 December  of entities under 31 December
2014 common control 2014
|
BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(EEERE) (E=351)
[Audited and (Restated)
originally stated)
mEEE Current liabilities
JERHRTR R EL e BRI Trade and other payables 41,544,683 4,138,544 45,683,227
BEENFERRH Advances received from pre-sales of
properties 71,358,673 10,138,758 81,497,431
ENEPANIENE Amounts due to customers for contract
works 99,437 - 99,437
JE T SRASER A R FOE Amount due to the ultimate holding
company 117 = 117
JEfT R EER A R FOE Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies 1,447 781,131 782,578
ANIEE NG F Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 1,485,796 768,168 2,253,964
BT & & EFE Amounts due to joint ventures 581,564 553 582,117
FERFRIE R R Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 3,066,587 - 3,066,587
FE i Taxation payable 9,267,166 = 9,267,166
RITREMEE — —FA5H  Bank and other borrowings
— due within one year 19,414,456 1,804,523 21,218,979
146,819,926 17,631,677 164,451,603
MEEEFE Net current assets 92,788,909 11,236,602 104,025,511
BERERTDEE Total assets less current liabilities 183,495,051 14,332,388 197,827,439
b
o
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LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Basis of Preparation [continued)

entities under common control (continued)

HREHER

Merger accounting for business combination involving

ZEBEH
—T-F Business —E-mE
+-A=1+—H combination +-A=t+—H
31 December  of entities under 31 December
2014 common control 2014
]
BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(& RRS) (f&=51)
[Audited and (Restated)
originally stated)
Equity
Share capital 583,122 - 583,122
Reserves 95,977,428 9,070,693 105,048,121
Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 96,560,550 9,070,693 105,631,243
Non-controlling interests 10,560,217 931,562 11,491,779
107,120,767 10,002,255 117,123,022
Non-current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings
— due after one year 42,206,435 2,361,930 44,568,365
Senior notes — due after one year 23,113,386 - 23,113,386
Amount due to an intermediate holding
company - 1,589,342 1,589,342
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 76,058 - 76,058
Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 1,336,920 96,341 1,433,261
Deferred taxation liabilities 9,641,485 282,520 9,924,005
76,374,284 4,330,133 80,704,417
Total of equity and non-current liabilities 183,495,051 14,332,388 197,827,439
9
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E" SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. WEEBEE) 2. Basis of Preparation [continued)
PREAFEHEREBEH2EHETE(E) Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control (continued]
B HAEERNEE S -NET_A=+t—HIF The effect of the restatement on the Group's basic earnings per share
B BREARF 2 FEMT for the year ended 31 December 2014 is as follow:
SREXBF G Impact on basic earnings per share
=
—ZnE
+ZA=+-H
IFFE
For the
year ended
31 December
2014
|
gl
HK cents
BERRIR As audited and originally stated 252.2
HEEHTEBEHEE2BR Adjustments arising from business combination under
common control (20.4)
FEST] Restated 231.8
3. ERFITREEIEBHBERERR 3. Application of New and Revised ‘I‘-Ion'g Kon
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”
RAFEAEECRENEMRL TEEBEHMAERE In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the
23] RSB R BB M RS 28 - following new and revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA:
BRGEAZ S RTEHHE: BEER Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans:
(B3TR) Employee Contributions
BB REED BAUBREEN-_T-T42 Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
(CHEY I CERSEENE 2010-2012 Cycle
BB REED BANBREEA-_T—42 Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
(CHEY “E-CERSEENE 2011-2013 Cycle
RAREERER EMEBHBREENETAYRER The application of the above amendments to HKFRSs in the current
DBAEEALBMBEERMAR /BEZSEA year has had no material impact on the Group's financial performance
RSB REEATE - and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures

set out in these consolidated financial statements.

b
-
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LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Revised Hong Kon
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”

[continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 14
HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

and HKAS 38
Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41
Amendments to HKAS 27

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Financial Instruments'

Regulatory Deferral Accounts?

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers!

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations®

Disclosure Initiative®

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation®
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle®

Agriculture: Bearer Plants®

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception®

J Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on or after
1 January 2016.
Y Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
A
@
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S B IMAMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Revised Hong Kon
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”
[continued)]

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 was
subsequently amended in 2010 to include requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition, and in 2013 to include the new requirements for
general hedge accounting. Another revised version of HKFRS 9 was
issued in 2014 mainly to include a) impairment requirements for
financial assets and b) limited amendments to the classification and
measurement requirements by introducing a fair value through other
comprehensive income’ (FVTOCI) measurement category for certain
simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9:

o all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or
fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held
within a business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets,
and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding, are generally measured
at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may
make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in
the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend
income generally recognised in profit or loss.
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S B IMAMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. Application of New and Revised Hong Kon
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”
[continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Key requirements of HKFRS 9: (continued)

with regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS ¢
requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability's
credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in
fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the
entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial
liability designated as fair value through profit or loss is
presented in profit or loss.

in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected credit
loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit
losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

the new general hedge accounting requirements retain the
three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently
available in HKAS 39. Under HKFRS 9, greater flexibility has
been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge
accounting, specifically broadening the types of instruments
that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk
components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge
accounting. In addition, the retrospective quantitative
effectiveness test has been removed. Enhanced disclosure
requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have
also been introduced.

The directors of the Company are in the process of ascertaining the
financial effect of the application of this new and revised HKFRS on
the Group's consolidated financial statements.

@
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S B IMAMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Application of New and Revised Hong Kon
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”
[continued)]

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11
Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations when it
becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: [dentify the performance obligations in the contract
o Step 3: Determine the transaction price
o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance

obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been
added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore,
extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of HKFRS
15 in the future may have a material impact on the amounts reported
and disclosures made in the Group’'s consolidated financial
statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed
review.

Other than that, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the other new and revised HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

b
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”] and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance ("CO").

The disclosure requirements set out in the Listing Rules regarding
annual accounts have been amended with reference to the provisions
of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) regarding
preparation of accounts and directors’ reports and to streamline with
HKFRSs. Accordingly the presentation and disclosure of information
in the consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended
31 December 2015 have been changed to comply with these new
requirements. Comparative information in respect of the financial
year ended 31 December 2014 are presented or disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements based on the new requirements.
Information previously required to be disclosed under the
predecessor CO or Listing Rules but not under the new CO or
amended Listing Rules are not disclosed in these consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in
HKAS 36.
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S B IMAMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group's voting rights
in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or
other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

3 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary [i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS
39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Business combinations (continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree [if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’'s net assets
in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests” proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their
fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another
HKFRS.
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S B IMAMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the
Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had been combined
from the date when the combining entities or businesses first came
under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the controlling
party’s perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or
excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost at the
time of common control combination, to the extent of the continuation
of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income include the results of each of the combining
entities or businesses from the earliest date presented or since the
date when the combining entities or businesses first came under the
common control, where this is a shorter period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements
are presented as if the entities or businesses had been combined at
the end of the previous reporting period or when they first came under
common control, whichever is shorter.

.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or joint
venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group's net investment in the associate or joint venture), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures [continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is
necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill] is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposall
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date
when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint venture, or
when the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified as held for
sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or
joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance
with HKAS 39. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture at the date the equity method was
discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any
proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when
the equity method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in
an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)]

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue from the sale of properties in the ordinary course of business
is recognised when the properties are delivered and titles have
passed, at which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the properties, which is when the
construction of relevant properties has been completed upon
delivery and collectability of related receivables is reasonably
assured;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the properties sold;

. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction
can be measured reliably.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to meeting
the above criteria for revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current liabilities.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from construction and decoration service is recognised in
the accounting period in which the services are rendered, by
reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the
basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total
services to be provided.

Revenue from room rental, food and beverage sales and other
ancillary services in the hotel are recognised when the relevant
services have been rendered.

Revenue from sale of goods (including furnitures and other
inventories) are recognised when goods are delivered to the customer,
the customer has accepted the products and collectability of the
related receivables is reasonably assured.

Property management income and service income are recognised
when services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract (including decoration
contract] can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the
end of the reporting period, as measured based on the proportion that
contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the
estimated total contract costs. Variations in contract work, claims and
incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can be
measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are
recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

T
’_ =
1 34 ;ngnt?a]liligﬁf 2015
p



¢

TRENBR(E)

REAN ()
WADERATRBILA DB  ABT BB
2ARL -

fidie 5 ELM A QKA NE HERE AT RAERE
BERRE  MZEIERREFPANTRNE - i
EEREBBRESEENS NN AMERDEFRE
BRABR MERIGRNEFANTRENE A8
THERBITAERRZ FIBR G A BBRRRZER
BRGARAE - RPHAX N 2 TRRERGA M
BIRRR P ARBERR R E A BYRER -

HE
B O REREEARD D TEERRRDFERARA -
AIEBENFIERERD - ARBBOIIEEEHE
#le

FEEEBLEN
BERHZESRAREBENFRANAERET A
B

FEEEREEN

BERHZERESNENFRNRERERDRX
e AR A RREERERRMEREEEE
REMZNEREA BRI - RERHELORAE
ERELHRERARN o

HELtHREF
Wﬁ%@ﬁim&@$%%'$%5%%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

NZERERHIT2HEBEARE YRUE
tEQE% PRBERNILERD - RIFBFEETE
MEGREERL AUBERT %ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁw
2RO LER - R DENEE (BREEN—KMEEN
%Y&ﬁ%%%%ﬁ'%ﬂ%ﬁ%iﬁ&%?ZﬁE%
BZRTFEZWHIDIK -

ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Construction contracts [continued)]
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown as
amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts where
progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as
amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts received
before the related work is performed are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position, as a liability, as advances received.
Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under
trade and other receivables.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent
rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each
element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that
both elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease is
classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease
payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments] are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leasing [continued)

Leasehold land and building [continued)]

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “land use rights” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over the lease term
on a straight-line basis except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value model.
When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as
a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised in the respective functional
currency at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise except for:

o exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating
to assets under construction for future productive use, which
are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded
as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency
borrowings;

o exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to
hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

o exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies [continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group [(i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit
or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of
associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund scheme ("MPF
Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong. MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme in accordance with the principle of Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. Under the rules of MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are required to contribute 5% of the
employee’s salaries, up to a maximum of HK$1,500 per employee per
month (HK$1,250 per employee per month on or before 31 May 2014).
The assets of MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
group companies in an independently administered fund.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the respective local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to these
schemes to make the specified contributions.

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of
the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in
note 34 to the Group's consolidation financial statements.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements [continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions [continued)

Share options granted to employees [continued)]

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(employee share-based compensation reserve). For share options
that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss. At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled employee benefits
reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in employee share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation” as reported in the
consolidated income statement because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination] of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the
initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included
in the accounting for the business combination.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than properties under construction as described
below] are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other
than construction in progress less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Buildings under development for future owner-occupied purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for production or for
administrative purposes, the amortisation of land use rights provided
during the construction period is included as part of costs of buildings
under construction. Buildings under construction are carried at cost,
less any identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are in the
location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management).
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation (including properties under construction for such
purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values using the fair
value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

Property under construction or development for future use as an
investment property is classified as investment property under
development and is initially measured at cost and subsequently at fair
values using the fair value model. If the fair value cannot be reliably
determined, the investment property under development will be
measured at cost until such time as fair value can be determined or
development is completed, in which time any difference between the
fair value and the carrying amount will be recognised in profits or loss
in that period.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset] is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

Impairment on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment on tangible assets [continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Properties for sale

Properties for sale includes properties under development and
properties held for sale which are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

The carrying value of properties for sale comprises the costs of land
use rights together with development expenditure, which includes
construction costs and borrowing costs capitalised.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale.

The Group transfers a property for sale to investment property when
there is a change of intention to hold the property to earn rentals or/
and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course
of business, which is evidenced by the commencement of an
operating lease to another party. Any difference between the fair value
of the property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount
is recognised in profit or loss.

ERERERA
China Resources Land L|m|ted

143



144

%
4

.
L

¢

TEETHER(E)

Bt

R R AR T RIE 2 BEE T - R
RAMET AR - TERBERTEN(EH
E B SRR R BT B BB -

Bk
EARERBEEHMARRARECEARIEE)
MAKEA EARTHRR RN S b %R
RECZeRR  NewREeE -

BRARBE RN BERAREHABRAL LA
BRETHBREEL  HENRARELAFRELR
st - MBRBERENREREARERER
B UEREEARSTREREZRE(HEBLERE
HEECYEREX) -

¢MIA
EREERKATATORXZTNNE  AlERE
HEERERARE

CREENESRABELRATENE - BB
TeRMEERERBBE(RATEMFABRZEREE
REBARRIN MERRE XA RERER
BMAZEEREEXERAR L AFHERLPME
(RAEER) - ARBRATEF ARG EREE
RERWAEMEREE X INE - BEREGER o

EHEE

EREENBANTHER  AfHESREESR
BERRERER - 2 BRTEREECHERAN
IRNIRERRET - IERERTABERLEZ
EREE BEXFAEBETEIRK LR - K
BRNABRIHEZEREEERERBTR LR
I ERIRE ¢ HEARNEE -

—Z-REEHE
Annual Report 2015

ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Other inventories

Other inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is materiall.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories:
available-for-sale ("AFS”) financial assets and loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets [continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as
available-for-sale or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b)
held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified as AFS
financial assets and are traded in an active market are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the carrying
amount of AFS monetary financial assets relating to interest income
calculated using the effective interest method and dividends on AFS
equity investments are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in
the carrying amount of AFS financial assets are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of other
reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
other reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy
in respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an
active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and
derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such
unquoted equity investments are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets
below).
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets [continued)

Loans and receivables

LLoans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, amounts due from intermediate holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and non-
controlling interests, cash and bank balances are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate,
except for short-term receivables where the recognition of interest
would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the security below its cost is considered to be objective

evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

. breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation; or

o disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets [continued)]

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period, observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods (see the accounting policy below).

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When trade and other receivables are considered uncollectible, they
are written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative
gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does
not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets [continued)

Impairment of financial assets [continued)]

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses previously
recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of other reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts due
to the ultimate holding company, intermediate holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and non-controlling
interests, bank and other borrowings and senior notes are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest
expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments [continued)]

Financial guarantee contracts

Afinancial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of obligation under the contract, as determined in
accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets; and

(i)  the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
revenue recognition policies.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it
may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’'s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.
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LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety, the
Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset
between the part it continues to recognise, and the part it no longer
recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the
date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount
allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the
consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any
cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues
to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the
basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Critical Accounting Judgement and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations, that the directors of the Company have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.
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S B IMAMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical Accounting Judl?ement and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty [continued)

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies (continued)
Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the directors
of the Company have reviewed the Group's investment property
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment properties are
held under a business model whose objectives is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in
measuring the Group's deferred taxation on investment properties,
the directors of the Company have determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
As a result, the Group has recognised the deferred taxes on changes
in fair value of investment properties on the basis that the Group is
subject to enterprise income tax. The carrying amount of deferred
taxation on investment properties at 31 December 2015 was
HK$10,062,392,000 (2014: HK$9,148,207,000).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties, including those completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction, are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at their fair value,
details of which are disclosed in note 17. The fair value of the
investment properties was determined by reference to valuations
conducted on these properties by independent firms of property
valuers using property valuation techniques which involve certain
assumptions of prevailing market conditions. Favourable or
unfavourable changes to these assumptions may result in changes in
the fair value of the Group's investment properties included in the
consolidated statement of financial position and corresponding
adjustments to the changes in fair value reported in the consolidated
income statement.
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LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical Accounting Jud&ement and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty [continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such difference will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provision in the year in which such
determination is made. Deferred tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.

PRC Land appreciation taxes ["LAT"]

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. However, the implementation
and settlement of LAT varies among various tax jurisdictions in cities
of the PRC, and the Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and
payments with most of local tax authorities in the PRC. Accordingly,
significant judgement is required in determining the amount of LAT.
The Group recognised the LAT based on management’s best
estimates according to the understanding of the tax rules. The final
tax outcome could be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, and these differences will impact the taxation and tax
provisions in the years in which such taxes have been finalised with
local tax authorities.

Revenue
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

HET-A=T—ALFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

HECRRNE
RENRZESRARMEEERRERA

BEEE
B KBRS R

.
-
—E-RFERE
Annual Report 2015

BETT BB

HK$'000 HK$'000

(E=51)

(Restated)

Sale of developed properties 93,536,184 81,759,146
Rental income and property management

services income from investment properties 5,685,431 4,672,938

Hotel operations 969,134 809,540

Construction, decoration services and others 3,202,485 2,462,908

103,393,234 89,704,532
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment Information

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being
the chief operating decision makers ("CODM") of the Group, was
specifically focused on the segments of sale of developed properties,
property investments and management, hotel operations and
construction, decoration services and others for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment. These divisions
are the basis on which the Group reports its segment information
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss incurred before
taxation by each segment without allocation of income or expenses
which are not recurring in nature or unrelated to the CODM's
assessment of the Group’s operating performance, e.g. gain on
changes in fair value of investment properties, central administration
costs, share of profit of investments in joint ventures and associates
and finance costs. Segment revenues and results are the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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b 4 FEMBEIRRME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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1 If o
7. PEENE) 7. Segment Information (continued)
) PEREREE a) Segment revenues and results
AEBERUZBRREENRES c BaRER The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
AT : by reportable and operating segments:
BE-_T-AFT-A=t+-HLEE Year ended 31 December 2015
WERE BE X
HER RER R R A
BENE Property Construction,
Sale of investments BIELE  decoration
developed and Hotel services 58

properties management operations and others Consolidated
. |

BT AT BETFT BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
gz Revenue
OB ES External sales 93,536,184 5,685,431 969,134 3,202,485 103,393,234
E Result
DIEEE Segment results 24,723,773 2,355,014 (49,410 (67,895) 26,961,482
RABEMKA Unallocated other income 2,556,439
RENE 2 AFEZEKZE Gain on changes in fair value
of investment properties 4,602,361
RAOTS Unallocated expenses (975,213)
[EIERALOEREZFIE Share of profit of investments
in joint ventures 323,406
[EERBE N RIRE 2B Share of loss of investments
in associates (25,271)
B E R Finance costs (922,933)
BRE A A Profit before taxation 32,520,271
ey
&

1 5 4 ;ngn;a?lifﬁf 2015



LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. PEENE) 7. Segment Information (continued)
(a) PEREREEE) (a) Segment revenues and results [continued)]
BE-_T-MFT-A=t+-HLIEE Year ended 31 December 2014
WERE BE £
HER RER FRAs Al
BEYE Property Construction,
Sale of investments BIELE  decoration
developed and Hotel services 58

properties management operations and others Consolidated

AETT BT BETT BETT BETT
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
(g=351) (g=51) (f&=51)
(Restated) [Restated) (Restated)
Yega Revenue
e External sales 81,759,146 4,672,938 809,540 2,462,908 89,704,532
E4 Result
PEEE Segment results 20720636 2174329 (157.784)  (111,084) 22,626,097
RATEEABA Unallocated other income 1,139,194
BEME 2 NFEZFHRE Gain on changes in fair value
of investment properties 4,966,811
AP Unallocated expenses (596,832)
FEIEREEREREZFE Share of profit of investments
in joint ventures 66,339
[EERBE N FIRE 2 ER Share of loss of investments
in associates (4,042)
&R Finance costs (831,839)
A AR T Profit before taxation 27,365,728
9
@
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b4 AR ERME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
7. PEENE) 7. Segment Information (continued)
(b) HittpEEH (b) Other segment information
HE-Z-RFT-A=t—-HLFE Year ended 31 December 2015

R KR

MERERER REA
HEDBEYE Property Construction,
Sale of investments BB decoration
developed and Hotel services st
properties management operations and others Total
|
AT BETFT BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AEHE N AER Addition of interests in
associates 5,430,354 922,451 - 3,581 6,356,386
NERELEER Addition of interests in
joint ventures 472,470 36,395 - - 508,865
BARZ (M) Capital expenditures (Note) 371,403 8,914,476 453,004 49,744 9,788,627
WEREH Depreciation and amortisation 113,772 86,373 167,702 86,187 454,034
HUREESHE 2 Write-down of properties
for sale 786,009 - - - 786,009
BE_Z-NE+-A=+—HLEE Year ended 31 December 2014
B KRB
MERERER REHA
HEDRRYE Property Construction,
Sale of investments BIEE%  decoration
developed and Hotel services @5t
properties management operations and others Total
]
AR BT BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(g=51) (g=51) (8%5) (m=351)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
NERELEER Addition of interests in
joint ventures 770,256 7,644 - - 777,900
BAREY (M) Capital expenditures [Note) 108,750 14,077,914 1,790,637 58,224 16,035,525
& R Depreciation and amortisation 136,765 61,388 221,154 50,228 469,535
HUREESHE 2 1% Write-down of properties
for sale 20,103 - - - 20,103
Wizt - BAFEXTERTENE  BERIERF Note: The capital expenditures mainly represent additions to property,
EREYE - plant and equipments and additions to investment properties.
Sl
L
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SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. Segment Information (continued)
() HRASEBBN%ONEIRETELSE [c]  No geographical segment analysis is prepared as more than 90%

of the Group's revenue are derived from activities in and from
customers located in the PRC and more than 90% of the carrying
values of the Group’s non-current assets, excluding deferred
taxation assets, amount due from a joint venture, amount due
from a non-controlling interest and available-for-sale
investments, amounting to HK$108,402,620,000 (31 December

2014: HK$92,734,855,000], are situated in the PRC.

(d #HE-Z-FE+-A=+-HIt5E ¥& (d)  There is no single customer contributes more than 10% of the

B-RE AL 10% M L (Z2—MmF :

E)-

8. HiBAREtH®

none).

Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014:

8. Other Income and Other Gains

HET-A=T—RALFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

MEBA
HERENFEL 2
HE-MaghE s
HEMBRRZKE

RIFLE —RMB AR 2 Wa
REBAHER  EERRRE

B HER
B a3
Hfth

Interest income

Gain arising on disposal of investment properties

Gain on disposal of a joint venture
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary
Bargain purchase gain recognised in
a business combination
Government grants
Exchange gain, net
Others

BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(E=5)

(Restated)

923,696 661,405
26,991 72,989
95,094 94,498
428,118 -
425,156 -
28,002 -
22,001 71,919
164,002 21,173
443,379 217,210
2,556,439 1,139,194

A
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9. EXHE 9. Directors’ Emoluments
ERZENFTRE(ZE—NE: +R8)ESZM The emoluments paid or payable to each of the fourteen (2014
ST : sixteen) directors were as follows:
BE-Z-AFE+-R=+—RILFEE Year ended 31 December 2015
Fees Other emoluments
B ek RIKGER

FHTESR EAER SHEIfER
FHTES Independent Salaries Contribution

WITES Non- non- and  todefined
Executive executive executive other contribution Fok]
directors directors directors benefits scheme Total
|
BETT BETFT BT BETT BT BETT
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
RAR Wu Xiang Dong 152 - - 7,623 90 7,865
EE Tang Yong 72 - - 6,009 168 6,249
A Yu Jian 72 - - 3,257 b6 3,395
] Yan Biao - - - - - -
HXE Du Wenmin - - - - _ _
T2R Ding Jie Min - - - - - _
Bl Wei Bin - - - - _ _
K Chen Ying - - - - - -
IE Wang Yan - - - - - -
A Wang Shi - - 200 - - 200
Bk Andrew Y Yan - - 200 - - 200
BEEE Ho Hin Ngai - - 200 - - 200
FiRH Wan Kam To Peter - - 200 - - 200
BEE Ma Wei Hua - - 200 - - 200
296 - 1,000 16,889 324 18,509
Sl

-
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LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

9. Directors’ Emoluments [continued]
“A=t—HL%E Year ended 31 December 2014
ik Hini e
Fees Other emoluments

By ek RINEF

FRITES HitizFl BE 58

JHITES Independent Salaries Contribution

WITES Non- non- and  todefined
Executive executive executive other contribution Fok]
directors directors directors benefits scheme Total

|

BETT BETT AR BETT BT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
Wu Xiang Dong - - - 6,080 156 6,236
Tang Yong 80 - - 4,991 156 5,227
Yu Jian 40 - - 550 28 618
Wang Hong Kun - - - 1,336 49 1,385
Yan Biao - 80 - - - 80
Du Wenmin - - - - - -
Ding Jie Min - 80 - - - 80
Wei Bin - - - - - -
ChenYing - 80 - - - 80
Huang Dao Guo - - - - - -
Wang Yan - 40 - - - 40
Wang Shi - - 200 - - 200
Andrew Y Yan - - 200 - - 200
Ho Hin Ngai - - 200 - - 200
Wan Kam To Peter - - 200 - - 200
Ma Wei Hua - - 200 - - 200
120 280 1,000 12,957 389 14,746

BE-Z-AFT-A=T-HIFER ~EE=F
MEEEHE(CT—WNF: =%) HESFAMA
FREMARRAMPREF RS (—F—MF &)

EXFTHITES

MeHEEFRRERADTRA

SEZEREHRERSE - EXMTHFANTEZRE
UFATEEME NI EY RREREARAES -

During the year ended 31 December 2015, six of the directors have
waived the directors’ emoluments (2014: three] and none of the
directors have received any inducement pay for joining or upon joining

the Company (2014: none).

The executive directors” emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The emoluments of the Non-Executive
Directors and Independent Non-Executive Directors shown above
were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

9

\ 4
EWEHERAT |
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10. EEME 10. Employee’s Emoluments
AEERESRFMALEEME(ZZ—0F - @) Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two
ARAES  EMeHR LMo HBp=%(=% (2014: two) were directors of the Company whose emoluments are
—E: ZZ)ATZBEmT included in the disclosures in note 9 above. The emoluments of the

remaining three (2014: three) individuals were as follows:

HE+ZA=+—-BItFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014
BT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
HeLEMET Salaries and other benefits 14,374 12,473
FREHFRET B Contributions to defined contribution schemes 470 436
14,844 12,909

ZH(ZEEE: ZR) AT ZMENT THIEE The emoluments of these three (2014: three) individuals were within

the following bands:

HET-A=T—BLFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014
S8 4,500,001 T 2781 5,000,000 7 HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 3
7B 4,000,001 LR 4,500,000 70 HIK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 -
3 3
1. BBEHR 11. Finance Costs

HET-A=+-BLFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014
BB BB
HK$'000 HK$'000
(&=31)
(Restated)

ROTER  AERRBLREZHE Total interests and bank charges on bank
RIRTTU E asE borrowings, other borrowings and senior notes (4,430,685) (3,606,768)

R BRPHEHEENE ERRANER Less: Amount capitalised in properties under
ERTREREAZ &R development for sale, investment

properties under development and
construction in progress 3,251,328 2,832,909
(1,179,357) (773,859)
B 5 e/ (B518) Exchange gain/(loss) 256,424 (57,980)
(922,933 (831,839

b
—E-RFERE
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12. FigHiBxX

12. Income Tax Expenses

HE+ZA=+—-BItFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(E=3))
(Restated)
PERRx 8% The income tax expenses comprise of:

BRAER Hong Kong Profits Tax (358) (4)

RBICEMEE ([EMETR) PRC Enterprise Income Tax [“EIT") and
RIEMAEH withholding income tax (5,837,924) (4,679,958)
THIEER LAT (5,720,350) (4,246,731)
ERERIE Deferred taxation (1,583,960) (1,960,103)
(13,142,592) (10,886,796}

(a) BENEH (a) Hong Kong Profits Tax

BAEFGH DREERBAEL165%(=ZF
—PO%F : 16.5%) KO EFE -

EERREHR
REPECERERE(RERERE]D) R
EREREREGED  BZ2FN\F-A—AR
BASREETEFBRRMBEA25% -

(b) (b)

(c) HEFEAREH
RPBERINARAEBIMEESRE-F
TNF—A—BERRZAEOR S - 10%
B RS THERMMAEH - SR ENBRR
REBEMR UKL ELTAPEEFETL
MRBHROZHRENERERRAMNE 7
R 5% MBRERIBHE

(c)

T ER

TR ET B A TR BAR R B BOR B R P
o RE A - T REREREER I RE
REGEERE BAETUHNRER -

(d) (d)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) of
the estimated assessable profits.

EIT

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law"] and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25%
from 1 January 2008 onwards.

PRC withholding income tax

PRC withholding income tax of 10% shall be levied on the
dividends declared by the companies established in the PRC to
their foreign investors out of their profits earned after 1 January
2008. A lower 5% withholding tax rate may be applied when the
immediate holding companies of the PRC subsidiaries are
incorporated or operated in Hong Kong and fulfil the
requirements to the tax treaty arrangements between the PRC
and Hong Kong.

LAT

The provision for LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of progressive
rates of the appreciation value, with certain allowable
deductions.

h
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12. FiBHiR% (&) 12. Income Tax Expenses [continued)

le) WIS (e) Overseasincome tax
ARARREHERERSHBEEERENR The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
AEAMK L AEHEERDA - Al E#H exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
SEMFSREMEN - AARREBRE LR Law, Cap. 22 of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is exempted
BRUIZMBRARAREEBREAHEEREE from Cayman Islands income tax. The Company’s subsidiaries
REVERMRYL - Bt BREBHEBE X in the British Virgin Islands were incorporated under the

HEMEH - International Business Companies Act of the British Virgin
Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from British Virgin

Islands income tax.
(fl  FERAERREXEGERERAERTAET (f]  The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the
ZHEWMT profit before taxation per the consolidated income statement as

follows:

HE+ZA=+—-BItFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(E=3))
(Restated)
BRTt A& Profit before taxation 32,520,271 27,365,728
" EIEREERERE 2 FIE Less: share of profit of investments in joint ventures (323,406 (66,339)
i EERBEARRE BB Add: share of loss of investments in associates 25,271 4,042
32,222,136 27,303,431
BB R 25% (= — 04 : 25%) Tax charge at effective rate of 25% (2014: 25%)

HEZHERY (8,055,534) (6,825,858)
HBARTRRR 2 Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 52,923 (63,227)
NEIB A 2 B2 Effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose (510,419) (363,524)
BERBMA 2 Bt 2 Effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 235,988 110,657
AERREBEREREB BB E Effect of tax losses and temporary differences not

recognised (224,585) (108,348)
THIEER C BBR 2 Tax effect of LAT 1,430,088 1,061,683
THIEER LAT (5,720,350) (4,246,731)
hERHAEH PRC withholding income tax (333,418 (470,264)
Hity Others (17,285) 18,836
AEEHEHAY Income tax expenses for the year (13,142,592) (10,886,796)

lf
&

1 6 2 ;ngnga?lifﬁf 2015
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13. ERRF

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13. Profit for the Year

HE+ZA=+—-BItFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

BT BETT

HK$'000 HK$'000
(RE3I)
(Restated)
AN E R THIRIE - Profit for the year has been arrived at after
charging the following items:
BINA(BEESHE) Staff costs, including directors” emoluments 4,132,627 2,983,579
REMFEE 2 RN A Costs related to defined contribution scheme 243,603 200,777
B LKA G Total staff costs 4,376,230 3,184,356
BRBHX 2 HEE 2 MFEREMFEAR Cost of properties for sale and other inventories
recognised as expenses 60,297,393 513,55/, 123
LGl Auditor’s remuneration 4,439 4,434
MEMERE Operating lease payments 82,673 99,692
BIRRSHE 2 Y1 Write-down of properties for sale 786,009 20,103
mE - WERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 428,445 450,780
LitfE RS Amortisation of land use rights 25,589 18,755
4. BRE 14. Dividends

HE+ZA=+—-BItFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
“Z-RFHERE - BREBEREELTIL 2015 interim dividend, HK8.7 cents (2014: HK8.5
(ZT—mF - BHs51l) cents) per ordinary share 599,534 494,097
T AFRRASRE - SRLEREE4871L 2015 final dividend, proposed, of HK48.7 cents
(22— - B8 41.000) (F5E) (2014: HK41.0 cents) per ordinary share (Note) 3,375,368 2,840,865
3,974,902 3,334,962

Wi R-F-—ANF=A-+—HET2EFCLHF &
FeRERNEE - F—AFt-A=1—HIFE
IR AR IR B R E BB 4871l - 25 B
#93,375,368,0007C + Wt SERAK L AR ATH B BR D
21H 693093957951 E - BERETFAR U ZLRE
HBHEZTRBEEMEE  BHEREARTEE=F
—NEFZA= AU FRZEE I FRE R

B2 _F—WE+ A=+ AILEROFERES
REBRBW 41,010 - 4851B1492,840,865,0007T
BRZF—RENAZAZARARFBEA S FH
B UREFERSLT

Note: At a meeting held by the Board on 21 March 2016, the Board proposed a
final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2015 of HK48.7
cents per ordinary share of the Company, totalling approximately
HK$3,375,368,000 based on the latest number of ordinary shares of
6,930,939,579 shares of the Company. This proposed dividend is not
reflected as a dividend payable in these consolidated financial statements,
but will be reflected as a profit appropriation in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ending 31 December 2016.

A final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2014 of HK41.0 cents per
ordinary share, totalling approximately HK$2,840,865,000 has been
approved in the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 3 June 2015 and
paid during the year.

h

L
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15. BREF 15. Earnings per Share
ADRERAEESREAREERMNE T BB The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
& attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

HE+ZA=+—-BItFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(lw=31)
(Restated)
27 Earnings
FETEBREAREERT 2 BF Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted
(RARBEAR AEGFERRT]) earnings per share (profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company) 17,527,459 15,140,938

HET-A=+—BLFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

(iw=31)
(Restated)
RAGEE Number of shares
FIETESREARBR 2 IMETH L ERHE  Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of basic earnings per share 6,762,139,237 6,530,678,387
Bk BEET L RRNY R Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
on share options 2,303,920 4,604,358
Rt EEREERMN 2 METHLERHE  Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of diluted earnings per share 6,764,443,157 6,535,282,745
ARARMA AR ABIRZH THH K The Company issued 699,595,789 ordinary shares as part of the
BB MEITA 699,595,789 L @Ak - it 3 H L@k consideration for the acquisition of Acquired Businesses which are
ERREAFTEEZ_Z—RFt-A=T—8K under common control and accounted for using merger accounting,
ZE-METZA=T-RAILFEZMETHLRR the ordinary shares issued are included in the calculation of the
YH MUZELARFTRERBENEEEE-Z weighted average number of shares for year ended 31 December
—mE—-A—HBLRER 2015 and 31 December 2014 as if these ordinary shares are issued
and the acquisition of the Acquired Businesses had completed on 1
January 2014.
b
L
—E-RFERE
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6. 1% BERRE 16. Property, Plant and Equipment
BEMEEE
Ve
Leasehold HEIR
AEE improvements, 78 Construction
Hotel BF  furniture and Motor in &t
properties Buildings equipment vehicles progress Total
|
AR AR TR AR AR AR
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
B cosT
RZT—MF—A—B(EEF]) At1January 2014 [restated) 2,935,041 1,467,020 1,562,192 175,294 1,305,594 7495141
EH AR Exchange realignment (1638) (6.679) (2897) (1,024) (5,902) (16,140)
= Additions = 45968 167,273 28532 1.366,148 1,607,921
#BRE/(B)RENE Transfer from (to] properties for sale - 22038 - - (90341) (68.303)
EEd Transfer 1,086,114 46,734 58935 = (1,191,783) =
HE Disposals - - (18936) (19,701) - (38,637)
RZZ—MEFE+=-A=F+—H  At31 December 2014 restated)

(= E=51) 4,019,917 1,577,081 1,766,567 183,101 1433716 8,979,982
R Bxchange realignment (237612) (96,032) (112,247) (10,240) (105,364) (561,495)
NE Additions 17177 285014 195,40 8114 349,579 855,289
IR A REES Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries - - 2176 108 - 2284
EEEHEE 7 YE Transfer from properties for sale - 37152 - - 180,128 217280
EEt Transfer - 42175 - - (62.175) -
HE Disposals - - (26,090) (13.475) - (39.565)
R=F-HE+=A=+—8 Al December 2015 908 1BEI0 IBEI 1608 1858 94T
REE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
RZZ-mF—A—H At 1 January 2014 [restated)

(z=51) 480,204 292534 708,127 114,668 - 1,595,533
[ R Exchange realignment (1127) (714) (1,494) (309) - (3,644)
KEERE Provided for the year 104,303 76,413 239,487 30,577 - 450,780
R Eliminated on disposals - - 9173) (14,417) - (23,590)
R-Z—WFE+=-A=+—H  At31 December 2014 [restated)

(&5 583,380 368,233 936,947 130,519 - 2,019,079
PEH BE Exchange realignment (54,234) (9.806) (63,118) (7838) - (134,996)
KEERE Provided for the year 146,583 58,014 209,39 14,452 - 428 445
RS Eliminated on disposals - - (13,736) (4,386) - (18122
RZZE—RF+_FA=F+—H  At31 December2015 675,729 416,441 1,069,489 132,747 - 2,294,406
BREE CARRYING VALUES
RZZ—RF+-A=+—H  At31December2015 3,123,353 1428949 76,322 34,861 1,815,884 7,159,369
R-Z—WFE+=-A=+—H  At31 December 2014 [restated)

(&5 3,436,137 1,208,848 829,620 52,582 1433716 6,960,903
RZZ—ME—F—H(EEF]) At1January 2014 restated) 2,454,837 1,174,486 854,065 60,626 1,355,594 5,899,608

%
.
EMEHERAT
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R=F-BAR-F-ME+-A=t-AZERT
REBRAFERRT 2BENE -

LHin%x  BERRERE (ERIRRN HERE
BOERAMBATERFE & R RAEER AT
BE #EMT:
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LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Construction in progress as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 mainly
represented the hotel properties which are under construction in the
PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method, as follows:

Hotel properties and buildings 20 to 40 years
Leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment 5years
Motor vehicles Syears
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17. Investment Properties

ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AYE

RZT-—MmE—F—A (&S5

B 51 AR

nE
MERRENFBEEKRENE

MEHEZNEEA (M d)

BREHEE MR (e
RESRARENEATEFEY

e

Fair value

At 1 January 2014 (restated)

Exchange realignment

Additions

Transfer from investment properties
under construction to completed
investment properties

Transfer from properties for sales
(Note d)

Transfer to properties for sales (Note €

Net change in fair value of investment
properties recognised in profit or loss

Disposals

RZZ—ME+=— A=+—1 (&&7]) At 31 December 2014 (restated)

B 5t R
NE
mtHE 2 MEBA (HiEd)

MERRENFBEENRANR

RERHERRENZATELFEY

HE
R-ZE—8F+=-A=1+—H

Exchange realignment

Additions

Transfer from properties for sales
(Note d)

Transfer from investment properties
under construction to completed
investment properties

Net change in fair value of investment
properties recognised in profit or loss

Disposals

At 31 December 2015

EREEME
ERIREYE Investment
Completed properties
investment under a5t
properties construction Total
BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
39,743,508 20,694,670 60,438,178
(83,279] (54,195) (137,474)
237,399 13,807,951 14,045,350
9,650,345 (9,650,345 =
702,231 260,693 962,924
(59,818) (945,744) (1,005,562)
3,098,305 1,868,506 4,966,811
(30,558 - (30,558]
53,258,133 25,981,536 79,239,669
(3,140,080 (1,518,949 (4,659,029)
343,222 8,511,571 8,854,793
320,629 = 320,629
17,024,469 (17,024,469) =
4,315,101 287,260 4,602,361
(39,352) - (39,352)
72,082,122 16,236,949 88,319,071
b
¥
EHEHARDA
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17. REWX(E)

B -
la)
(b)
ey
&
—E-AEEHE

FEBHAEESF
FEFZATEHEREYEETHE - FEFRE
YER-_F—AF+-A=1—HR=-F—WE+=
A=+ ANAFERREEERTERAA(ZF
—mEF+=A=+—0: tBHELFAHRRE])  —
EBUREELERBEN  ETHEEET

EREAGENE AARLEE T RYGEERE
RERzitin  HAAEB P HRFRHREMR -

1 ER M
EERAZ G E P ZOREERYR AL ERILE
ERRNE U REBYZR I S EIGE

ERHEZSRAEHEYR TS HERIIE
EEBEYFETLEAMN - FELRURENLER
HEETIT LBRME BB RKETRERET
W& WMEEE AIBEEMRE RITERAZH
RBIEILF -

WA LB B REREHENELZOFBELRA - I
BEFREOZEFSRNE)  REREZHER
FREEMEBETEE -

RERELIREEREFREE([REREE])
BHEARE L BERARAZARFIEAE - 41
EEE B RERE R BRERGE A&
REREELATEE - 15 BREA LA OFR
ERA - 2 BRER WBERBRABKA 5
MERBEER RFER S - BRKAGEEEEE
1B - IR EBYEZHE - EZXBANELN
AABH A TE—REA R B X E T -
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S B IMAMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17. Investment Properties (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b]

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value. The fair value
of the Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2015 and 31
December 2014 has been determined on the basis of valuation carried out
by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited (31 December 2014: CB Richard Ellis
Limited), an independent and professionally qualified valuer.

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the
management and valuer at least once every six months, in line with the
timing of Group's interim and annual reporting.

Valuation techniques

The valuation methodologies adopted in valuations include direct
comparison approach and income approach for the completed properties
and residual approach for the properties under construction.

The direct comparison approach involves the analysis of recent market
sales evidence of similar properties to compare with the premises under
valuation. Each comparable is analysed on the basis of its unit rate; each
attribute of the comparable is then compared with the subject and where
there is a difference, the unit rate is adjusted in order to arrive at the
appropriate unit rate for the subject.

The income approach operates by taking into account the rental income of
the property derived from the existing tenancy with due allowance for the
reversionary income potential of the tenancy, which are then capitalised into
the value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

The residual approach takes into account the residual value on the
completed gross development value ("GDV"] after deduction of the
outstanding construction costs and expenses as well as profit element. It
first assesses the GDV or estimated value of the proposed developments as
if completed at the date of valuation. Estimated cost of the development
includes construction costs, marketing, professional fees, finance charges,
and associated costs, plus an allowance for the developer's risk and profit.
The development costs are deducted from the GDV. The resultant figure is
the residual value of the subject property.



¢/

.
o
[

T [ | ol

4

17. RENE(E)

it - (&)

lc) — REEAFTBSHESERFEOEREN

B : Completed:
— A — Office
- TERAM — Retailand others
BRA Under development:
—TERMD — Retail and office

BT : Completed:
— R — Office
—TEREfM — Retail and others
BREA Under development:
—TERED — Retail and office

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17. Investment Properties (continued)

Notes: (continued)]

(c] Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable

inputs
RZE—H%F
+=R=+-8 fhat st FREE
ZATE BmEAE BmEde fhEHRT BERANE
Fair value BALE Assessed Assessed Estimated Estimated
asat Capital- prevailing prevailing percentage developer’s
31 December isation market market to profit
2015 rate rents rents completion margins
I
BB % BABTAK REFIA % %
ARBT BT
HK$'000 % RMB per sgm HK$ per sqm % %
per month per month
15,071,966 6t08 95t0 273 11310326 N/A N/A
57,010,156 6t09 29t0 694 3510828 N/A N/A
72,082,122
16,236,949 Tto8 59t 194 6610232 3410100 5to25
88.319,071
R=Z—MmF
+=A=+-A fhat fhat EHENE
ZATE BmERS BmEfe fREHR T EERAE
Fair value B & Assessed Assessed Estimated Estimated
asat Capital- prevailing prevailing percentage developer’s
31 December isation market market to profit
2014 rate rents rents completion margins
|
BETT % BABTHK BRAGTHA % %
ARBTT BB
HK$'000 % RMB per sgm HK$ per sqm % %
per month per month
9,616,444 6t09 70t 340 89 to 431 N/A N/A
43,641,689 5to 11 40t0 570 5Tt0 723 N/A N/A
53,258,133
25,981,536 Tt012 60t0 230 7610292 30to 100 5t0 35
79,239,669
"*l
2)&33%%[‘&"7
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17. REWX(E)

it : (%)

lc)  REEAFABEYESELFENEHE (E)
R B I L PR B -
. EXLERT  AVEDE
. RrEEERE  ATERE

. BRI HA LA A FERE
. A EREARFERE A VERE -

ld — FEEEXETETHEZFS  ELYERTEE
BB BNRA LETUARE A - BB R Y% it i
EZYLERERENE - FEHNAEER  YEL
FEERKEEZ Yo E%3716760007T (= F—0
E BIEBE1737700007T) I ARBEYEZ A FE
28 VERERER -

le]  AEEEXETETREWEZAE ELYFEH
GER UREFEHE  AnEHABRANEER
EHHEEZNE - FEFIEER REVERER
EOZAFERFREKESREGHEYFMAL

) REEZREGEAFHEORE -

18. T fE FIRE

TiERERRAEREBLRPEZEEDERE
FZHRBEEROZBNHE

.
-
—E-RFERE
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LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17. Investment Properties (continued)

Notes: (continued)]

18.

lc]

(d)

le)

[

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (continued)
Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value:

. The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value;

J The higher the prevailing market rents, the higher the fair value;

o The higher the estimated percentage to completion, the lower the
fair value;

o The higher the estimated developer’s profit margin, the lower the
fair value.

The Group had changed the use of certain properties, of which had
commenced the operating lease to outsiders during the year. Accordingly, it
results in a transfer from property for sales to investment properties. On
the date of reclassification, the gain of HK$371,676,000 (2014: loss of
HK$173,770,000) between the fair value of the properties and its carrying
amount have been included in changes in fair value of investment properties
and recognised in profit or loss.

The Group had changed the use of certain investment properties, of which
had commenced development with a view to sale during the year.
Accordingly, it results in a transfer from investment properties to properties
for sales. On the date of reclassification, the fair value of the investment
properties at the date of transfer becomes the deemed cost for subsequent
accounting of the properties for sales.

The investment properties are situated in the PRC under medium-term
leases.

Land Use Rights

Land use rights represent up-front prepayment made for operating
leases related to the hotel properties and buildings located in the PRC
of the Group.
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19. RBENTZRE 19. Investments in Associates
—T-hfF —TJF —T-|mF
+=A=1+—H +=A=+—H —A—A
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BT BRI BRI
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
JEETRERAR Cost of investments, unlisted 6,369,049 12,663 13,137
FEME IR R R E i 2 E Share of post-acquisition profits and
other comprehensive income (76,225) (4,046) =
6,292,824 8,617 13,137
AEEZHERRAR_E-AF+T_A=+T—HZ& Particulars of the Group's associates as at 31 December 2015 are set
BERHIE43(d) out in note 43(d).
—HEABENRZHBERBE Summarised financial information of a material associate
AEESABE LR DR MERMEREERA Summarised financial information in respect of _E/&FE5A i & B b E
Al([ B 2 s E R 2 HIE M T - HEBR A A (" _E/EZEEEL), the Group's material associate, is set
out below.
MBS RAIRAEG AR BREEREDEAR - This associate is accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements:

“T-1F
+-A=+—H

31.12.2015
BETT
HK$'000

REEE Current assets 10,778,932
FRBEE Non-current assets 49
mEARE Current liabilities (12,722)

FEnEaE Non-current liabilities (4,177,705)

EES
+=A=+-H
5

Year ended
31 December

2015

e
HK$ 000
Wega Revenue -
FRNEEREM R ERE Loss and other comprehensive income for the year (11,824)
W
o

EHERERLT
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ﬁ SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19. RBENRAZRE(E) 19. Investments in Associates [continued)
—BEABENAZHEENBRE(E) Summarised financial information of a material associate
[continued)
B BERMEENG AN ERRAEAREZ D Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
Al iR 2 AR EE 0K carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

“T-hfF

+=A=1+-R

31.12.2015

BRI

HK$'000

BERFEE Net assets of /&5, 6,588,554

REER DR, R R L Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in _E /253, 50%

AEER BEEL E 2 FAE Carrying amount of the Group's interest in = /&2E54 3,294,277
ERABMERRATENSARRERU X% 945 The material associate is principally engaged in similar activities as
EMERRFEARBEE HAI2HEHRTE - the Group and is strategic to the Group’s activities as property

development. Its principal place of business is the PRC.
CHEHNEAZHE AR 2 RAER Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

material

HET-A=t—-BLFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$ 000
AEEREHEREM2EKS The Group's share of loss and other
comprehensive income (66,267) (4,046)
AEBRNZEHE R 2 Em  REAE Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
interests in these associates 2,998,547 8,617
20, REELEZRE 20. Investments in Joint Ventures
—ZT-1F “T-mF —T-mF
+=A=t-8 +=A=t-H —A—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BT BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(m=5))
(Restated)
FEETRERA Cost of investments, unlisted 3,109,108 2,600,243 1,822,343
FEfE IR R E A R E i 2 Share of post-acquisition profits and
other comprehensive income 1,125,402 942,198 1,085,559
4,234,510 3,542,441 2,907,902
AEBZEEMER-E-RFTA=T—RZF Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures as at 31 December 2015 are
BRI 43(c) ° set out in note 43(c).
Sl
o
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200 REEL¥vRE(E)
—HEAAE LY HBENEE
REEEAALNE LBAREERRAR( LER
)2 EEREBFIEINT o

20. Investments in Joint Ventures [continued)

Summarised financial information of a material joint venture
The summarised financial information in respect of HEBREZERA
)" £/B#%"), the Group’s material joint venture is set out below.

HAECENREFAMBRRERRDEIANEK

This joint venture is accounted for using equity method in these
consolidated financial statements:

“T—hE —T-mE
+=A=1+-H +=A=1+-H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014
BETT BRI
HK$'000 HK$'000
MBEE Current assets 1,612,768 3,214,305
FRBEE Non-current assets 2.384,957 2,154,167
MEARE Current liabilities (682,531) (2,115,264)
FrRBarE Non-current liabilities (365,652) (593,615)
HtBERABSEOENTEE: The above amounts of assets and liabilities
include the following:
HeRBe%E Cash and cash equivalents 245,230 634,311
RBETRAR Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and
(T FEREMRZ R E I ERIA K ) other payables and provisions) - (80,754)
FnDeRaE Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade
(T REEMES R AR EREREE) and other payables and provisions) - (312,919)
HE+-A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December
2015 2014
BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$ 000
Weza Revenue 2,803,758 -
FmEh (B8 REM2EREE Profit (loss) and other comprehensive income
for the year 289,948 (21,957)
BitaMaEATEE : The above profit for the year include the following:
e REH Depreciation and amortisation (3) (2)
FIBMA Interest income 4,197 6,354
FIERY Interest expense (43) (19)
PSRRI X Income tax expense (179,819) (4,189)
Yl
"

EHERERLT
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ﬁ' SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. REELECRE(E 20. Investments in Joint Ventures [continued)
—BEARELECHBERBESE) Summarised financial information of a material joint venture
[continued)]
TR BEMBERARN G BRRNERNAAE Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
Rz ER RAE B - carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

“E-h% —F-mE
+=A=1+—H +=A=1+—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014
BB AR
HK$'000 HK$'000
EBERFEAE Net assets of L&z 2,949 542 2,659,594
KREER HRn R R L Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in
st 50% 50%
1,474,771 1,329,797
[EES Goodwill 351,321 387,741
AEER HEn En REE Carrying amount of the Group’s interests in
bEEs 1,826,092 1,717,538
ERGECETENSAREEANU XY 91 % The material joint venture is principally engaged in similar activities
EMERRFHEARBEE HAI2HEHRTE - as the Group and is strategic to the Group’s activities as property

development. Its principal place of business is the PRC.

YEBREAZRELEREER Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
individually material

HET-A=1—RILEE
Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
AEEREET (B8 REt2E R The Group's share of profit (loss) and

other comprehensive income 38,230 (132,382)

AEERZERECE R RHAE Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
interests in these joint ventures 2,408,418 1,824,903

bt
o

1 7 4 i;ngnt:afliﬁefﬁf 2015



21.

PESE LMRARS - ROFE

HAEE - R

W BRERDAELER

22.

. &

U ¥
(R _*’f-n-

THHERE

at fair value

assets

PR EMRARS A FEDRERBERTSH
ERFLEMEFFEORBEENFXRTROBR
EREEFE -

AR LT ARERS  ARRAHE
BARGHEEEA  REAATEPRALATE
RERHE -

FRDEECRNRE

BREBRRASEGMETELERERIFRE
NERREFEAFEERNERINNBRNTE - B2
“E-RETA=t R FEENARGLE
R

21.

Other investments, at cost

22.

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Available-for-Sale Investments

Unlisted equity securities in the PRC,

Less: amounts included in current

—T-RHF sl —T-F
+=A=1+-8 +-A=t+-8 —A—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BB EBTT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
13,075 178,417 165,810

- 12,676 394,286

13,075 191,093 560,094

- - (381,567)

13,075 191,093 178,529

The fair value of unlisted equity securities in the PRC are based on the
forecasted cash flows discounted using a rate based on the market
interest rate and the risk premium specific to the unlisted securities.

Other investments represent unlisted equity securities in the PRC
which are measured at cost because the range of reasonable
estimates is so significant that the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

Prepayments for Non-Current Assets

Amounts represent the prepayments made by the Group for the
acquisitions of land use rights in the PRC for the development of
investment properties and properties held for own use. The land use
right certificates have not yet been obtained by the Group as at 31
December 2015.

i

¥

EHERERLT
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23. EEHE

REAMBRARC2IMNE ETEEREREE
RABETHREH - THARRERROBLEREHR

B

ELHIREE
EREHEAE

ATRAFEZ TEREHREE(RE)  HRFR

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. Deferred Taxation

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred income tax assets and liabilities

have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred income
tax balances at the end of the reporting period:

—T-RHF

t=A=t-H

Deferred taxation assets
Deferred taxation liabilities

AR RARE R AR -

“Z-mF—HA—A8 At 1 January 2014

(restated)
Exchange realignment
[Charge) credit to profit
or loss

At 31 December 2014
(restated)

Exchange realignment
[Charge] credit to profit
or loss

At 31 December 2015

31.12.2015

sl
TZA=1-A
31.12.2014

—T-F
—A—H
1.1.2014

BETT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
() (l&=5)

(Restated) (Restated)

691,596 475,690 431,415
(11,197,093) (9,924,005) (7,934,374)
(10,505,497) (9,448,315) (7,502,959)

The followings are the major deferred taxation assets (liabilities)

during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of
balances within the same tax jurisdiction:

HoRftAE 2
WEREMFX
EXCERER
Temporary
differences
arising
from the HEME AR
write-down 2R
of properties Undistributed
REMXE for sale BiBEE profits
Investment and other Tax of PRC @5t
properties expenses losses subsidiaries Total
|
BETT BETT BB BRI R
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(#=5) (7,773,162) 197,359 405,871 (333,027) (7,502,959)
R BE 24,726 (383) (9,596) = 14,747
(f18)/FARS
(1,399,771) 26,140 (132,637) (453,835) (1,960,103)
—TE
TZA=+-H
(#=51) (9,148,207) 223,116 263,638 (786,862) (9,448,315)
PEH BE 550,529 (2,924) (20,827) = 526,778
(f1R8)/FARS
(1,464,714) 164,634 20,695 (304,575) (1,583,960)
i S
TZRA=1— (10,062,392) 384,826 263,506 (1,091,437) (10,505,497)
"*l
_E REERE

Annual Report 2015
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23, EEBIE(E

it

la)

(b)

REF—RFEFT-A=+—H FZE£EEXREGHEHF
BIEEH2 6672280007 (—F—MEF—FA=+—FH :
B 11839558000 R = E—E—F—H : FH
2,150,280,0007T) AT A FEHL 5 H 14 FESR B 71l - B
JBHE1,054,024,0007T (= F—94F - B 1,054,553,000
TR=F—E—F—H : B8 16234840007 F
EEEERBEEHELE - AR AN AIEZRBH
WBFTZEHB L Al B85 FIZAE - MG
FEE BB 1613204000 (= FE—WEF=A
Z+—H : BK785005000T R =F—HFE—H—A :
B 526,796,000 7T ) BERELHBRE - HBERES
AEERE -

R-F—REF-A=+—H XEFYEFFEL
A A4 B M R % 8616,209,970,000 7T (= E — P9 4
FZH=+—H: EE201013050007T Rk =F—/m
E—H—H : B 16,170,844,0007T ) 1 HE4E B EHE
155 16810499,000 (ZF—HFE+=A=+—H:
B 1.005,065,000T R =F—HE—F—H : B
808,542000z) * REZ A EB #5185+ E 75

ZEEF

26, REEZME

EELHYES

HENR

Properties under development
Properties held for sale

HHEZNEURPE - TAPRBORE - mRf
HEZMERBURBERL T —EARKD - BA
SEEIREERACARE  HOIRRDEE -

(a)

(b)

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

. Deferred Taxation [continued)

Notes:

At 31 December 2015, the Group had unused tax losses of HK$2,667,228,000
(31 December 2014: HK$1,839,558,000 and 1 January 2014:
HK$2,150,280,000] available for offset against future taxable profits, of
which HK$1,054,024,000 (31 December 2014: HK$1,054,553,000 and 1
January 2014: HK$1,623,484,000] tax losses have been recognised as
deferred tax assets. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the
remaining tax losses of HK$1,613,204,000 (31 December 2014:
HK$785,005,000 and 1 January 2014: HK$526,796,000), as in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the future profit streams of these subsidiaries
are uncertain. The tax losses could be carried forward for a maximum of
five years.

At 31 December 2015, the Group has not made provision of deferred tax of
HK$810,499,000 (31 December 2014: HK$1,005,065,000 and 1 January 2014:
HK$808,542,000) for the unremitted earnings of the PRC subsidiaries of
HK$16,209,970,000 (31 December 2014: HK$20,101,305,000 and 1 January
2014: HK$16,170,844,000) as the Group does not have a plan to distribute
these earnings out of the PRC.

. Properties for Sale

—T-AHF

i
tTZA=1-A
31.12.2014

“T-F
—A—H
1.1.2014

t=A=t-HA
31.12.2015

BETT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
() (lg=5)

(Restated) (Restated)

150,546,955 152,864,291 137,385,441
37,792,703 33,537,909 24,131,225
188,339,658 186,402,200 161,516,666

The properties for sale were located in the PRC under medium-term
lease. Properties for sale which are expected to be recovered in more
than twelve months after the end of the reporting period are classified
under current assets as it is expected to be realised in the Group's
normal operating cycle.

h

L

EHERERLT

China Resources Land Limited
|

177



ﬁ' SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. BEWRR: - HMtEEWHRE - BAME 25. Trade Receivables, Other Receivables,
Al & Prepayments and Deposits

e S “T—F

+ZA=+-H —R—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014

BBTT BB BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&=51) (’=31)
[Restated) (Restated)
FEUERR (FizEa) Trade receivables (Note a) 878,604 497,339 776,987
w  REREE (i) Less: allowance for doubtful debts
(Note a) (116,611 (125,185) (136,756)
761,993 572,154 640,231
StEE i g 2 BNFUR Prepayments for acquisition of land
Cig) use rights (Note b) 6,768,361 12,846,755 16,320,996
H o EUBRIA (HizEc) Other receivables (Note c) 13,018,391 9,755,240 7,781,712
L RERREE (i) Less: allowance for doubtful debts
(Note ¢ (392,504) (508,453) (508,584)
12,625,887 9,246,787 7,273,128
BAFERE € (FizEd) Prepayments and deposits (Note d) 7,407,745 4,924,119 5,360,023
27,563,986 27,589,815 29,594,378
i Notes:
la]  ERES (a]  Trade receivables
HENEZ BUNBRREEGEAEFALN - — Proceeds receivable in respect of sale of properties are settled in
BilE  WFEEZEREERERCHNXAZ T8 accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase agreements.
RATEFAMEE - Generally, purchasers of properties are required to settle the balance within

30 days as specified in the sales and purchase agreements or not granted
with any credit period.

BHEYEZ EUNE  HEYFHLKARZES Except for the proceeds receivable from sale of properties, rental income

M ERTBGEREEB# I A EE from lease of properties and proceeds from construction contracts which

—MEHTELTHBISKESEH - are payable in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements, the
Group generally allows a credit period not exceeding 45 days to its
customers.

b
-
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25.

—5R
R —F

ERE Balance at the beginning of the year
[ AR Exchange realignment
ERRREEE Impairment losses recognised

E e R T R R B R

[ Y4
el ¥
e ¥

FEWBRSR - &
R4 (&)

it - (&)

HttEWARE - AR

lo  EUREF(E)
UTRBEHR (ENGRERE) 2 EWIRA 2 ke

27 ¢

Within one year
Over one year

AEFEW R 42 o e 12 AR E A2 ()5 20,602,000 T
(ZE—mEF+=F=1—H : 5¥176800007T %=
E—IE—F—H : B 15061000708 ERES
ZEENENEERZR—ERRFEHRE B
R E B (LR EE BRHE - A EE BRI

EXRRIGENZEN HEE -

REBE O EF5 B2 ERARE 116,611,000
T(ZE—AFE+=A=1+—H : &¥1251850007T
R-F—pmFE—F—H : FK13675%6,000) * 7%
EREFZ XA EEREEN BFER TN
[l o XEBV G ZF B/ E FH R - U T B

ERESRER G EBFHE

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. Trade Receivables, Other Receivables,

Prepayments and Deposits [continued)

Notes: (continued)]

(a)

Trade receivables (continued)
The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance of
doubtful debts] at the end of the reporting period:

—T-h% —TE —T-mE
+=A=1+—H +=A=1+—H —A—-A
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BETT BEFT BT
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

(1w =51) (7))

(Restated) (Restated)

625,193 467,875 550,375
136,800 104,279 89,856
761,993 572,154 640,231

Included in the Group's trade receivable balance are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of HK$20,602,000 (31 December 2014: HK$17,680,000 and
1 January 2014: HK$15,061,000] which are aged over one year and past due
at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss. The Group is entitled to take over the legal title and
possession of the underlying properties for re-sales.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$116,611,000 (31 December 2014: HK$125,185,000 and 1
January 2014: HK$136,756,000), which have been in severe financial
difficulties and irrecoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances. Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts for trade

receivables are as follows:

Impairment loss reversed due to collection

of receivables

FAMH Written off during the year
e Balance at the end of the year
o) BWEELIEREZ TR

ZELFRZ L EBET AR ERLEYFINIEL
HEBEMXTZRTHE - RESHA  AEEH
ARELHEAES

(b)

k113

—A-A

3. 122015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BRI BETT EETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
125,185 136,756 146,616
(7,235) (485) 4,543
364 321 2,063
(1,564) (11,331) (16,270)
(139) (76) (196)
116,611 125,185 136,756

Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights

The amount represents the prepayments made by the Group for the
acquisition of land use rights in the PRC for property development for sale.
The land use right certificates have not yet been obtained by the Group at
the end of the reporting period.

§)I§Eﬂtﬁ[‘ﬁ"7
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25. FEWERR - HMEWARE - BIFIE  25.
Jﬁ(%
Hiat - (8)

lc) — EtEREE
AELBTIZARRERYFEREE AR ER
EXZEETE  ARHREA THEERE -

H W FERLEEEENS  MAEERRZSIE
Yok 3 1 F AR — BB KA -

MT/’%EW@‘MZ%EF‘ —BFT-A=+-HZ
(B ?ﬂ/iﬁ%@%%) ZEEWREG R

—FR
BE—F

Within one year
Over one year

REBGEOEERRE L EMENKEEK
3925040007%(:15 /ﬂ7¢+ ZHA=1—H: ¥
508453000 R = FE—HFE—-—H—H: ¥
508,584,0007T) + ZEE Mt EREEZ XFNEEH
REEHBRHERTAWKE - ZEBTEMZHE
HEFHRR - U T BEMERFBRERGE
B -

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Trade Receivables, Other Receivables,
Prepayments and Deposits [continued)

Notes: (continued)]

[c)  Other receivables
The amount mainly includes temporary payments paid for potential
property development projects and project-related deposits which would be
refundable upon completion of the development projects.

There is no fixed repayment term for other receivables and the Group
considers they are repayable on demand and will be recovered in one year
from the date of advance.

The following is an aging analysis of other receivables (net of allowance for
doubtful debts] as at 31 December 2015 which are considered not impaired:

—T-5% —TE —T-mE
+=A=1+—A +=ZA=1+—H —A—-B
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BT BETT e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(1w =51) (z&31)

(Restated) (Restated)

7,025,249 3,554,313 6,956,082
5,600,638 5,692,474 317,046
12,625,887 9,246,787 7,273,128

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired other
receivables of HK$392,504,000 (31 December 2014: HK$508,453,000 and 1
January 2014: HK$508,584,000]), which have been in severe financial
difficulties. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts for other receivables are as
follows:

—E-mF
—A—H

31.12.2015 .12 ZOM 1.1.2014

BRI

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(a=3)) (’=31)

(Restated) (Restated)

FRE Balance at the beginning of the year 508,453 508,584 498,103

B 5 A% Exchange realignment (29,031) (131) 8,136
B e eI R A T Bl R B R Impairment losses reversed due to

collection of receivables - - (12,550)

FHsE Written off during the year (87,080) - -

AEEE Impairment losses 162 - 14,895

FRREER Balance at the end of the year 392,504 508,453 508,584

ld)  BNHERE
ZERLTREERARBINZ REE KRN EEH
REMHERBHE -

le]  AEEERBELIBRERERLR  THEERFES
REMERFEL EEEE  UBBOREEHRIE

"'ﬁl ML -

_E AEERE
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(d]  Prepayments and deposits
The amount mainly includes deposits paid for bidding projects and
prepayments of business tax and sale related other taxes.

le] The Group assessed the credit quality of trade and other receivables based
on historical default rates and the repayment records and considered
adequate allowance has been made at the end of the reporting period.
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26.

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Amounts due from (to) Customers for Contract
Works

—T-F
==
1.1.2014

-

+=A=1+—H
31.12.2015

TZA=1-A
31.12.2014

BBTT BB BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FRERTRREH): Contracts in progress at the end
of the year:
BEENIRRAMERR Contract costs incurred plus
SEAHE ERER recognised profits less recognised
losses 4,738,664 4,939,967 3,900,614
W EERE Less: progress billings (4,570,637) (4,771,285) (3,831,168)
168,027 168,682 69,446
SE2]EMFTIEDHT - Analysed for reporting purposes as:
EREFEHTIIZTIE Amounts due from customers for
contract works 330,086 268,119 210,461
ENEFPEHTIETE Amounts due to customers for
contract works (162,059) (99,437) (141,015)
168,027 168,682 69,446

27.

REE-Z-AF+-A=+-BIFEE Ak
¥ 246,386,0007( ZZ—4E : B#844,992,0007T)
BRER AR - E5%833,138,000 (=2 —M4F
1 425,219,0007) RE MR R B R ARG 2 EE
PR o

EUREERAR,/BZKELDQ
@4@%@"/%%@%73&%&
m A

RZF-RET-A=t—-B BREELERHFE
s 2 ERB BN BEER - BRTHHHNER
RBERBERGHEN -

RZZE-AF+-A=+—0 ZSEREFHZRA
Al REMBAR - AE0%  BEARRIEERE
BRERDLBL BEBEARREREER - BREEEY
6863419000 2 R E (AR AT —NEF=A
=1+—8: #%3351679000c k- T-—MFE—F—
B : #%1,906,321,00070) BEEI - RERRTTIS
RS

27.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, contract revenue of
HK$1,246,386,000 (2014: HK$844,992,000) is recognised as revenue,
of which HK$833,138,000 (2014: HK$425,219,000) arise from the
construction services provided to fellow subsidiaries.

Amounts due from Intermediate Holding
Companies/Fellow Subsidiaries/Joint
Ventures/Associates/Non-Controlling
Interests

As at 31 December 2015, the non-current portion of the amounts due
from a joint venture and a non-controlling interest are unsecured,
interest bearing at prevailing market interest rates, and repayable
according to respective loan agreements.

As at 31 December 2015, the current portion of amounts due from
intermediate holding companies, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures,
associates and non-controlling interests are unsecured and repayable
on demand. Except for the aggregate amounts of HK$6,843,419,000
(31 December 2014: HK$3,351,679,000 and 1 January 2014:
HK$1,906,321,000 respectively] which are interest-free, the remaining
amounts are interest bearing at prevailing market interest rates.

h
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28. BERBETER

R-E—AF+-A=+—0 RERBALEEE
BRAERENR01%E.20%(ZF—NF+=A
=+ —H:001%E30% K _E—NF—A—A:
001%Z620%) ;T B2 REBBIER ERaERE
MR L EEB44,703,023,000(ZE—MFE+ A
=+—8 : B%42,988,734000 Lk —E—MFE—F—
B : B#08,193,950,00070) * AR FREHIRTERE
#1171,862000C(ZF—MFE+=-A=1+—H : &
1868680000L X — T —MWE—F—H: B
729,245,0007T) - RBHBRITEREFEARAZEET
MERRBEEZIHMENZERARRZIEEES °

Re RFTHEFRATERE -

ot HK$

ARE RMB

e United States dollar ["US$")
Hft Others

ARBHESRLBRIINERAINESHERRTER
RASELTE  RETH AR RGN EBINEE
HIRB AR o

b

-
—E-RFERE
Annual Report 2015
|

28.

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Cash and Bank Balances

As at 31 December 2015, cash and bank balances comprise short-
term bank deposits carry interest at prevailing deposit rates which
range from 0.01% to 5.20% (31 December 2014: 0.01% to 3.05% and 1
January 2014: 0.01% to 6.20%) per annum, which included cash and
cash equivalents of HK$44,703,023,000 (31 December 2014:
HK$42,988,734,000 and 1 January 2014: HK$28,193,950,000) and
restricted bank deposits of HK$1,171,862,000 (31 December 2014:
HK$1,868,680,000 and 1 January 2014: HK$729,245,000). The
restricted bank deposits are mainly funds designated for relocating
existing residents on the lands of the Group's certain property
development projects.

The cash and bank balances are denominated in the following
currencies:

—ZTUF —T—F

+=-A=1+—H +=-A=1+-8 ==
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014

BETT BT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
() (&=5)

(Restated) (Restated)

1,077,285 2,640,396 1,177,351
44,617,833 41,243,462 27,241,867
179,750 973,539 503,960

17 17 17
45,874,885 44,857 414 28,923,195

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies
and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank
balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and
regulation of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.
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SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

29. Trade and Other Payables

—F-0fF —F-IF —FIF
+-A=+—-H +=A=+—H —A—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BETT BETT AETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(s=51) (2 531)
(Restated) (Restated)
NG EEN) Trade payables [Notes a and b) 37,120,183 35,533,212 27,846,992
H ot EATBRIA (M zEc) Other payables (Note cJ 14,253,051 10,150,015 8,252,901
51,373,234 45,683,227 36,099,893
Bis - Notes:

[ EEFTFHEEEATNFO0HZ60A -

) UTAREZEZEAH BEHKENFH 0 Fk 5
Vi

—FR Within one year
BBR—F Over one year

lc)  £FTREEBERIE  ENEGH  TUFRE
RIZ-

(a) The average credit period of trade payable is ranging from 30 to 60 days.

(b] The following is an aging analysis of trade payables at the end of the
reporting period based on the invoice date:

“T-h% E i Stk
+=A=+-AH T=ZR= —A—A
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BT BT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(1w =31) (i =5)

(Restated) (Restated)

26,728,996 28,584,159 26,036,844
10,391,187 6,949,053 1,810,148
37,120,183 35,533,212 27,846,992

e Amounts include mainly receipt in advance, other taxes payable, temporary
receipts and accrued salaries.

EHERERLT
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RZE-AF+-A=+—R0 EARKERAF-
REERAR - AEMBLAR  A%0%  BHELNF
FIEERERTEZ REHH AEERRERENE
B o R A G 728,944,000 T2 FIA(ZE—M4E
+-R=1H8: #%23246,151,000 Tk - E—MNF—
A—H : #%7739,1830007T) AL - HRERRTM
BRIEES

RZE-RF+-A=1+—FH EN+HEERAF-
RZAMBAR - BE LA RFERESTEZERD
BLARBERRERSBZEXNREREE - RBES
#831,024,000 L2 HE(ZE—MEF-A=1H %
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30.

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Amounts due to the Ultimate Holding Company/
Intermediate Holding Companies/Fellow
Subsidiaries/Joint Ventures/Associates/Non-
Controlling Interests

As at 31 December 2015, the current portion of amounts due to
ultimate holding company, intermediate holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and non-controlling interests
are unsecured and repayable on demand. Except for the aggregate
amounts of HK$8,728,944,000 (31 December 2014: HK$3,246,151,000
and 1 January 2014: HK$7,739,183,000 respectively) which are
interest-free, the remaining amounts are interest bearing at
prevailing market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2015, the non-current portion of amounts due to
an intermediate holding company, a fellow subsidiary, associates and
non-controlling interests are unsecured and repayable according to
respective loan agreements. Except for the aggregate amounts of
HK$831,024,000 (31 December 2014: HK$85,760,000 and 1 January
2014: HK$nil respectively) are interest-free, the remaining amounts
are interest bearing at prevailing market interest rates.
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3. MITREMEE 31. Bank and Other Borrowings
—T-1F —T-mF —T-mF
T=A=t+-H TZA=t+-H —A—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BT BB BB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(18 =71) (1&=51)
[Restated) (Restated)
HITEE Bank borrowings 49.419,671 65,065,266 59,767,690
HiEE Other borrowings 3,615,154 722,078 794,453
53,034,825 65,787,344 60,562,143
Pepiiei Secured 19,043,669 22,176,805 11,695,270
I Unsecured 33,991,156 43,610,539 48,866,873
53,034,825 65,787,344 60,562,143
RITREMEEZ The maturity of the bank and
FEBERATIT : other borrowings is analysed
as follows:
—FR Within 1 year 6,369,155 21,218,979 16,256,126
—R_F Between 1 and 2 years 8,214,749 16,195,944 25,220,480
—Zh%F Between 2 and 5 years 28,545,985 18,009,024 17,161,730
AENE Over 5 years 9,904,936 10,363,397 1,923,807
53,034,825 65,787,344 60,562,143
" mBAEMT—FN Less: amounts due within 1 year
B8z 7R shown under current liabilities (6,369,155) (21,218,979) (16,256,126)
FRBEEFIR—EREHZZE  Amounts due after 1 year shown
under non-current liabilities 46,665,670 44,568,365 44,306,017
KEB BITRAMEEU T ERHE - The Group’s bank and other borrowings denominated in the following
currencies:
=2 —Z- U =Z- U
+=A=1+—8 +=A=1+—A —A—8
31.12.2015 31.12.2014 1.1.2014
BETT BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(t=71) (l=31)
(Restated) (Restated)
B HK$ 10,450,000 28,807,843 36,447,843
ARE RMB 40,647,085 34,480,118 23,338,840
T Us$ 1,937,740 2,499,383 775,460
53,034,825 65,787,344 60,562,143
.
L
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31.

¢

RTREMEE (F)

RZE-—AF+-A=+-8 ROREAEELE
BYHEEEFRS06%( 2 NF+=-A=1+—8:
605% R =—F—WE—F—H:618%) it 82 ESME
BB 13,856,499,000C(ZE—ME+=-A=1+—F:
BH861285%, 00k T —WFE—F—H: #FE
6,408,876,0007C) RIZE BRI ERIE 4.45% (=T —11
F+-A=+-B 410k -T-NFE—F—8:
3.29%) 5t B2 F BAEE B 139,178,326,000L( =%
—ME+=A=1—H : 57174488000 T R =T
—@¢ A—H : #%54,153,267,00070) ° RIEHEE

HBEABGT  BEAS BN —2RE
=

RAEBSHEEE19788246000(— T — W&
+-A=+—H : %5%233208485000 L R —T— W&
—A—B:#%373784250007C) 2 BITHEEMS -
REEEERBREZGT  EREEERZSETH
ARERERRAIEBRIRAE D% (ZT—TF :
TOMB%): AEBZETEREHREE

7312121000 (ZE—NE+=-A=F+—H: B%
15211200tk —E—ME—A—B: &%
10,475,933,0007C) + AL AR o
i
&
—Z-LEERE
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31.

ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Bank and Other Borrowings (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, bank and other borrowings include fixed-
rate borrowings of HK$13,856,499,000 (31 December 2014:
HK$8,612,856,000 and 1 January 2014: HK$6,408,876,000) which carry
interest at average fixed rate of 5.06% (31 December 2014: 6.05% and
1 January 2014: 6.18%) per annum and variable-rate borrowings of
HK$39,178,326,000 (31 December 2014: HK$57,174,488,000 and 1
January 2014: HK$54,153,267,000) which carried average effective
interest rate at 4.45% (31 December 2014: 4.10% and 1 January 2014:
3.29%) per annum. The borrowings are repayable by installments or
in a lump sum upon maturity in accordance with the terms set out in
the respective loan agreements.

In respect of bank borrowings of the Group amounting to
HK$19,788,246,000 (31 December 2014: HK$33,208,685,000 and 1
January 2014: HK$37,378,425,000), CRH is required to hold not less
than 35% (2014: not less than 35%) of the issued share capital of the
Company at any time during the period of the loans in accordance with
the terms of the respective loan agreements; bank borrowings of the
Group amounting to HK$7,312,121,000 (31 December 2014:
HK$11,522,112,000 and 1 January 2014: 10,475,933,000) are guaranteed
by the Company.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32. K& 32. Share Capital
%R
Number &8
of shares Amount
1
(=3 BETT
Notes HK$'000
SREESLI0 Tz EEk Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
JEIE Authorised:
RZZE-NE-A—-ARK At 1 January 2014 and 31 December 2014
RZE—mE+=A=+—H 7,000,000,000 700,000
EERAIE D Increase in authorised share capital (a) 1,000,000,000 100,000
RZZ-—RE+-A=1—H At 31 December 2015 8,000,000,000 800,000
BETRER Issued and fully paid:
R-E—mF—F—H At 1 January 2014 5,830,628,790 583,063
RiTEEREMETRG Issue of shares upon exercise of share
options 590,000 59
RZZT—NF+=A=+—H At 31 December 2014 5,831,218,790 583,122
AU LREHEEMETRN Issue of shares for acquisition of entities
under common control (a) 699,595,789 69,960
LSRR Placement of shares (b) 400,000,000 40,000
R TR Issue of shares upon exercise of share
options (c) 125,000 12
RZZE—RFE+ZA=1—H At 31 December 2015 6,930,939,579 693,094

Wit

(a)

REARRHEIEFN ARG AR =T —NF+=A
NAZEERH A EERETEEE 100%HK 4% -

BERBAAEE147950000007 - 1B BRI E
R 776995957898 A R Al R r R A H 2 AR K
4,795,000,0007C (18 & K #) 5 #6,062,628.000T ) %5
fit - 2 A K 87950000007 ( 15 & 7 45 &
1,005,170,0007C) EREE - E—HE+-A=+—
HIEEES T+ A8 A R #4,000,000,0007T (152
R#EH5,057458,0007T) | BR=F—~NE+=A
ZF—BEZHEN U AEARENE LA
HE(BM#30)  RER-_E—RFE—F=-+—H%
7 MIREEE AMRGHE  EETROAFEAE
ABE14,901,391,0007T ° Bt - BEEAE X EEKK
BE AR EFEHEELEIN1,000,000,000 857
K7 BREEEEE0I0T  BAREERES
B 700,000,000 + 5343 7,000,000,000 R A&7 - 510
ZE#800,000,0007T 54 8,000,000,000 %8R 17 ° it
BAENR =FE—RF—A=+—ABEH A
REA S LRI EERZFIERR RS -

Notes:

(a)

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 8 December 2014
entered into between the Company and Central New, the Group acquired
100% equity interest of the Top Virtue Group for an agreed consideration of
RMB14,795,000,000. The consideration was satisfied by the allotment and
issue of 699,595,789 shares of the Company and cash of RMB4,795,000,000
lequivalent to approximately HK$6,062,628,000] in which RMB795,000,000
lequivalent to approximately HK$1,005,170,000) was settled during the year
ended 31 December 2015 and remaining balance of RMB4,000,000,000
lequivalent to approximately HK$5,057.458,000] is required to be settled on
or before 31 December 2016 and is recognised as amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries [see note 30). The shares were issued on 21 January 2015 and
the aggregate fair value of the shares issued, based on the quoted price of
the shares on that date, was amounted to HK$14,901,391,000. Accordingly,
in order to accommodate the future expansion of the Group, the directors of
the Company proposed to increase the authorised share capital of the
Company from HK$700,000,000 divided into 7,000,000,000 shares to
HK$800,000,000 divided into 8,000,000,000 shares by the creation of
additional 1,000,000,000 new shares at par value HK$0.10 each. Such
increase was passed by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 21 January 2075.

‘_-'
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)  R-FE-REBA+-A EEEE(EH)ERAF
(BEBEE 2ENBAR) RAR (AR ER T
VEE  aERkZERE B EEREEGRE
GHEED 5THEE  MZEBUAEANLEEY
£E(Ei) BR A AIFTHEH #7400,000,000 R B E R
7o RERE  BHERIERE EHEE(EN)E
R 2 1HZ 57 RE (B 3708 400,000,000 RFTR 17 (155 R E
ERGHE) - REFEHEFHEBHBEZERR
ERERA)BAEFEBARTNE L GEE - FEA
AR—REBES i -

) FEABTE 12500007 BR1E  TEEBZRRGE
B1407T

ld]  AEREETHFENEERESTAERERER D
FERAFE -

ELRE

RZZ——F - RREETAE % A1,000,000,000%
TRZE-—AFHHBEER(ZE—REEE]) -
BEZBERMMEEFRIMBRAF LT - WKT
BEBRFEHELTI%ETE °

RZZ—NF A2 (7800000000 TR =%
“NEFHHELEZEE(=Z-NEZEE]):
700000000 X TR —S-WEFH B BEAZE(=Z
“EZE ) RiE%3,500,000,000 TR = F - AEE
HrBAZE(ZS-NFEE]) -BR-_Z-NEZ
BN Bt RBR BB R LW -

“E-NAFZEBIEARE 400,000,000 T E KR
E B R, 481%  50,000,0005 T BB F 8 R 4.625% K
350,000,000 X TER FEELL1% 2 EHE -
CENFEREFHEBRFEERA602% = F
“NEZBEITHEBREERE6.106% °
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32.

33

ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Share Capital [continued)

Notes: (continued)]

(b) On 12 May 2015, CRH (Land] Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of CRH,
and the Company entered into the placing, underwriting and subscription
agreement with the placing agents pursuant to which the placing agents
placed 400,000,000 existing shares at a price of HK$25.25 per share owned
by CRH [Land] Limited to certain independent placees. Pursuant to the
placing, underwriting and subscription agreement, CRH (Land)] Limited
subscribed for 400,000,000 new shares, equivalent to the number of the
placing shares, at the subscription price. The net proceeds from the
subscription, net of professional fees and out-of-pocket expenses, will be
used for future acquisition of land bank, development costs and as general
working capital purpose of the Group.

(c] During the year, 125,000 share options were exercised at an exercise price
of HK$1.42 per share.

(d]  All the new ordinary shares issued during the current year rank pari passu
with the then existing shares in all respects.

Senior Notes

In 2011, the Company issued senior notes with principal amount of
US$1,000 million due in 2016 (the "2016 Notes”], which are listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and with average
effective interest rate of 4.779% per annum.

In 2014, the Company issued US$800 million senior notes due in 2019
(the 2019 Notes”), US$700 million senior notes due in 2024 (the 2024
Notes”), and HK$3,500 million senior notes due in 2029 (the “2029
Notes”). Except for the 2029 Notes, other notes are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.

The 2019 Notes include notes with principal amounts of US$400
million, US$50 million and US$350 million, carrying average effective
interest rates of 4.481%, 4.625% and 4.411% per annum, respectively.

The 2024 Notes carry average effective interest rate of 6.032% per
annum. The 2029 Notes carry average effective interest rate of 6.106%

perannum.

All the senior notes are unsecured.



gas

. &

o
(R v

L | i

BEEB(E)
BEREOIBERS T

33.

—FR Within 1 year
—E= Between 1and 2 years
“ERF Between 2 and 5 years
AFNE Over 5 years

B RBAERT RS

ZHE

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Senior Notes (continued)
The maturity of the senior notes is analysed as follows:
—T-F

—A-B
1.1.2014

-

TZA=1-A

31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Less: amounts due within 1 year
shown under current liabilities

FRBEER—FREHZFE  Amounts due after 1 year shown

34.

under non-current liabilities

R-ZE—AF+-A=+—-8 ' BAZBRZATEN
BB 23,360,000,000 7 (—E-NE+—A=+—8:
7 123,985,000000 T kR —E—ME—F—B : BE
8,125,0000007T) ' BE-_F—RF+-A=+—HZ
WmEEE - NFERNATEREEER
EEERI

Y BE

ARRIRARBER S (B0 [#58]) EEMB2 8%
HARRZ AR  URBNEBRARFERE -

Mt B EARAMRALERRR -_FF_F—A
=t-BZRRAE LA BREE - EZET
MAER2EERHBEE - 5t 8l 2 BRETEE
MALREZEE TEENUT=EZ&RE: &
RABNEBBRERHERZUDE ROERER
RERLE BRI AR A 2 FHRmERKNEE -

34.

ARFT EETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7,773,576 = =
- 7,770,814 =
6,281,133 6,279,181 7,755,279
9,060,591 9,063,391 =
23,115,300 23,113,386 7,755,279
(7,773,576 - -
15,341,724 23,113,386 7,755,279

The fair value of the senior notes as at 31 December 2015 was
approximately HK$23,360 million (31 December 2014: HK$23,985
million and 1 January 2014: HK$8,125 million), which was determined
based on the closing market price as at 31 December 2015, except for
the 2029 Notes whose fair value was determined based on its carrying
amount.

Share Option Schemes

The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose of
promoting additional commitment and dedication to the objectives of
the Company by participants, namely the “New Scheme”.

The New Scheme refers to the share option scheme adopted by the
Company which was approved by the shareholders in general meeting
on 31 January 2002. The Board may grant options to eligible
participants. The exercise price of the share option under the New
Scheme is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not
be less than the higher of the closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of grant, the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant, and the
nominal value of the share.

h
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S B IMAMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Share Option Schemes [continued)]

The offer of a grant of share options under the New Scheme may be
accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer together with the
payment of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The vesting and exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable at the entire
discretion of the Board with the vesting period not exceeding four
years and the exercise period will not exceed a period of ten years
immediately after acceptance of grant. Options are lapsed if the
employee leaves the Group before the options vest. As at 31
December 2015, the number of shares in respect of which options
had been granted and remained outstanding under the New Scheme
was nil (31 December 2014: 5,290,000 and 1 January 2014: 6,087,500)
shares, representing 0% (31 December 2014: 0.1% and 1 January
2014:0.1%) to the shares of the Company in issue at that date.

As at 31 December 2015, none of the directors held any share options
of the Company (31 December 2014: nil and 1 January 2014: nil).
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SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Share Option Schemes [continued)]

The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share options
held by employees and other participants and movements in such
holdings during the year:

R

For the year ended 31 December 2015

EEHA
Number of share options
S
R “T-nf
“5-1f T=A
-R-H =
RA{TE RAITR
BROEE Oustanding ~ FARE  FATE FRAR FRRR Outstanding
RHAS  Beercise 16 at Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Forfeited at
Date price GEH Exercisable 1 January during during during during 31 December
ofgrant  pershare Vesting period period 2015 the year the year the year the year 2015
|
BT
HKS
At New Scheme 29/04/2005 1420 29/04/2006t0  29/04/200 to
29/064/2009 28/04/2015 1,225,000 - (1250000 - (1,100,000 =
01/06/2005 1230 01/06/2005t0  01/04/2005 to
01/06/2008 31/05/2015 625,000 = = - (625,000 =
03/01/2006 3225 03/01/2007t0  03/01/2006 to
03/01/2010 02/01/2016 1,715,000 = = - (1,715,000 =
17/02/2006 3965 17/02/2007t0  17/02/2006 to
17/02/2010 160212016 375,000 = = - (37000 =
26/06/2006 3580 26/08/2007t0  26/06/2006 to
26/06/2010 25/06/2016 1,350,000 = = - (1,350,000 i
5,290,000 - (125,000 - (5,165,000 -
EREATE Exercisable at the end of the year .
MEFIEE(E%T) Weighted average exercise price (in HKS) 27 142 -
h
L
EMERERLT
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3. BREE(E) 34. Share Option Schemes [continued)
HE-Z-ME+-A=+-HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2014
EEHA
Number of share options
S
S “2-QF
“2-|mE T=A
-F-H =
BAITR HATTR
BRTRE Outstanding ~ MEE  ERTE EAXR ERRK Oustanding
FHASE  Bercise i at Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Forfeited at
Date price FEH Exercisable 1 January during during during during 31 December
ofgrant  pershare Vesting period period 014 the year the year the year the year 2014
|
et
HK$

GHE New Scheme 28/04/2004 1.040 2804/2006t0  26/04/2004 to
01/01/2007 27062006 327,500
29/04/2005 1420 29/06/2006t0  29/04/200 to

(120,000 (207,500} - =

29/04/2009 28/04/2015 1,225,000 - - - - 1205000
01/08/2005 1230 01/08/2005t0  01/06/2005to
01/06/2008 31/05/2015 625,000 - - - - 625,000
03/01/2006 3 03/01/2007t0  03/01/2006to
03/01/2010 02/01/2016 2,185,000 = (470,000) = - 1,715,000
17/02/2006 396 17/02/2007t0  17/02/2006 to
17/02/2010 16/02/2016 375,000 - - - - 375,000
26/08/2008 3580 2006200710 26/06/2006 to
26/06/2010 25/06/2016 1,350,000 = = = - 1350000
6,087,500 = (5900001 (207,500) - 5290000
FEREA{TE Exercisable at the end of the year 5,290,000
MBS (B (B% ) Weighted average exercise price (in HKS) 266 278 2N

b
-

1 9 2 ;ngn;a?lifﬁt% 2015
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BREE(E)

FRATTEBBRENTE B2 METHREREE
.79 (2T —E : BHE17867T) - FTEERER
BZEBANT-_E=F RTR% BFH33%Z
50% BEARHER] TS o

REZE_Z-—AFR_ZE-—NF+_A=FT—HLF

BRELSARL CBREC VBT FETREE -

MBEREY

AEERMEERMERBERABIELER %
RE 5B 27200261,000T( Z T — W& : H K
26,287,183,00070) - RITHRAERE L EERAE
BRERTRIEBERE (UBRREBE)BRZSE
R ADAEERE WEERANZATETFE
j(o

34.

35.

LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Share Option Schemes [continued)

In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the weighted
average share price at the dates of exercise is HK$21.79 (2014:
HK$17.86). All options were granted with a vesting period of two to
three years and 33% to 50% of which would be vested annually after
the grant date.

There was no share option expense recognised during the years
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 as no new share options were
granted in the years and the previously granted share options were
fully amortised in the prior year.

Financial Guarantee Contracts

Guarantees amounting to HK$27,200,261,000 (2014: HK$26,287,183,000)
are given to banks with respect to mortgaged loans procured by the
purchasers of the Group's properties. Such guarantees will be released
by banks upon the issuance of the real estate ownership certificate to
the purchasers or the satisfaction of mortgaged loan by the purchasers,
whichever is earlier. In the opinion of directors of the Company, the fair
value of the financial guarantee contracts is not significant.

h
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3. EEXKMEHE

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. Cash Generated from Operating Activities

BRH AT A

R
HMBER
RENE 2 A TEEP KR

HE-HAECEMEE 2 i
HEMBAR K
BUEHE RN AR W
HEREMEMmELE 2

REBAGHER 2 BB KR

MEKA
EEREELEREZNE
RSN RRE 2B
0% BERRENE
HURGSHE 2 %

Hity

BEAGRY

gz e

RIS - MR  BASUBR
HES D
ERHRTFSORAL (£1)
R/ EPANTRIEEN

e R R A M RRIRE N
BEMEC BN
HAh

2EXBMERE

b
-

1 9 4 ;ngn;a?lifﬁt% 2015

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Gain on changes in fair value of investment
properties
Gain arising on disposal of a joint venture
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary
Gain arising on disposal of investment
properties
Bargain purchase gain recognised in
a business combination
Interest income
Share of profit of investments in joint ventures
Share of loss of investments in associates
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Write-down of properties for sale
Others

Changes in working capital:

Increase in properties for sale

Decrease in trade receivables, other
receivables, prepayments and deposits

Decrease (increase) in restricted bank deposits

Net increase in amounts due from/to
customers for contract works

Increase in trade and other payables

Increase in advances received from pre-sales
of properties

Others

Cash generated from operating activities

“T—RfF —TJeF
+=-A=1+-8 +=A=+—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014
BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(@=5)
(Restated)
32,520,271 27,365,728
922,933 831,839
(4,602,361) (4,966,811)
(95,094) (94,498)
(428,118 -
(425,156) -
(26,991) (72,989)
(28,002) -
(923,696 (661,405)
(323,406) (66,339)
25,271 4,042
428,445 450,780
786,009 20,103
23,293 13,314
27,853,398 22,823,764
(10,563,974) (23,786,953)
1,043,228 1,954,793
580,952 (1,134,008)
(9,193) (99,468)
14,229,202 9,677,183
19,519,244 7,764,197
319,180 (163,299)
52,972,037 17,036,209
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37. WEHEB AT

(a)

KWELSENEREHEREERAA
([ EEEEREE )
R-Z-HEFNA-+-HZA - EBEUE
BoEEAEREFRAARAR ([ LERE])
(RRE2EMBAR)FA50%  55050%
RN EEIREXERER AR ((KEEIRE
(N (AEENEIE=7)HE -

TEEMERESEMDAKEMAN  Hh b
BRERRREL-RES MABEREXA
BREAMBES - ARAARHRELREDL
BARLBENERETELRABILE  BUR
BEAVBREEAE NS DEEUERIE
RAELEAR-

W-E-RENAZ+-R LERERKE
EIREXET LEELERNABTRAM
JIREE  RERBERD ([HREE]) MR
KRMBFBRFEEL - AN LSFERA L
BEIEBREIBNALBRTE 0L
ENERKATEENOMBRTE -

S B IMAMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37. Acquisition of Subsidiaries

(a)

Acquisition of EBFERLEREMERBAR AT ("L
BERLEERR ")

Before 22 August 2015, _E/8ZELERS was 50% held by /87
R EZAGRAR (" EEFME"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and another 50% held by SR GIEIEE %3 EAR
FRAR] ("BREZEIBES"), an independent third party to the
Group.

The board of directors of /8% 5 8E8% consist of five
members, of which /8 was entitled to nominate three
directors and ZREZE|BE % was entitled to nominate two
directors. It was accounted for as a joint venture under HKFRS
11 as all of the strategic financial and operating decisions must
be approved by all of the members of the board of directors in

LiBEERISER.

On 22 August 2015, E/SF5IE and BR/BZE B E % revised the
memorandum and association of /&% 5,4R 5% and stipulated
that the decision for operating, investing and financing activities
(the "relevant activities”) was made by simple majority of voting
rights. Since _E/8#F[& has simple majority of voting rights on
the relevant activities on F/8ZEAERY, H/EZERAERS became
a subsidiary of the Group.

S B H
RN EH
Amounts
recognised at
the date of
acquisition

EUTHB A A T AR A RS
n% - BERE

BT
HK$'000

Net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired:
Property, plant and equipment 11

RS 2% Properties for sale 216,489
Hib UG - BNRERE Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 8,850,318
Re kBT Cash and bank balances 42,920
HitENFR Other payables (14,102)
FIOREMES Bank and other borrowings (4,873,240)
FEREEE R 20E Amounts due to related parties (2,395,197)
1,827,199
BEERE BBNZASLENRELE Consideration transferred, satisfied by investment in the joint venture 913,600
0 JerRiRiE RS Add: Non-controlling interests 913,599
B EMEREFE Less: Net assets acquired (1,827,199
WiEEE HE Goodwill arising on acquisition =
RREMBAR R RREEE Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
ERADM : respect of acquisition of the subsidiary:
ENBERE Cash consideration paid =
BUEER S RRTET Cash and bank balances acquired 42920
42,920
LY
L
EREHERAT

China Resources Land Limited

195



37. WEHBAR(E)

(b)

WELtREFREEHERZERAT (1
mEHE])

W-E—RF+A=+—B2Z5  LtREHE
BEFEHMGLRRGERAA(EEEML
RHEE0% - EHEMLR) BAR A%
HI7.33% MMBAF + 0% AAEEMNE
VEZAMFAERHERBELLAR (1R
RENEA-R-F-NE+-A=+-8"
HIFRAEENR -

R-E—RF+A=1+—H0 EESH (LR
ME2EMBARLRE B XEHEREER
AR REREN ) B R R BT URHE
EhE BHARERR AR AR EREL
RERES0%MRE - KEAAR55000,000
TC(HENER67,092,0007T) - BEER 5 5HK
% ARERERAEREL ER)MEEN
BAdA-

S B IMAMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b)

Acquisition of It REREFHhEMBER AR ("tX
ZEhE")

Before 31 October 2015, 1L REHE was 50% held by EHE
AR ROBR AR ("EEEHM(JER) ), a 97.33% owned
subsidiary of the Company, and another 50% held by 3t R &
B ERELE AT ("IERRE "), an independent third party
to the Group. As at 31 December 2014, it was accounted for as a
joint venture.

On 31 October 2015, It REHE LS ERBEAR AR ("1ER
ZREE Y "), a wholly owned subsidiary of ZE & # (1L 5) , and
bR E entered into the share transfer agreement, pursuant to
which 1t FUZE BB ¢ acquired 50% equity interest in JEREFE
from 3L & for a consideration of RMB55,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$67,092,000]). Immediately after the completion of the
transaction, 3t JRZEH & became a wholly owned subsidiary of £
HEMJLR).

PSS B
]
Amounts
recognised
at the date
of acquisition

BB
HK$ 000
BYERB AR TSR EETE Net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired:
EN I E Property, plant and equipment 2,273
FEME Properties for sale 684,996
FEGRIE R H A 3R Trade and other receivables 13,238
B A LR Amount due from a related party 20,015
Re RFATHER Cash and bank balances 4,779
JECH th 5008 Other payables (34,603)
[EUR R A TFUE Amounts due to a related party (500,510)
190,188
BEERE  XTHSELA Consideration transferred, satisfied by:
BENRERE Cash consideration paid 67,092
REABLEZRE Investment in the joint venture 95,094
o EMEEEFE Less: Net assets acquired (190,188)
REB AR A ERE N Bargain purchase gain recognised in a business combination (28,002)
BRREMNERR 2R KBS SE Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
FRE A - in respect of acquisition of the subsidiary:
ENRENKE Cash consideration paid (67,092)
BUER RIRTHERT Cash and bank balances acquired 4,779
(62,313)
b
o
—E-RFERE
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries

(a) HEKEL (a) Disposal of subsidiaries
REZE-Z— ﬁi‘l‘ A=tT—BLEEE & During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group disposed
SM—EBIE=F I EERHE LA Shine of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiaries, Shine Million
Million Enterprises Limited 5 Hilford International Enterprises Limited and Hilford International Limited, together
Limited * ERE 2 EMER R % (mﬂll)iﬁj? with their wholly owned subsidiaries, %8 Q&) HEB R A
BRAR(#E]) RERCRIBEBR L Al ("FE ) and BRECRINMEBR QX F (VHRE), toan
(THBD M0ekE REHAB ’ﬁﬁ( independent third party for a consideration of approximately
428,116,000 7T ° Shine Million Enterprises HK$428,116,000. Shine Million Enterprises Limited and Hilford
Limited % Hilford International LimitedJ #¢ & International Limited were both engaged in investment holding.
RERR - HRERBEANENEEE - 75, and JE4& were both engaged in property development.
LRAZGERHERNBRARAR - LTS The above transactions are accounted for as disposal of
BHEZEEFEFERANT : subsidiaries. Details of the net assets disposed of in respect of
the above transactions are summarised below:
BB
HK$'000
REFBTFIIEEZ : Consideration satisfied by:
Be Cash 428,116
KEEGIENEERBEN - Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:
FEREEE L BNTE Prepayments for non-current assets 2,019,443
HEHE 2% Properties for sale 175,602
Re RRIT4TE Cash and bank balances 189
JER AR e EL At A BRI Trade and other payables (2,195,236
EHERETE Net liabilities disposed of (2)
HEMBR Rz : Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:
BeRE Cash consideration 428,116
EHEAEEE Net liabilities disposed of 2
g Gain on disposal 428,118
HEEEZRERMNFHE : Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
ReNE Cash consideration 428,116
BHERS RBTRTT Cash and bank balances disposed of (189)
427,927

ERERERA
China Resources Land L|m|ted
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38. HEKEBAR(E)

(b)

RELE—HNBAR 2B EEBHL
I

REE-Z-R4+-A-+-BLLEE &
% B 1 & 1 & Goodfull Enterprise Limited
([Goodfull Enterprise]) * EREZENBAT
ERBUANEERAF)Z50%RHE  Goodfull
Enterprise 5t A1 AN B 100% w0 F1 B
DR BE—RBUB=ZFEINBIT-BE
{0) + BEUAR G B B 1 100% 8 E = 50% -
WRR SR RAEE - ZXHERBIELE
—BMBLR 2B EREBREEFEA
R o MERHTA M + Goodfull Enterprises ik
ARAREMAGELE - RABHEERR
Goodfull Enterprises #)50% 1R & # 2 00 A FE
WEAERRAARERN S SR EMIRERA -

A%k 2 Goodfull Enterprises 12 #I# & A& |F 78
REOEERABENT -

ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries [continued)

(b)

Deemed disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary
resulting in loss of control

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group deemed
disposed of 50% equity interests in Goodfull Enterprises Limited
("Goodfull Enterprises”) together with its wholly owned
subsidiary, ZEEHAIEERAH], Goodfull Enterprises, previously
a 100% owned subsidiary of the Group, has issued an additional
share to an independent third party, resulting in a dilution of the
shareholding of the Group from 100% to 50%, and leading to
loss of control upon completion of the transaction. The
transaction was accounted for as deemed disposal of partial
interest in a subsidiary resulting in loss of control. After the
completion of the disposal, Goodfull Enterprises became a joint
venture of the Group. The fair value of the 50% retained interest
in Goodfull Enterprises at the date on which control was lost
was regarded as the cost in initial recognition of the Group's
investment in a joint venture.

Assets and liabilities derecognised at the date in loss of control
of Goodfull Enterprises are as follows:

BETT
HK$'000
FREEEZBRNFE Prepayment for non-current assets 3,306,973
HEHE 2 Properties for sale 300,387
HitnEIERIE  BAFERET 2 Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 6,244,039
RERRTET Cash and bank balances 227,254
FERERFA R E A FE IR IR Trade and other payables (5,943,248)
FOREMES Bank and other borrowings (4,245,395)
(109,990)

AEERE 0% RERENATE Less: Fair value of 50% retained equity interest held by the
- PERR-HeEERE Group — classified as investment in a joint venture (415,526
& FEE Add: Translation reserve 100,360
RIEEHE—RIB ARz KE Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary (425,156)

HEEE RS RTFHE - Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
BHERERBITET Cash and bank balances disposed of (227,254)
% ':
&
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39. BEHEH

EEREEREEA
RBERR - FEERBE A HHECERORKAE
IR ERSHIHEMT :

39.

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Operating Leases

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

T —T-F

+=A=+-H +=A=+-H

31.12.2015 31.12.2014

BETT AETT

HK$'000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 15,733 11,425
E_EERE(REEERE) In the second to fifth year inclusive 11,362 14,531
REE After five years 3,471 =
30,566 25,956

REMRENTEASERBAZTESNES - BOM
EEkETHe T AREAZRFH(ZT—HF :
—Z2HFH) -

FEEFREEA
RBERR  AEBEABACT LTI HHLLHE
# - BRAAXANRERSHZHAMT :

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for
office. Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for term ranging
from 4 months to 5 years (2014: 1 to 5 years).

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
lessees for the following future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

“T-RHF “TF

tTZA=1-A T-A=t-A

31.12.2015 31.12.2014

BETT AETT

HK$'000 HK$'000

—&FR Within one year 3,304,067 2,872,150
E_EERE(REEEME) In the second to fifth year inclusive 7,906,577 7,354,450
REE After five years 2,659,615 2,819,025
13,870,259 13,045,625

FREREEREMFEBPI L2 TFH(=F
—mE: —E-HEH)MEL

The investment properties rented during the year have committed
tenants for terms ranging from 1 to 20 years (2014: 1 to 20 years).

¥

EHERERLT
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SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40. Capital Commitments

The Group has following material commitments, which are contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements as
follows:

—T-hfF —T-mF
+ZA=+—-H +=A=+-H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014
BB BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(&=31)
(Restated)

BRENTIEE 2EARRHY - Capital expenditure in respect of:
— MEERIER — Properties development 24,557,380 38,016,597
— TR — Land use rights 1,497,774 14,707,615
MEErERBERRREES Funding to joint ventures and associates - 1,610,537
26,055,154 54,334,749

41, BERKH

RBERR  AEERRTERTATEE  rRA
SEER—RBITREZER

41. Pledge of Assets

At the end of reporting period, the Group had pledged the following
assets to banks as securities against general banking facilities
granted to the Group:

£ =Z- U

+=A=t-H +-A=+—H

31.12.2015 31.12.2014

BETT BETT

HK$'000 HK$'000

(f&=51)

(Restated)

BEME Investment properties 44,972,397 47,250,395
HIHE 2% Properties for sale 6,710,924 11,421,223
0% - BE R Property, plant and equipment 1,955,876 2,532,805
TR AE Land use rights 230,270 303,390
53,869,467 61,507,813

Wi R-E-mfE+-A=+—-H HTEEL—BHE
R A AL 708,903,000 T (= F— 4
K 16828590007T) c R-E—AFF-HA=1—
B 2B Al FEEH B3 464,4650007T (= F
—FEF=A=+—H : B4 1456430007T) °

b
-
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Note: As at 31 December 2015, bank borrowings of HK$708,903,000 (31 December
2014: HK$1,682,859,000), are secured by pledge of the equity interests in a
subsidiary. The net assets value of the subsidiary is approximately
HK$3,464,465,000 as at 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014:
HK$4, 145,643,000,
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a) HEAREBRENBAR(HREERS
B HEARS
WTAREERFRETZERBEALR S

B

LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

42. Related Party Transactions

(a)

Significant transactions with CRNC and its subsidiaries
(the “CRNC Group”)

The following is @ summary of the significant related party
transactions entered into by the Group during the year:

HE+ZA=+—-BItFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

(i

(i)

BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
KEHEREBYA - (il Rental and management fee income from:

EEAEE Fellow subsidiaries 248,083 246,204
HEER A Intermediate holding companies 12,220 10,679
REZERAF Ultimate holding company 11,074 11,185
271,377 268,068

KERE  RERBREMMA - (i}~ Construction, decoration services and other

income from:
EEAEA) Fellow subsidiaries 844,138 447,017
FEERAR Intermediate holding companies 14,683 11,305
TS YN Ultimate holding company 693 173
859,514 458,495
(i) BBREEERITRGERAG ([EER (i) Strategic cooperation agreement with Zhuhai China

771) RE B FE Rz BR LA ([EH
E)) (FEBRZNERA]) 2 8iHA
(3
RZE-RF+-A=1+—-H He
EBTEGREASEREREN
077 3 AR #1762111,00070 0 48
R 2,103,309,0007C(— T~
A B H1973944,0007T 0 10 E B
2,502,251,0007T) © LHEFIRBRITER
FIRNFERROB%EI2%( =T
—POE : 035%E230%) ;T B e REE
“E-AET-A=+-RIEE %
ERAREEZHBRANBEREE
B0 ZF — W F: B E
26,022,0007) ©

R-Z—-h&+-A=1t—0 K&E
ML EREPREETRERAS
BRmERCTERN(ZE—NE:
BHE126760007T) - REE-E—RE
+ZA=+-BLEFE  ZERERET
EERERANABEST(ZE—NF :
7B%1,262,0007T)

Resources Bank Co., Ltd. ('CR Bank"] and China Resources

SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. ('CR Trust”), fellow subsidiaries of the

Group

As at 31 December 2015, cash and bank balances include
deposit of RMB1,762,111,000, equivalent to HK$2,103,309,000
(2014: RMB1,973,944,000 equivalent to HK$2,502,251,000),
made by the Group to CR Bank. The said deposits carry
interest at prevailing deposit rates which range from
0.35% to 1.82% (2014: 0.35% to 2.30%) per annum. The
aggregate interest income arising from such deposits
amounting to HK$25,404,000 during the year ended 31
December 2015 (2014: HK$26,022,000).

As at 31 December 2015, no investment included in the
available-for-sale investments of the Group (2014:
HK$12,676,000) had been made by the Group to the trusts
initialled by CR Trust. Investment income arising from
such investment trusts during the year ended 31 December
2015 amounting to HK$nil (2014: HK$1,262,000).

h

L
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771) RE B FE Rz BR LA ([EH
Et)) (FEBRZNER A]) 2 EiHA
tElrs ()
R-Z-h&+-A=1t—-F K&E
MRITREBEEFRERTEERS
EPBEH(_Z-ME: AR
500,000,0007C » & 1 7 % 633,820,000
T BENERZ(ZT—UEF : 6.15%)
FE -RMEE_T-RFET_A=1-—
HIEFE  ZSEEELZBERAS
5B ABE12659000C( —E—M4F:
7% 42,705,0007T) ©

P EEBEBNSEL G
R-Z-h&+-A=1t—-0 K&E
TEAAWFEETEEHEENER
(ZZ -4 : B#13415150007T)
REE-Z-RAFT-A=+—ALF
£ BERTREEEEEAFER(Z
T— M4 B #2793,690,0007T) © R
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42. Related Party Transactions [continued)

(a)

Significant transactions with CRNC and its subsidiaries
(the “CRNC Group”) [continued)]

(i)

(iv)

Strategic cooperation agreement with Zhuhai China
Resources Bank Co., Ltd. ['CR Bank"] and China Resources
SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. [‘CR Trust”), fellow subsidiaries of the
Group [continued)]

As at 31 December 2015, no bank borrowings included in
the bank and other borrowings of the Group (2014:
RMB500,000,000 equivalent to HK$633,820,000) had been
raised from CR Trust at interest rate of nil (2014: 6.15%)
per annum. The aggregate finance costs arising from
such borrowings amounting to HK$12,659,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: HK$42,705,000).

Intra-group lending with CRNC Group

As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not have any
outstanding loan (2014: HK$1,341,515,000) from CRNC
Group. No new loan was borrowed from CRNC Group
during the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014:
HK$2,793,690,000). Borrowings from CRNC Group
outstanding as at 31 December 2014 were interest
bearing with fixed rate of 1.65%, 5.60% or HIBOR plus
1.95% per annum. The aggregate interest expenses
arising from these borrowings from CRNC Group was
HK$19,216,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015
(2014: HK$19,496,000). The amounts due to CRNC Group
as at 31 December 2014 are unsecured and repayable
according to respective loan agreements.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
lent RMB1,500,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,894,770,000) (2014: HK$nil) on a rolling basis to
CRNC Group with interest rate at 5.88% (2014: nil). The
aggregate interest income arising from such lending was
HK$2,170,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015
(2014: HK$nil). Such amount was fully repaid during the
current year and the amounts due from CRNC Group as
at 31 December 2015 was HK$nil (2014: HK$nil).
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42. Related Party Transactions [continued)

(a)

(b)

Significant transactions with CRNC and its subsidiaries

(the “CRNC Group”) (continued)

[v]  Establishment of joint ventures in relation to Beijing Project
and Nanjing Project
On 7 August 2014, #EHEE# (dE W), a 97.24% owned
subsidiary of the Company, and a subsidiary of CR
Trust entered into the cooperation agreement in
relation to the establishment of a joint venture for
property development and investment in Beijing, the
PRC (the “joint venture”]. Pursuant to the cooperation
agreement, the joint venture is owned as to 55% by Z&
JEE D (JE) and 45% by the subsidiary of CR Trust.
Total investment to be made by the Group is expected
to be RMB1,238 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,547 million) by way of equity subscription and
shareholder loans. The joint venture was accounted
for as investment in a subsidiary as at 31 December
2014. On 30 April 2015, B & H# (JE ) and the subsidiary
of CR Trust entered into the equity transfer agreement,
pursuant to which ZEE & (b ) acquired from CR Trust
45% equity interest in the joint venture for a consideration of
RMBA4,672,000 (equivalent to HK$5,841,000). Immediately
after the completion of the transaction, the joint venture,
which was accounted for as a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of ZEHE b (1L ) before 30 April 2015, became a wholly
owned subsidiary of the ZEB & # (L)

On 20 October 2014, FEEE M EINAR AT ("FEHEEM
(#M)") and FEHEHILEBR AT both are wholly
owned subsidiaries of the Company, and a subsidiary of
CR Trust entered into the cooperation agreement in
relation to the establishment of a joint venture for
property development and investment in Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC (the “Nanjing Project”]. Pursuant to
the cooperation agreement and following the equity
subscription, the joint venture is owned as to 60% by Z£H
EHI(ERM) and 40% by the subsidiary of CR Trust. Total
investment to be made by the Group is expected to be
RMB1,902 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2,378
million]) by way of equity subscription and loan in
tranches.

Provision of guarantees to certain joint ventures and
associates related to their borrowings

As at 31 December 2015, the Group provided guarantees of
HK$4,780 million (31 December 2014: HK$3,472 million) and
HK$5,805 million (31 December 2014: HK$1,408 million) to
certain joint ventures and associates of the Group related to
their borrowings, respectively, based on the Group’s proportion
of equity interests in the joint ventures and associates.

¥
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L2. BEALIRG (& 42. Related Party Transactions (continued)]
) FEEBAEZME [c) Compensation of key management personnel
ARAHTESRAEEHMTIREBASR The remuneration of executive directors of the Company and
FRZFHMMT : other members of key management of the Group during the

year is as follows:

HE+ZA=+—-BItFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

BETT BB
HK$'000 HK$'000
RHESRET Short-term employee benefits 40,837 33,476
BER AR R Post-employment benefits 1,108 1,115
41,945 34,591
(d HYEEGHFERERZEARS (d) Significant transactions with other government-related
entities in the PRC
AEERTEYFERI AR EFREHER The Group operates in an economic environment currently
(IBREBERD EEEHUNEENETE predominated by entities directly or indirectly owned or
B o Wsh AEEARS T AT EBMREZ controlled by the PRC government (“government-related
HREEEE T —ERAREEEAR 235 entities”). In addition, the Group itself is part of a larger group of
companies under CRNC which is controlled by the PRC
government.
BREX () R bEREE  RAEETEBFE Apart from the disclosure in (a) and (b), the Group also conducts
BERETATER - ARAEERRETS the following business with government-related entities. The
BREBERETRS BREFHEZE directors of the Company consider the transactions with these
WRETSETET - FEENEHERSTE government-related entities are within normal business
BEE  MAZRRL MR FHREB operations and are carried out on market terms. The Group has
E developed transaction pricing policies and these policies do not

depend on whether or not the counterparties are government-
related entities.

il AEEBRBREAZEBTHFASEE () The Group has acquired land use rights through

(BRETRRER) B EmE tendering to those government departments or agencies,
which are government-related entities;

il AEEDERTREREE(BRBA (i} The Group has entered into various deposits and lending

HHAER)ETSEEAREERS transactions with banks and financial institutions, which

are government-related entities;

i) AEERZFRUEFETEERS (il The Group has sales and purchases transactions with
MARREERRERRU T 2510 customers and suppliers, in which the directors of the
EMERARF 2R EEMRFHRERE Company are of the opinion that it is impracticable to
EITL AT © ascertain the identity of the counterparties and

accordingly whether the transactions are with
government-related entities.

.
-
—E-RFERE
Annual Report 2015
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43. MEAR  AELRERENT
b} R=Z-EE+=A=t-A-

BRAZANEANT

WEARERE

Name of subsidiary

pe)

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43. Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates

(a)  Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

December 2015 are set out as follows:

BEITRE/
EMREAZ mE
Nominal value

of issued

share capital/
registered capital

Rt=A=t-A
HAKERE ERTRA
ZEfELLf
Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital held by
the Group as at 31 December

—Z-hfE

2015

—EF-mF

2014

TR2EH

Principal activities

£8(L8) FEREARAR (M) Note il

#8810 (RF)BRAR (FrEi) Note i)

#8810 (BE)BRAF (FHEi) Note i

8 (KE) B ER R AR (M) Note ii

FHE(RIL) BRARAR (FHEED) Note ]

EBORN)BRAR (ML) Note i

#3810 (L8) BRAR (FHti) Note i

AREBEHERARAR (FHti) Note i

#8810 (1) BRAR (FHEi) Note i

#aE (EL)BRAR (FHEi) Note i

FHEDFE () BRAR (i) Note ]

#8810 085) REBRAR (FEi) Note i

#153,400,000,000 7T
HK$3,400,000,000

49,900,003 7T
US$49,900,000

71#1,200,000,000 70
HK$1,200,000,000

7 #%:700,000,000 7T
HK$700,000,000

AR H 200,000,000 7T
RMB200,000,000

7 #%:500,000,000 7T
HK$500,000,000

21,000,000% 7
US$21,000,000

A#100,000,0007T
RMB100,000,000

49,000,000%7T
US$49,000,000

FB15772,000,000 7T
HK$772,000,000

A #1,150,000,0007C
RMB?1,150,000,000

139,800,000 7T
UUS$139,800,000

100%

100%

55%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

55%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

NEER
Property development

MERER
Property development

MERER
Property development

MEER
Property development

MEER
Property development

NEER
Property development

NEER
Property development

NEER
Property development

NEER
Property development

NEER
Property development

NEER
Property development

MEER
Property development

h
¥

EHERERLT
China Resources Land Limited 2 0 5
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43. WELRR  SELXEBRENT(E) 43

(@) R-B-RE+-A=+-B ARAFEH (a)
BARZERESIMT : (£)

B#ARE/
SRRz mE
Nominal value

of issued

share capital/
registered capital

WERRERE

Name of subsidiary

Rt=A=t-H
HAKEREZ ERTRA
ZEfELLH
Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital held by
the Group as at 31 December

—T-nf

2015

“T-mF

2014

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates
[continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2015 are set out as follows: (continued)

T2EH

Principal activities

#EE (2 BEBR AR (i) Note ) AR 200,000,007

RMB200,000,000
EREWER (L R) BRAR (M) (Note ) AR#1,150,000,000 7
RMB1,150,000,000

AEEREBFEHEREER AR (P Note i) AR 440,000,000 7T
RMBA40,000,000

ZERE () ERAE AR (L) (Note il 781 756,000,000 7T
HK$756,000,000

ERE(ER)BRAR (FFE) (Note il VB 1 487,573,115 7T
HK$1,487,573,115

ERE(FR) EREMBAR () (Note il 79,308,400 7T
US$79,308,400

EHECEE) AR AR (F#E) (Note il 7 1,310,000,000 7T
HK$1,310,000,000

FEBE (X&) BRAR () Note i 199,000,000 7T
US$199,000,000

EREWRE (K2)BRAR () Note il AR 400,000,000 7
RMB600,000,000

EREN(RE) EEARAR () Note il F1£1.760,000,000 7T

HK$1,760,000,000

BEEM(L8)BRAR FEi) (Note i) AE#900,000,000 7T
RMB?00,000,000
ERE(F8) AR R (FFE) (Note ii 249,000,000 7T
US$249,000,000
i
o

206 iortreport 2015

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

55%

100%

60%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

55%

100%

60%

100%

100%

100%

100%

NEER
Property development

MEER
Property development

NEER
Property development

NEER
Property development

MEER
Property development

AR

Investment holding

NEER
Property development

NEER
Property development

NEER
Property development

MEER
Property development

NEER
Property development

NEER
Property development
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SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43. MBAT  AYLEHEBE AT (E) 43. Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates

[continued)
(@) R-B-RE+-A=+-B ARAFEH (a)
BRRZEMNSFIMT : (£)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2015 are set out as follows: (continued)

BEARA/ R+=R=+—H
AMRACEE  AREEREZEREIRA
Nominal value pAIEGA

of issued
share capital/
registered capital

Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital held by
the Group as at 31 December

WERRERE

Name of subsidiary

T2EH

Principal activities

“T-hF  ZTQmF
2015 2014

FREN(LUR)IBRARAF (M) Note i 617,000000%7T 100% 100% WERE
UUS$617,000,000 Property development

EHEN (B SERFARAF (M) Note ) AR 265,000,000 7T 51% 51% WEER
RMB265,000,000 Property development

#EE M) BRAR (FHEED) (Note i AR 100,000,000 70 55% %%  WEER
RMB100,000,000 Property development

REREREEE AR AR (i) Note | AR 20,000,000 70 100% 100% #EEE
RMB20,000,000 Property development

EHEB(LR)BRAF () (Note i AR 2,000,000,000 7T 97.33% 97.33% MERR
RMB2,000,000,000 Property development

EHE (RH) BFERAR (FHEi) (Note il AR#372,966,000 70 100% 100% MEER
RMB372,966,000 Property development

EHE (BM)BRAF (M) Note il AR#1402,219539 7 100% 100% #MEER
RMB1,402,219,539 Property development

FHED (BM) BREBRAR (i) Note il 751 770,000,0007C 100% 100% WEER
HK$770,000,000 Property development

ERREFRAR(ER]) 9ET 55% 5% HREER

Best Scene Investments Limited (‘Best Scene’) US$9 Investment holding
(BffzEiii) (Note iil
fizt - Notes:

0

(i)

i)

ZHBARR— KRB L2 ABLF -

ZMBARAD—FRFEL T2 FHEL
#,

AMBLRAD—FREBEX B BEMAY
ZEBERAA]

(i) The subsidiary is a domestic enterprise established in the PRC.

(i) The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in
the PRC.

(il The subsidiary is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

h

EHERERLT
China Resources Land Limited

207



¢/

ﬁ' SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o, o :
Mr L

43. MBAT  AYLEHEBE AT (E) 43. Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates

[continued)
) HEEAFZRESZN-BEZENRBEA (b) Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that have
AN material non-controlling interests
TRITAKERE ERFEERER S The table below shows details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary
2EMBLAFE - of the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
HEREREZ
BRITLERA/
SRR 2 AL

Proportion of
ownership of issued

ordinary share AT IEERER
BLI03 e T B2, capital/registered oyievl
Place of incorporation capital held by Profit allocated to ZEHIEE RS
B RRAE and principal non-controlling non-controlling Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary place of business interests interests controlling interests

BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(£ RBREIHS 45% 45% 711,995 417923 1,860,895 = 1,256,952

Best Scene British Virgin Islands

BRI REROER

FEAHBAR

Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling

interests 1,138,225 920,071 14,997,528 10,234,827
1,850,220 = 1,337,994 16,858,423 11,491,779

b
-
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SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

[continued)

43. Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates

b) HEEARKZREZN-HFZENBEA (b) Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that have

AN ()

BRARERAEAFEREDN —HNER
AN EERBREIWT - A THBEHB
ERSENARIREHANEE -

material non-controlling interests (continued)
Summarised financial information in respect of a subsidiary of
the Group that has material non-controlling interests is set out

below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Best Scene

FRBEE

MEEE

mEAE

FRBAE
AATHRE ARG ES
SRS

Yas

KARIRA ABEET]
ESEG Sl el
FRER
ARREBAREA 2R

SRR 2 At 2 Rk

FRAMZEKE

Non-current assets

Currents assets

Current liabilities

Non-currents liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Revenue

Profit attributable to owners of the Company
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company

Other comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interests

Other comprehensive income for the year

BB BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
3,267,439 3,313,607
6,053,281 5,377,408
(4,057,978) (4,746,024)
(1,127,419) (1,151,764)
2,274,428 1,536,275
1,860,895 1,256,952
3,470,816 850,388
870,216 510,794
711,995 417923
1,582,211 928,717
(132,063) (3,752)
(108,052) (3,069)
(240,115) (6,821)

b
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43. MBAT  AYLEHEBE AT (E) 43. Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates

[continued]
) HEEAFZRESZN-BEZENRBEA (b) Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that have
s () material non-controlling interests (continued)
ZER (&) Best Scene (continued)

BB BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ARRHEBANEEEERGRER Total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company 738,153 507,042
RN 2 AR RER Total comprehensive income attributable
to the non-controlling interests 603,943 414,854
FNRERRER Total comprehensive income for the year 1,342,096 921,896
ENFERRERRE Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - =
REEBMEENRS TR Net cash from operating activities 886,427 594,353
REXBRARE S Net cash used in investing activities (181,892) (856,423)
REEK () MEAR &7 Net cash (used in) from financing activities (235,465) 546,323
BERANFE Net cash inflow 469,070 284,253
b
—E-RFERE
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SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43. WEAR - AECEEKENT(E) 43. Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates
[continued)
() ZAEER-Z-AF+-A=t—-RAzZA%t (c) Particulars of the Group's joint ventures as at 31 December
EFB7IEMT 2015 are set out as follows:
W+=R=+-H
REERESEREGRR
REEER Attributable interest indirectly held ~ F 27

Name of joint ventures

by the Group as at 31 December

Principal activities

Rebound Capital Limited (§z£i) (Note I 50%
Goodfull Enterprises (Fi&Eiv & v) Note iv and v} 50%
Step Winner Investment Limited (Pt iv) Note iv) 50%
I RERREER AR (FiFEi) (Note i) 48.67%
It REERE (£ Rvi) (Note ii and vi) -
HEBHEFARAR (FIFEN) Note i 50%
SRR E AR AR (L) Note il 33.33%
EREN (KR) ERARAR (i) (Note i) 50%
ERE (M) BHERZEBRAR (ML) Note i) 55%
ERBEFERBER AT (K Note i) 33.33%
et - Notes:
{il ZEETERRBRELHEFAL - (i)
ii) ZEELERFER T RIEEZFIEER ii]
gz
li] — ZAEELEDRPERTREEZHERE - (iii)
i)  ZEERETREBFMAL - (iv]
v R-F-WFE+=-A=1—H ZEBELX )
EF 72 ENERT  50%RIEREBRE
HBERLE - BEFFE - BLEM80) -
Wil AEBRFHBFREIREZERZ 50% {vi)

B ZERAGHBALEZNELA
BRFIE  ALHNE ) o

50% RPE-ENEERAETHERE

Investment holding in a property
development project in the PRC

RPE—EYERRBETHERE
Investment holding in a property
development project in the PRC

REEERS

Provision of decoration services
NERERER

Property investment and management

NEER
Property development

NERERER

Property investment and development
NEER

Property development

#1353 & Property development

48.62%
48.62%
50%
33.33%
50%

5%  EER

Property development
NERERER

Property investment and development

33.33%

The joint venture is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The joint ventures are sino-foreign equity joint ventures established
and operating in the PRC.

The joint ventures are domestic enterprise established and
operating in the PRC.

The joint venture is incorporated in Hong Kong.

The entity was a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group as at 31
December 2014. 50% equity interests were deemed disposed in the
current financial year. For details, please refer to note 38(b).

Additional 50% equity interest of the entity was acquired by the
Group in the current financial year. The entity then became a
subsidiary of the Group. For details, please refer to note 37(b).

h
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43. MBAT  AYLEHEBE AT (E) 43. Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates

[continued)
(d AEERZF-RF+-A=+-RAZBED (d)  Particulars of the Group's associates as at 31 December 2015
AlFEHFIMT - are set out as follows:
“t-A=1+-AR

rEBRESEEGER
Attributable interest
indirectly held

O NGIEA by the Group TREHK
Name of associates as at 31 December Principal activities
2015 2014
REmERFERERZERAF () (Note 33.34% 3334% WEER
Property development
Lion Venture Holdings Limited (Fff7Eii) (Note i 50% 50% REE-EEHEERREERE

Investment holding in a property
development project in the PRC

MBS MBS s A IR A &) (BT Riit) (Note fand i 33% - MEER

Property development
FENEE AR s A IR A &) (BT Riit) (Note fand i 33% - DEER

Property development
ENEREHEFRBERAR (ML Rii) Notei andii) 16.66% - WEER

Property development
BMNEFEHEFREBRAR (M Rii) Notei andi) 16.66% - WEER

Property development
I REMEEBEREARAR (i Riif) Note i and il 25.3% - DEER

Property development
EREHREHEREERAF (FHEEi Kii) (Note  and iil 23.4% - DREER

Property development
ERBEFGEREARAR (M Rii) Note iand i 32.1% - DEER

Property development
EEBHRERERZARAA (M Riil) Note i and i 30% - DERER

Property development
LB (Ff3E i) (Note i and il 50% - DERER

Property development
LEERBTRBERRABRAR (M5 Rii) Notei andii) 30% - DERER

Property development
LEERETRRERRABRAR (M5 Rii) Notei andii) 30% - DERER

Property development

It REFAEARAT (FHEEi K& iv) Noteiand iv) 26.81% - DERERERE

Property investment and management
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S B IMAMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates
[continued)

(d)  Particulars of the Group’s associates as at 31 December 2015

are set out as follows: (continued)]
Notes:

(i) The associate is a domestic enterprise established and operating in
the PRC.

ii) The associate is incorporated in the British Virgin Island.
lii) ~ The associate is established or acquired in the current financial year.

(iv) The entity was accounted for as an available-for-sale investment,
with 15.33% equity interests held by the Group, as at 31 December
2014. In the current financial year, 11.48% equity interests were
further acquired by the Group.

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
the bank and other borrowings disclosed in note 31 and the senior
notes disclosed in note 33, net of cash and cash equivalents, amount
due to the ultimate holding company, amounts due to intermediate
holding companies, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, amounts due
to joint ventures, amounts due to associates, amounts due to non-
controlling interests and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained
profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associates with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues
and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.
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SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BBEREE 45. Financial Risk Management
EMIAZER Categories of financial instruments

—T-AHF

t=A=t-H
31.12.2015

sl

+=A=+-H

31.12.2014

—T-F
—A—H
1.1.2014

BT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
[€c:27)) (= 531)
(Restated) (Restated)
PREE Financial assets
B R EERTE Loans and receivables
SR % At P U BR 1 Trade and other receivables 13,387,880 9,818,941 7,913,359
YR AR A RIRIR Amounts due from intermediate
holding company 13,008 597,460 1,717,022
L GG Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 99,474 64,466 77,899
G Amounts due from joint ventures 5,614,639 3,161,470 1,241,592
NI Amounts due from associates 6,707,495 1,510,871 806,142
M GER IR e A SR Amounts due from non-controlling
interests 1,563,847 719,656 146,114
PATER Cash in bank 45,871,721 44,853,852 28,917,976
HHERE Available-for-sale investments 13,075 191,093 560,096
73,271,139 60,917,809 41,380,200
ERARE Financial liabilities
BN ARE Liabilities at amortised cost
FEHEE?A&H@FEWEIE Trade and other payables 48,514,106 42,879,222 33,746,646
[ERRERERA AR Amounts due to the ultimate
holding company 110 117 117
e RERA AR Amounts due to intermediate
holding companies - 2,371,920 3,248,339
R ZNBARZE Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 4,976,166 2.330,022 5,670,081
ENEELENR Amounts due to joint ventures 607,066 582,117 569,458
[EREEE N RIFHIE Amounts due to associates 371,519 - =
FERTERRR SR Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 6,364,126 4,499,848 3,135,175
ROTREMES Bank and other borrowings 53,034,825 65,787,344 60,562,143
BEZE Senior notes 23,115,300 23,113,386 7,755,279
136,983,218 141,563,976 114,687,238

"*l

2 1 4 ;ngnuafli:ﬁt% 2015
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EEER
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META BRI - AREBBENEREXEHER
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FEETAARHHXRITER  MEAHYREREN
ZE - RERARBRRERAMEL 2 HEKD -
AEETREAEESRIAWHERRR -

R-ZE—AF+-A=+—0 WETREMEEZ
FIREM,/RAD0ES  MATEEMERERTE
MEBRFERD /BB 169,699,0007(=F
G B%2032130007) TERARZFEERAE
B/ BEASEZ A -

45.

ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Risk Management [continued]

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, amounts due from intermediate holding companies,
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, amounts due from joint
ventures, amounts due from associates, amounts due from non-
controlling interests, available-for-sale investments, cash in bank,
trade and other payables, amount due to the ultimate holding
company, amounts due to intermediate holding companies, amounts
due to fellow subsidiaries, amounts due to joint ventures, amounts
due to associates, amounts due to non-controlling interests, bank and
other borrowings and senior notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (including currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to financial risks
or the manner in which it manages and measures.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group’s businesses are principally conducted in RMB, except for
certain bank and other borrowings [note 31) and senior notes (note
33] are arranged in Hong Kong and overseas and denominated in
RMB and US$ by the Group entities in Hong Kong, of which the
functional currency is HK$. The Group manages its currency risk by
closely monitoring the movements of the currency exchange rates.
The Group currently does not have a currency hedging policy.
However, the management monitors exchange exposure of RMB and
US$ and will consider hedging significant currency exposure should
the need arises.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank and other borrowings and senior notes.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank borrowings. To manage the Group’s exposure to
fluctuations in interest rates on specific transactions, appropriate
financial instruments may be used to hedge material exposure.

As at 31 December 2015, if interest rates on bank and other
borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, post-tax interest charges would have been
HK$169,699,000 lower/higher (2014: HK$253,213,000), mainly as a
result of higher/lower interest expenses on these variable-rate
financial liabilities.

ERERERAA
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45.

ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Risk Management [continued]

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’'s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees
provided by the Group is arising from:

o the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position; and

o the financial guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in
note 35.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade and
other receivables at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies or state-owned banks in the PRC.

With respect to the amounts due from fellow subsidiaries,
intermediate holding companies, joint ventures, associates and non-
controlling interests, the directors of the Company consider the credit
risk is limited because they have strong financial positions.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank and other borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants. Details of the Group’s borrowings are set out in note
31.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.
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ZA B HFME Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

“E-HF+-A=t-8
FERTERF R B ARE
R RRIERARFEA

ENRZNBARHE
IARL NI
ENREEEHE
N IHE R SSUR

RITRAMER
BARE
B R

ENER R EMENERR
(&=5)
JERBRAER AR

FENRZHBARTE
(&=71)

R EER A RFE
(&=71)

EfTAS B (EE7)

FET SRR SR
RITRAMIER (KEF)

BEER
iR

31 December 2015

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to the ultimate holding
company

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries

Amounts due to associates

Amounts due to joint ventures

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests

Bank and other borrowings

Senior notes

Financial guarantee

31 December 2014
Trade and other payables (restated]

Amounts due to the ultimate holding
company

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
(restated]

Amounts due to intermediate
holding companies (restated)

Amounts due to joint ventures
(restated]

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests

Bank and other borrowings
(restated]

Senior notes

Financial guarantee

Financial Risk Management [continued]
Financial risk management objectives and policies [continued]
Liquidity risk (continued)
The table includes both interest and principal cash outflows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from weighted average interest rate by reference to the
HIBOR of the Group's variable-rate financial liabilities at the end of
the reporting period.
F1FR
On demand 1226 2E5%F SENE FE{E
or less than 1-2 2-5 Over o] Carrying
1year years years Syears Total amount
BT BT BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
48,514,106 = = - 48514106 48,514,106
110 = = = 110 110
4,976,166 = = - 4976166 4,976,166
176,546 210,861 = = 387,407 371,519
614,883 = = = 614,883 607,066
5,222,097 42,578 1,421,113 = 6,685,788 6,364,126

7,256,368 9125913 29,934540 17872143  64,188964 53,034,825
8,740,525 810324 8224814 11986563 29762226 23,115,300
27,200,261 = = - 27200261 =

102,701,062 10,189,676 39,580,467 29,858,706 182,329,911 136,983,218

42,879,222 = = - 42879222 42,879,222
17 = = = 17 17
2,282,716 76,028 = = 2,358,774 2,330,022
2371920 = = = 2,371,920 2,371,920
582,117 = = = 582,117 582,117
3,232,008 82,863 1,975,807 - 4890678 4,499,848

23759595 18067574 22065909 13,530,600  77423,678 65787344
1,169,508 8,746,796 8501875  12530,671  30,948850 23,113,386
26,287,183 = = - 26,287,183 =

102564386 26973291 32143591 26,061,271 187,742,539 141,563,976
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45.

LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Risk Management [continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies [continued]

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts have not included financial guarantee contracts

o which the Company makes for its subsidiaries” bank borrowings
(note 31). Such guarantees terminate upon the repayment of
relevant bank borrowings.

Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group
considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable
under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the
guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer
credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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45.

S B IMAMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Risk Management [continued]

Financial risk management objectives and policies [continued]
Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

o the fair value of derivative financial instruments is calculated
based on discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable
yield curve for the duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives; and

o the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities (excluding senior notes) recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair
values. The carrying amounts of short-term bank and other
borrowings and current portion of long-term bank and other
borrowings approximate their fair values. The fair values of non-
current bank and other borrowings are estimated based on
discounted cash flow using the prevailing market rates of interest
available to the Group for financial instruments with substantially the
same terms and characteristics at the balance sheet date. As at 31
December 2015, the carrying values of non-current bank and other
borrowings approximate their fair values.

The available-for-sale investments are measured subsequent to
initial recognition at fair value which are grouped into Level 3 fair
value measurements. Level 3 fair value measurements are those
derived from inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).
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46. ERRTZHHMRRE 46. Statement of Financial Position of the Company
—T—AF i3
+=—A=1—H +=—A=1+—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014
BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
0% - BERR Property, plant and equipment 2,140 5,278
RHTBARRA ETRE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 27,392,195 27,392,195
27,394,335 27,397,473
MENEE Current assets
Hels  BAFERE € Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 186,000 1,870,251
FEMRHIB A RIFE Amounts due from subsidiaries 95,054,391 62,306,481
YR ZHBARFE Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 19 830,079
W —Fir AR A RIFE Amount due from an intermediate holding
company. - 50
e — AR A Amount due from a related party 479,112 -
ReRFTER Cash and bank balances 2,179,489 5,127,232
97,899,011 70,134,096
MEAE Current liabilities
H A FE(TARIE Other payables 1,535,163 576,146
AR Amounts due to subsidiaries 24,919,614 9,695,978
EARANBARFE Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 4,774,520 707,695
RITIEE — —FR5H Bank borrowings — due within one year 650,000 10,923,509
BERE — —FRIH Senior notes — due within one year 7,773,576 =
39,652,873 21,903,328
MBBEFE Net current assets 58,246,138 48,230,768
BEREARBAR Total assets less current liabilities 85,640,473 75,628,241
s Equity
e Share capital 693,094 583,122
fetfes (Pr=L) Reserves (Note) 50,467,409 30,806,557
51,160,503 31,389,679
FREaE Non-current liabilities
PTEE — —FEIH Bank borrowings — due after one year 19,138,246 21,125,176
BEEE — —F43H Senior notes — due after one year 15,341,724 23,113,386
34,479,970 44,238,562
EnBERIERDER Total of equity and non-current liabilities 85,640,473 75,628,241
ey

o
;nn;al Rexort 2015
2 2 0 2 Efﬁl":ﬁﬁ%
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LA B BBRRMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

[continued)

the terms set out in the respective loan agreements.

Note:

Reserves

Statement of Financial Position of the Company

The bank borrowings of the Company are all unsecured and carrying
average effective interest rate at 2.65% (31 December 2014: 2.26%
and 1 January 2014: 2.01%) per annum. The borrowings are repayable
by installments or in a lump sum upon maturity in accordance with

RZZE-m§—A—H
FRET
2EMRER

ZE-IERHRS
ZE=ERHRE
1IfbEERE
RZZ-ME+=A=+—HK
“Z-1%—-A-H
FREE

2ENEHE

BITRG
BITHRD R 2R BRA

R
AHHRENEERETROR
RaRE

ZZ-RERHKRS
—E—MERHRE
1TiERE R

RZZ-R§+=A=+—-H

At 1 January 2014
Profit for the year
Total comprehensive income

Interim dividend for 2014
Final dividend for 2013
Exercise of share options

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015
Loss for the year
Total comprehensive income

Issue of new shares

Transaction cost attributable to issue
of shares

Forfeiture of share options

Issue of shares and cash consideration
upon combination of entities under
common control

Interim dividend for 2015

Final dividend for 2014

Exercise of share options

At 31 December 2015

ARARERAARS
Attributable to equity holder of the Company
RIDEE Hit ks ESyt

Share Other  Accumulated a5t
premium reserves losses Total
BETT BT BB BB
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
35,528,946 1,681,802 (9,071,765) 28,138,983
- - 5,282,442 5,282,442

- - 5,282,442 5,282,442
_ = (494,097) (494,097)
- - (2,122,349) (2.122,349)

2,368 (790) = 1,578
35,531,314 1,681,012 (6,405,769) 30,806,557
- - (1,748,330 (1,748,330
- - (1,748,330 (1,748,330)
10,060,000 - - 10,060,000
(42,015) - = (42,015)
7,050 (7,050) - -
14,831,431 - - 14,831,431
= = (599,534) (599,534)
- - (2,840,865) (2,840,865)
197 (32) = 165
60,387,977 1,673,930 (11,594,498) 50,467,409
h
L
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48.

SEBISERMEE Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Event after the Reporting Period

On 15 March 2016, the Company applied to the National Association
of Financial Market Institutional Investors (the “Association”] in the
PRC for registration and proposed issue of medium-term notes in an
aggregate amount of not more than RMB20,000,000,000. Up to the
date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the
application for the issuance of the medium-term notes is pending for
the approval from the Association.

Approval of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements set out on pages 99 to 222 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 21 March 2016.
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MBERERRE

Shantou East Coast Project
SIS EHE

Haiwan New District, Shantou
ENZRER

Zhuhai Henggqin Project
TSR

Lingui New District, Guilin

FEYEME Schedule of Principal Properties

e

100% 79,900 252,561 &/A/ ESY:] Fgeh
R/C/O Jun-21 Construction
in Progress
100% 148,900 499,558 /A 2N%58R fz
R/C/O Aug-21 Construction
in Progress
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Revenue

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Property, plant and equipment
Land use rights
Investment properties
Deferred income tax assets
Long-term investments
Prepayments paid for
non-current assets
Amounts due from
a non-controlling interest
Amount due from a joint venture
Current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Long-term liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

Total liabilities

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

GROUP’S RESULTS

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
BT BBTT BT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(fe=31) (e =75)) (E=3)) (E=3))
[Restated) [Restated) [Restated) (Restated)
103,393,234 89,704,532 71,462,330 44,434,875 35,804,300
32520271 27,365,728 24,230,134 18,156,757 14,451,113
(13,142,592) (10,886,794) (9,081,393) (6,436,765) (6,147,490)
19377679 16,478,932 15,148,741 11,719,992 8,303,623
17,527 459 15,140,938 14,651,566 11,013,353 8,100,153
1,850,220 1,337,994 497175 706,639 203,470
19377679 16,478,932 15,148,741 11,719,992 8,303,623

GROUP’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
BT BT BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(f==31) (e =75)) (s=51) (=51)
[Restated) [Restated) [Restated) (Restated)
7,159,369 6,960,903 5,899,608 4,996,637 4,092,996
2,097 459 2,239,020 1,849,693 1,567,959 1,156,148
88,319,071 79,239 669 60,438,178 45,133,859 31,461,405
691,596 475,690 431,415 773,636 715,128
10,540,409 3,742,151 3,099 568 2,530,563 958,273
299,387 744,205 2,469,737 300,231 7362,103
474,435 400,290 - - —
985,946 - - - -
278,667,666 268477114 227,435,584 182,147 649 143,977,049
389,235,338 362,279,042 301,623,783 237,450,534 189,723,102
182,710,355 164,451,603 145,496,998 105,032,994 76,127 846
63,503,692 70,780,412 54,019,780 49,752,734 41,980,283
11,197,093 9,924,005 7,934,374 5,672,822 4,448 466
- - - - 81,736
257 411,140 245,156,020 207,451,152 160,458,550 122,638,331
131,824,198 117,123,022 94,172,631 76,991,984 67,084,771
114,965,775 105,631,243 85,273,110 69,495,159 60,724,035
16,858,423 11,491,779 8,899,521 7,496,825 6,360,736
131,824,198 117,123,022 94,172,631 76,991,984 67,084,771
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